
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

 
Wednesday, 15th July, 2020 

 
10.00 am 

 
Online 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 





 

 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
 
 

Wednesday, 15th July, 2020, at 10.00 am Ask for: Andrew Tait 
Online Telephone: 03000 416749 
   

 
Membership (13) 
 
Conservative (10): Mr R A Marsh (Chairman), Mr R A Pascoe (Vice-Chairman), 

Mr M A C Balfour, Mrs R Binks, Mr A Booth, Mr A H T Bowles, 
Mr P C Cooper, Mr H Rayner, Mr C Simkins and Mr J Wright 
 

Liberal Democrat (1): Mr I S Chittenden 
 

Labour (1) Mr J Burden 
 

Independents (1)  Mr P M Harman 
 

 
In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by 
Elected Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the 
public being able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting of the Cabinet will 
be streamed live and can be watched via the Media link on the Webpage for this meeting.   
 
Representations by members of the public will only be accepted in writing. The transcript of 

representations that would normally be made in person will be provided to the Clerk by 12 

Noon two days ahead of the meeting and will be read out by the Clerk of the meeting at the 

appropriate point in the meeting. The maximum length of time allotted to each written 

representation will be the 5 minutes that it takes the Clerk to read it out.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public 

 

A.   COMMITTEE BUSINESS 

1. Substitutes  

2. Declarations of Interests by Members in items on the Agenda for this meeting.  

3. Minutes - 10 June 2020 (Pages 1 - 6) 

4. Site Meetings and Other Meetings  

B. GENERAL MATTERS 

1. General Matters  

C.  MINERALS AND WASTE DISPOSAL APPLICATIONS 

1. Application TM/20/62 (KCC/TM/0284/2019) - Development of a Household Waste 
Recycling Centre (HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 
earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, Laverstock Road, 
Allington, Maidstone; FCC Environment (UK) Ltd (Pages 7 - 86) 

D.  DEVELOPMENTS TO BE CARRIED OUT BY THE COUNTY COUNCIL 

1. Proposal SW//20/501709 (KCC/SW/0079/2020) - New two-storey teaching block of 
8 classrooms with associated facilities, a new nursery block and reception external 
play space; and ancillary parking at Sunny Bank Primary School, Sunny Park, 
Murston, Sittingbourne; KCC Children, Young People and Education (Pages 87 - 
104) 

E.  MATTERS DEALT WITH UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 

1. Matters dealt with under delegated powers (Pages 105 - 108) 

2. County Council developments  

3. Screening opinions under Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017  

4. KCC response to consultations  

F.  KCC RESPONSE TO CONSULTATIONS 

None 
 

G.  OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT 

 

EXEMPT ITEMS 

(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 
which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public) 

Benjamin Watts 
General Counsel 
03000 416814 



 
Tuesday, 7 July 2020 
 
(Please note that the background documents referred to in the accompanying papers may 
be inspected by arrangement with the Departments responsible for preparing the report). 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Planning Applications Committee held in the Online on 
Wednesday, 10 June 2020. 
 
PRESENT: Mr R A Marsh (Chairman), Mr R A Pascoe (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr M A C Balfour, Mrs R Binks, Mr A Booth, Mr A H T Bowles, Mr J Burden, 
Mr I S Chittenden, Mr P C Cooper, Mr P M Harman, Mr H Rayner, Mr C Simkins and 
Mr J Wright 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Dr L Sullivan 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mrs S Thompson (Head of Planning Applications Group), 
Mr J Wooldridge (Principal Planning Officer - Mineral Developments), Mr P Hopkins 
(Principal Planning Officer), Mr D Joyner (Transport & Development Manager) and 
Mr A Tait (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
22. Chairman's Opening Remarks  
(Item ) 
 
The Chairman opened the meeting by setting out the manner in which he intended to 
conduct the Committee’s business so that the meeting could deal with the challenges 
posed by its Virtual nature in the most efficient way practical.  He explained that, in 
order to help the smooth running of the meeting, he would formally move the 
recommendations of the Head of Planning Applications Group prior to the 
consideration of each application. This did not in any way imply any intention on his 
part to indicate his views on the application.  
 
23. Minutes - 27 May 2020  
(Item A3) 
 
(1)   Mr J Burden asked the Committee to note that he had attempted to participate 
in the meeting but had not been able to do so for technical reasons. He had 
nevertheless observed it in its entirety.  
 
(2)  RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meeting held on 27 May 2020 are 

correctly recorded and that they be signed by the Chairman.  
 
24. Site Meetings and Other Meetings  
(Item A4) 
 
The Head of Planning Applications Group informed the Committee that arrangements 
for a site visit to Covers Farm in Westerham were still being considered in the light of 
Government advice.  
 
25. Application TM/19/1779 (KCC/TM/0152/2019) - Variation of Condition 7 of 
Permission TM/14/2728 to allow for a combined total of up to 240 HGV 

Page 1

Agenda Item A3



 

movements per day (120 in / 120 out ) to take place associated with all 
operations and uses at the site (including landfill, recycling and restoration) at 
Borough Green Quarry, Wrotham Road, Borough Green; Robert  Body Haulage 
Ltd  
(Item C1) 
 
(1)   Mr M A C Balfour informed the Committee that he had been an LEA – 
appointed Governor at Grange Park School which was affected by the application.  
This was neither a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest nor an Other Significant Interest 
and he was able to approach the determination of the application with an open mind.  
 
(2)  Mr H Rayner informed the Committee that although he was a Member of 
Wrotham PC which had strongly objected to the application, he would be 
participating as a Member of the Committee. He had previously written to 
Democratic Services to explain that he had excused himself from all Parish Council 
discussions on this matter and was therefore able to approach the determination of 
the application with an open mind.  
 
(3) The Clerk to the meeting read out a joint written representation received from 
Wrotham, Borough Green and Platt Parish Councils together with additional 
comments from Borough Green PC.  He then read out a reply on behalf of the 
applicants from Mr David Maher of Barton Willmore.  
  
(4) Mr H Rayner asked the Committee to defer consideration of the application 
as Wrotham School had not been consulted on the application and because he 
believed there were inaccuracies in the report relating to vehicular access during 
peak school hours which were sufficiently significant to make this course of action 
essential.   

 
(5)  The Clerk advised that, as the Chairman had already formally moved the 
recommendations, the Committee would need to vote on them.  Should the 
Committee wish to defer consideration of the application, it would need to vote 
against the original motion. If it did so, it would be open to Mr Rayner to propose a 
deferment.  
 
(6)   On being put to the vote, the recommendations of the Head of Planning 
Applications Group were carried by 7 votes to 6.    
 
(7)  RESOLVED that:-  
 

(a) permission be granted to the application to vary Condition 7 of 
Permission TM/14/2728 to read:  

  
 “HGV movements associated with  the  quarry  restoration,  landfill  and 
recycling operations shall, together, not exceed 240 HGV movements 
per day (120 in / 120 out);”  

  

(b)    all other  conditions  previously  imposed  on  Permission TM/14/2728 
be re-imposed (updated where relevant to reflect current practices). 
These extant conditions cover operations ceasing by 21 February 2042 
or upon the completion of restoration of the quarry; the cessation of all 
earlier recycling operations permitted on site; hours of operation being 
0700 and 1800 hours on Mondays to Fridays and between 0700 and 

Page 2



 

1300 hours on Saturdays; no HGVs leaving the site during peak school 
travel times (term time 0800 to 0845 and 1500 to 1545 on Mondays to 
Fridays during term time); wheels and chassis cleaning; HGVs being 
sheeted / covered; a 10mph speed limit on the haul road; the 
implementation of the approved dust control scheme;  noise controls 
(55dBLAeq.1hr daily and 70dBLAeq.1hr for temporary operations, 
when measured at any noise sensitive property); maintenance of a 
noise attenuation bund; operation of the recycling plant and equipment 
within the void (below 70 metres above ordnance datum (AOD)); 
crushing and soil screening operations not taking place 
simultaneously; records of all HGV movements being maintained; all 
HGVs associated with the restoration, landfill and recycling operations 
making a left turn out of and a right turn into the site (i.e. all HGVs 
being routed to the north via the A227 Wrotham Road);and  

 
(c)  the applicant be advised by Informative that separate approvals are 

required from the Highway Authority for any works affecting publicly 
owned highway land. 

 
 
26. Proposal GR/20/156 (KCC/GR/0019/2020) - Demolition of existing single 
storey teaching block and erection of detached two storey teaching block with 
single storey activity studio, car park extension and associated landscaping 
works at Mayfield Grammar School, Pelham Road, Gravesend; KCC  
(Item D1) 
 
(1) Mr J Burden informed the Committee that he was the Local Member and also 
the Leader of Gravesham BC which had given its views on the Proposal.  He had 
excused himself from all discussions of the Proposal by the Borough Council and 
was therefore able to approach its determination with an open mind.  
 
(2)   The Head of Planning Applications Group informed the Committee that the 
Memorandum of Understanding between KCC Children, Young People and 
Education and KCC Highways, Transportation and Waste had been received after 
publication of the report and that the recommendations needed to be revised to 
reflect this.  The Head of Planning Applications also advised that a further 
representation had been received which included comments relating to cycle parking 
provision and querying whether there was sufficient road width for heavy goods 
vehicles to turn into the construction access when other vehicles were parked on the 
Street. 
 
 
(3)   The Clerk to the meeting read out representations from Mr Alastair Thrush (a 
local resident) and the response on behalf of the applicants from Mr Matthew Blythin 
(DHA).   
 
(4)  Dr L Sullivan (Local Member) was present for this item and addressed the 
Committee.   
 
(5)   During discussion of this item, the Committee agreed to an additional 
Condition and three Informatives to the recommendations.  The extra Condition 
specified that the upper floor glazing in the elevation facing properties in The Avenue 
was to be opaque.  The Informatives strongly encouraged the applicant to explore the 
potential for incorporating photo voltaic panels and other renewable energy features 

Page 3



 

into the scheme; encouraged the applicant to explore the potential for the relocation 
of the air conditioning unit or measures to minimise its acoustic impact; and 
encouraged the applicant to explore the potential to make provision for construction 
traffic on site.  
 
(6)  On being put to the vote, the recommendations of the Head of Planning 
Applications Group, as amended in (2) and (5) above were carried by 8 votes to 3.   

 
(7)   RESOLVED that:-  
 

(a) the application be referred to the Secretary of State for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government, and subject to his decision and to 
the signed Memorandum of Understanding between KCC Children, 
Young People and Education and KCC Highways, Transportation and 
Waste (which has now been received and ensures that the costs of the 
felling and stump removal of the highway tree required to be removed 
for construction purposes, as well as the full CAVAT value of the tree 
to be removed will be paid by the applicant), permission be granted to 
the Proposal subject to conditions, including conditions covering the 
standard 3-year time limit; the development being carried out in 
accordance with the permitted details; the submission and approval of 
details of all construction materials to be used externally;  the existing 
temporary classrooms on the tennis courts being removed from the 
site and the land returned to its former use within 3 months of the 
occupation of the new classrooms building; the existing temporary 
parking arrangements being retained until the approved car park is 
available to use; the provision and permanent retention of the vehicle 
parking spaces as shown on the submitted plans within 3 months of 
the demolition of the existing annex building and their retention 
thereafter; the approved parking being used for staff and visitor parking 
only and being retained for such use; two electric vehicle parking 
spaces being provided on site within 3 months of the occupation of 
the new building, with passive provision for two further spaces being 
provided within the approved car park and being retained and kept 
available for electric car use only thereafter; the  submission  of  a  
detailed  review  of  the  School  Travel  Plan  incorporating measures 
to encourage sustainable transport; the implementation of the 
submitted Construction Method Statement for the duration of the 
construction activities on site (including details of demolition measures 
to ensure that mammals and their young are not killed during 
demolition); works only being carried out on site between the hours 
of 0800 to 1800 on Mondays to Fridays, 0900 to 1300 on Saturdays, 
with no operations on Sundays or public holidays;   the  access  
gates  from  The  Avenue  only  being  used  post-construction for 
emergency access purposes and not for pupil or staff access at school 
drop off or pick up times; four trees (one replacement and three 
additional) being planted in The Avenue during the first planting 
season following occupation of the new building, in accordance with a 
specification to be agreed in writing with the County Council’s 
Highway’s Aboriculture Department, with any of these trees that die or 
are removed within 5 years of planting being replaced; the submission 
of a Bat Mitigation Strategy prior to the commencement of demolition 
works; the submission for approval by the County Planning Authority of 
details of any lighting scheme, including hours of use, level of 

Page 4



 

illumination and ongoing control over any new lighting on site in order 
to protect foraging and commuting bats; the demonstration prior to the 
completion of the development that the ecological enhancements 
detailed in the “Habitat Creation and Management Plan” have been 
incorporated into the site, with the features then being managed in 
accordance with the plan; compliance with the submitted sustainable 
surface water drainage scheme; the submission  of  a  verification  
report  covering  this  scheme  being  approved  in consultation with 
the Lead Local Flood Authority; no infiltration of surface water 
drainage taking place into the ground other than with the written 
approval of the County Planning Authority, and only being used in 
those areas where there would be no unacceptable risk to controlled 
waters or ground stability; the programme of archaeological works 
being carried out in accordance with the submitted and approved 
Written Scheme of Investigation; a  watching  brief  being  carried  out  
by  a  suitably  qualified  consultant  during demolition and foundation 
works in order to protect underlying groundwater resources; no further 
development taking place if, during development, contamination not 
previously identified is found to be present, until a remediation strategy 
has been agreed with the County Planning Authority; piling or any 
other penetrative foundation designs not being permitted without the 
written approval of the County Planning Authority; (prior to the 
commencement of development) the protection and retention of all 
trees on site within the vicinity of the development not shown to be 
removed within the planning application; and the upper floor glazing in 
the elevation facing properties in The Avenue being opaque; and 

 
(b)     the applicants be advised by Informative that:-  

 
(i) they should ensure that all necessary highway approvals and 

consents are obtained; 
 

(ii) they should  ensure that works to trees are carried out 
outside of the breeding bird season (mid-March to end of 
August inclusive) and, if this is not possible, that an ecologist 
examines the site prior to works commencing; 

 
(iii) the development should take account of the Bat Conservation 

Trust’s “Bats and Lighting in the UK” guidance; 
 

(iv) only clean uncontaminated water should drain to the surface 
water drainage system. Appropriate pollution control methods 
should be used for drainage from access roads and car parking 
areas to prevent hydrocarbons from entering the surface water 
system; 

 
(v) they should register the School Travel Plan with Kent County 

Council through the “Jambusters” website;    
 

(vi) the demand for cycle parking provision should be monitored 
with any requirement for additional spaces being met;  

 
(vii) they are strongly encouraged to explore the potential for 

incorporating photo voltaic panels and other renewable energy 
features into the scheme;  

Page 5



 

 
(viii) they are encouraged to explore the potential for the relocation of 

the air conditioning unit or measures to minimise its acoustic 
impact; and  

 
(ix) they are to explore the potential to make provision for 

construction traffic on site. 
 
27. Matters dealt with under delegated powers  
(Items E1-E4) 
 
RESOLVED to note matters dealt with under delegated powers since the last 
meeting relating to:-  
 

(a) County matter applications;  
 

(b)   County Council developments;  
 
(c)  Screening Opinions under the Town and Country Planning 

(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (None); and 
 
(d) Scoping Opinions under the Town and Country Planning 

(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (None).  
 
28. KCC Responses to consultation  
(Item F ) 
 
There were no reports under this heading.  
 
 
 
  

Page 6



 

C1.1  

SECTION C 
MINERALS AND WASTE MANAGEMENT 

 
Background Documents - the deposited documents; views and representations received as 
referred to in the reports and included in the development proposals dossier for each case; 
and other documents as might be additionally indicated. 

  Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling 

Centre (HWRC), new access to a highway, associated 

infrastructure and earthworks at Allington Integrated 

Waste Management Facility, Laverstoke Road, Allington, 

Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 (KCC/TM/0284/2019) 
 

 

 
A report by Head of Planning Applications Group to Planning Applications Committee on 15 
July 2020. 
 
Application by FCC Environment (UK) Ltd for the development of a Household Waste 
Recycling Centre (HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 
earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, Laverstoke Road, Allington, 
Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 (KCC/TM/0284/2019) 
 
Recommendation: Permission be granted subject to conditions. 
 

Local Member: Peter Homewood Unrestricted 

 

Site description 

 
1. The application site (which comprises two parts) is located to the north of Allington 

(part of the built-up area of Maidstone).  The proposed Household Waste Recycling 
Centre (HWRC) is bound to the north by the M20 Motorway, to the east by Laverstoke 
Road and a storage and distribution warehouse (part of the 20/20 Business Park which 
includes a range of existing commercial and industrial units and some office space), to 
the south by the access to the Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility (IWMF) 
and to the west by the Allington IWMF itself.  St Laurence Avenue and an elevated 
mainline railway (located on a wooded embankment) lie further to the south.  The 
proposed spoil disposal area lies to the southwest of the Allington IWMF and north of 
St Lawrence Avenue. 

 
2. Access to the HWRC is proposed via a new dedicated priority junction off Laverstoke 

Road.  Laverstoke Road connects to St Laurence Avenue (again via a priority junction) 
which, in turn, connects the wider 20/20 Business Park to the A20 London Road (via a 
roundabout). The A20 London Road / Coldharbour Lane provides a direct connection 
to Junction 5 of the M20.  Access to the spoil disposal area from the proposed HWRC 
would be achieved without use of Laverstoke Road and the wider highway network. 

 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item C1



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.2  

Site Location Plan 1 
 

 
 

Page 8



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.3  

Site Location Plan 2 
 

 
 

Page 9



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.4  

3. The nearest residential properties to the proposed HWRC are located within the 
Orchards development which lies to the south of the railway line.  These properties 
(which lie approximately 230 to 250m to the southernmost boundary of the proposed 
HWRC) are accessed from the A20 London Road.  The nearest offices on the 20/20 
Business Park are about 35m to the east of the proposed new HWRC access on 
Laverstoke Road.  The nearest property to the spoil disposal area is the Poppy Fields 
Public House (which includes manager accommodation) lies approximately 64m to the 
south (on Laverstoke Road). 

 
4. The site of the proposed HWRC currently compromises a landscaped earth bund 

which was formed during the construction of the Allington IWMF.  The bund (which is 
orientated north – south) currently extends to a height of about 35.5m above ordnance 
datum (AOD) reducing to about 16.0m AOD along the fence line with the Allington 
IWMF and about 22.0m AOD along the fence line associated with the neighbouring 
distribution centre.  The bund was planted with tree whips following the completion of 
the Allington IMWF development in 2008 which have now grown into an immature 
woodland.  There is also a linear belt of more mature trees running parallel to the 
boundary with the neighbouring distribution centre. 

 
5. The proposed spoil disposal area occupies part of the Allington IWMF initially intended 

to be used for ash weathering storage area and subsequently seeded and part of the 
adjoining land to the south which was planted with whips. 

 
6. The site lies within a Groundwater Source Protection Zone (SPZ1) and within the 

settlement boundary defined in the Tonbridge and Malling Local Development 
Framework (LDF).  It is also allocated for employment use in the adopted and 
emerging Tonbridge and Malling Local Plans and is safeguarded for waste 
management use in the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan (MWLP).  Areas of 
Ancient Woodland lie just to the north of the M20 and east of railway line at the eastern 
end of the 20/20 Business Park.  A geological Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
lies towards the eastern end of the 20/20 Business Park on its southern boundary.  
The Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) lies approximately 
1.5km to the northeast of the application site.  The North Downs Woodland Special 
Area of Conservation (SAC) lies approximately 2km to the northeast of the application 
site (albeit within 200m of part of the A229 Blue Bell Hill) 

 
7. The locations of the proposed HWRC, spoil disposal area, existing Allington IWMF and 

other features referred to in this report are shown on the drawings on pages C1.2 and 
C1.3. 

 

Planning History and Background 

 
8. The Allington IWMF and 20/20 Business Park occupy land which was previously 

worked for mineral (ragstone) and has since been restored using both indigenous 
materials and imported inert waste.  Mineral processing and distribution operations are 
still present at the eastern end of the 20/20 Business Park in the form of a rail 
aggregate siding and an associated distribution depot with asphalt and ready mix 

Page 10



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.5  

concrete plants. 
 
9. Planning permission for the Allington IWMF was granted in July 2000 (TM/98/1428 / 

MA/98/1212) following completion of a Section 106 Agreement and a Section 278 
Agreement.  The permission was temporary in that it limited the operational life of the 
IWMF until 31 July 2030.  Following the grant of planning permission, a number of 
submissions were made (and approved) to discharge the requirements of planning 
conditions and related clauses in the Section 106 Agreement.  Two planning 
applications were also made (and permissions granted) to vary the requirements of 
conditions (TM/04/2816 / MA/04/1694 and TM/06/806 / MA/06/457).  Construction 
began in 2004 and the IWMF became fully operational in 2008.  Planning permission 
was subsequently granted in November 2017 (TM/17/1223 / MA/17/502358) for the 
permanent retention of the Allington IWMF. 

 
10. The July 2000 Section 106 Agreement included a number of obligations relating to the 

development and operation of the Allington IWMF, including the permanent retention 
of the western (undeveloped) part of the site as a Nature Conservation Site and its 
eventual transfer in ownership to a Nature Conservation Company (with appropriate 
funding).  The eastern part of the Allington IWMF site was identified as the 
Development Site (which was not subject to the same development restrictions).  The 
Section 278 Agreement provided for the necessary highway improvements.  The 2017 
planning permission was subject to a new (replacement) Section 106 Agreement 
which confirmed the outstanding and ongoing requirements of the original, including 
the Nature Conservation Site and its eventual transfer of ownership.  The eastern part 
of the Allington IWMF site remains identified as the Development Site. 

 
11. The applicant secured a Screening Opinion from KCC in September 2019 which 

confirmed that the proposed application for the HWRC did not constitute EIA 
development and would not need to be subject to an Environmental Impact 
Assessment (EIA).  It also secured pre-application planning advice from KCC in 
October 2019.  The planning advice indicated that the provision of a HWRC to serve 
residents in Tonbridge and Malling and west Maidstone and assist in meeting waste 
recovery and landfill diversion targets on land safeguarded for waste management use 
in the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan (MWLP) was consistent with waste 
planning policy but that it was not possible to determine whether what was proposed 
was acceptable in all respects pending the submission and consideration of a suitably 
detailed planning application.  The planning advice also highlighted key planning 
considerations for the application as being landscape and visual impact, traffic and 
access, noise impact, air quality impact, ecology, ground and surface water impacts 
and geotechnical stability (in both the construction and operational phases).  The 
planning advice also recommended that the applicant undertake some form of 
community engagement and held discussions with KCC Highways and Transportation 
and the Environment Agency.  The applicant also secured pre-application scoping 
advice from KCC Highways and Transportation in October 2019 relating to those 
matters to be addressed in the Transport Assessment. 

 

Page 11



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.6  

12. The applicant also carried out pre-application consultation in July and October 2019 
with the Allington IWMF Community Liaison Group (CLG) which was formed in about 
2006 following planning permission being granted for the Allington IWMF.  The 
Allington CLG is made up of local Councillors, members of the public and other 
technical specialists to provide ongoing engagement between the site operator (Kent 
Enviropower Ltd – a wholly owned subsidiary of FCC) and local stakeholders on 
operations at the site.  The applicant also met representatives of DHL (the 
neighbouring storage and distribution centre) to discuss the proposals and has advised 
that further discussions have taken place with the Allington CLG, DHL and other 
neighbouring companies.  It should be noted that the applicant also presented details 
of the proposed HWRC as part of informal consultation on its wider aspirations for the 
Allington IWMF at three local community engagement events held in October and 
November 2019. 

 
13. KCC Waste Management is in the process of seeking the procurement of a new 

HWRC for the west Maidstone area and has issued a series of tender documents to 
interested parties.  The applicant has stated that the proposed HWRC at the Allington 
IWMF is intended to meet this requirement. 

 
14. The applicant is also planning an extension to the Allington IWMF by the provision of 

an additional waste treatment line (4th line) and associated infrastructure which would 
increase its waste processing capacity to more than 900,000 tonnes per annum (tpa) 
and have an overall gross electrical capacity of about 77 megawatts (MW).  The 
existing IWMF can process about 560,000tpa of waste and generate up to 45MW (with 
about 38MW being exported to the local electricity supply network).  The applicant 
expects the proposed 4th line to be dealt with by the Planning Inspectorate (PINS) on 
behalf of the Secretary of State (who will determine it) via the submission of an 
application for a Development Consent Order (DCO) under the Planning Act 2008 as it 
relates to a new or extended energy generation development with a gross electrical 
generating capacity of more then 50MW.  The 4th line DCO application would also be 
subject to EIA. 

 

The Proposal 

 
15. The application proposes the development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and earthworks at the 
Allington IWMF. 

 
16. The proposed HWRC would be a modern split level facility incorporating public areas 

for vehicle circulation and parking around the outside, with operational activities taking 
place centrally on the site.  The areas would be fully surfaced in a combination of 
tarmac and concrete and signed (with a range of thermo-plastic road markings) to aid 
wayfinding, illustrate walkways and to demarcate parking spaces. 

 
17. The upper level (in the north-eastern corner) would be formed by concrete retaining 

walls with associated vehicular ramps.  The arrangement would mean that residents 
transferring waste between vehicles and waste containers would not need to climb any 

Page 12



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.7  

steps.  There would be 22 split-level recycling container bays supported by metal 
walkway piers and 25 car spaces (including one accessibility space).  A ‘Y’ shaped 
double pitch canopy is proposed above the containers, walkways and parking spaces 
to aid year-round use and minimise the ingress of water into the collected waste / 
recyclable material.  The canopy would extend to a maximum height of 7.53m.  It 
would be constructed from metal posts and beams with single skin plastic coated steel 
trapezoidal cladding forming the roof.  It was initially proposed that the canopy be 
finished in Goosewing Grey.  However, the applicant has since agreed that a planning 
condition be imposed requiring dark coloured roofing materials be used at the facility if 
this is preferred.  The bottom 2.5m of the posts which would be finished in yellow and 
black hazard strips. 

 
18. The lower level would include 33 parking spaces (including one accessibility space) for 

members of staff and visitors to the re-use shop.  The arrangement would ensure that 
parking spaces next to the split-level containers are not occupied for longer than 
necessary.  A covered bicycle shelter (for up to 10 bicycles) would be provided next to 
the car park and welfare / re-use building.  The lower level of the site would also 
include unloading areas and a range of containers for the collection of specific items of 
waste, including 4 chargeable waste containers (now used at other KCC HWRCs) for 
materials such as: breeze blocks, bricks, cement, concrete and drain pipes; ceramic 
bathroom and kitchen items and tiles; flagstones, granite, marble, paving slabs; 
hardcore, rubble, gravel, rocks, stones; plasterboard; sand and Soil; and tyres. 

 
19. A two-storey site office / welfare and re-use shop would be constructed immediately to 

the south of the upper level using a pre-fabricated / modular building design in grey.  
The building would be 15.9m long, 11.1m wide and have a maximum height of 6.97m 
(to the top of the lift shaft).  The building would provide 353m2 of floorspace and 
include an office, mess room, toilets and a shower.  An external stairway and landing 
would provide access to the upper floor with a lift to ensure access for all.  The building 
would also include a re-use facility which would accept any re-usable items brought to 
the site which may be suitable for re-sale in their existing state or require repair or 
refurbishment.  All electrical items would be PAT tested and rooms within the building 
would be designated for their receipt, sorting, repair, PAT testing and refurbishment.  
Items suitable for re-sale in their current state would be displayed within the 
designated sales area and other items would the stored for repair.  Any residues from 
the re-use process would either be recycled or disposed of as appropriate.  There 
would be up to 4 members of staff permanently employed at the facility (depending on 
need) and there may be opportunities for training in the future. 

 
20. The exact number, location and type of waste and recycling containers would vary 

according to usage and demand over time but would be likely to provide 
accommodation for the following waste streams: Bulky; Chemicals; Cooking Oil; Glass; 
Green waste; Metal; Paper and Card; Plasterboard; Residual; Soil; Textiles; Tyres; 
Wood; Asbestos; Dry Cell Batteries; Gas Bottle and Aerosols; Lead Acid Batteries; 
Rubble and Hardcore; Engine Oil and Engine oil containers; Waste Electrical and 
Electronic Equipment (WEEE) segregated into Small WEEE / LDA’s / Cooling / 
Displays and Lamps; Toner Cartridges.  There would also be additional capacity to 

Page 13



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.8  

take account of future additional waste streams, enforced segregation and overflow. 
 
21. A new purpose built access junction would to be constructed off Laverstoke Road to 

the north of the existing priority junction for the Allington IWMF and south of an existing 
stub junction which is not used and is enclosed within the FCC site by the current 
screen bank.  The new junction would include concrete kerbs with tactile paving and 
footpaths finished in tarmac.  A two-way access road would provide a connection 
between the new junction and the HWRC itself which would be finished in tarmac, 
edged with concrete kerbs and supported by road gullies and interconnected pipework.  
A 2m high metal height restriction barrier would be constructed across the access road 
(as at other HWRCs).  The HWRC would operate a one-way clockwise circulation 
system, with incoming vehicles traveling around the southern and western edges of 
the site.  This would provide on-site queuing capacity for over 100 cars in three internal 
queuing lanes with a combined length of over 600m and allow operational vehicles 
direct access into the site.  At the point where vehicles begin to merge into a single 
lane a meet and greet cabin (2.4m long x 1.8m wide and 2.4m high) would be 
positioned to assist members of the public.  From this point a ramp would enable 
vehicles to travel up to the top level around the northern end of the HWRC where 
visitors would park and off-load waste materials.  Vehicles leaving this area would 
travel down a ramp on the eastern edge of the facility (next to the welfare and re-use 
building) and either leave the site via Laverstoke Road or park and use the re-use 
shop. 

 
22. The applicant proposes that permission be granted to allow the HWRC to be open to 

the public between 07:00 and 20:00 hours weekdays, weekends and on Bank Holidays 
(but closed on Christmas Day, Boxing Day and New Year’s Day), although it states 
that actual opening hours would be dependent on contractual arrangements with KCC 
Waste Management.  It also proposes that site maintenance / cleaning and other 
operational activities be allowed during the 30 minutes before the site opens and 30 
minutes after the site has closed to the public.  It states that having staff on site prior to 
the official opening time also assists with traffic management and would enable 
members of the public arriving in advance of the opening time to wait within the 
confines of the site, rather than queuing on the public highway (something it regards 
as important as vehicles queuing on Laverstoke Road could interfere with the 
operations carried out by DHL and the existing Allington IWMF). 

 
23. The HWRC would employ up to 10 members of staff (including the 4 at the re-use 

facility). 
 
24. Fencing and gating at the HWRC would comprise a 2.4m high galvanised metal 

palisade fence around its perimeter with matching double leaf gates at the main 
entrance to the site, a 2.4m high plastic coated green paladin fence around the central 
operational area with matching double leaf gates at the HGV access point and 
matching fencing and double leaf gates around the waste changing containers and 
between public and operational areas.  A 1.1m high concrete wall (above ramp level) 
would be installed along the length of the ramps.  Plastic coated green paladin fencing 
would be installed on top of a concreate retaining wall running along the edge of the 

Page 14



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.9  

split-level area with matching pedestrian gates to enable access to each of the metal 
pier walkways (between the containers).  Each of the metal pier walkways would 
include 1.1m high anti-climb galvanised handrailing and Armco barriers and bollards 
would be installed at various points around the HWRC to maintain safety. 

 
25. The HWRC would have an impermeable surface.  Surface water would drain via a 

series of gulleys and drains through catchpit chambers, silt traps within drainage 
channels and a by-pass separator.  During periods of low intensity rainfall, water would 
simply flow through the system and into the public surface water sewer on Laverstoke 
Road.  During periods of heavy rainfall, surface water would begin to back up behind 
the flow control chamber (which would restrict run-off leaving the site to a greenfield 
rate of 1.8 litres / second (l/s)) and flow into the underground off-line cellular storage 
attenuation feature (sized to store the 1:100 annual probability rainfall event including 
a 40% increase in rainfall intensity to allow for climate change, in accordance with 
Environment Agency guidance) located beneath the central operational area.  As 
rainfall decreases and the flow control chamber allows surface water would flow out of 
the attenuation feature into the public sewer in Laverstoke Road.  Land drains are 
proposed to be created on the remodelled landform to ensure that run-off is captured 
and re-directed before flowing onto the HWRC.  Foul water from the welfare and re-
use building would be directed via a new foul water connection to the public foul sewer 
to the north-west of the proposed HWRC.  Water collected from beneath the 
containers serving the split-level area and those associated with the containers on the 
lower level would be subject to a leachate drainage system.  This would separately 
drain to a leachate storage tank which would be regularly inspected and emptied by a 
registered waste handler. 

 
26. New native woodland planting would take place around the perimeter of the HWRC (to 

the north, east and south) including on land within the Allington IWMF affected by 
earthworks associated with the development platform to replace that which would be 
lost and assist in screening the development.  Further native woodland planting would 
also take place to the south west of the IWMF to replace that lost as a result of the 
spoil disposal operation.  Small areas of species rich grassland are also proposed to 
the west of the proposed HWRC and in the spoil disposal area which are intended to 
off-set the loss of poor quality habitat during construction and assist in providing 
biodiversity enhancement. 

 
27. The applicant proposes to install a closed-circuit television (CCTV) system and an 

automated number plate recognition (ANPR) system with the detailed design being 
secured by condition.  Similarly, whilst the applicant does not consider the site to be 
particularly sensitive to the introduction of additional lighting, it proposes that a detailed 
lighting scheme be secured by condition.  It states that external lighting would be 
required to enable safe movement across the site and meet health and safety and 
other relevant legislation (e.g. nature conservation) and that new light sources are 
likely to include floodlighting (which would be located on the welfare building 
elevations, on monopoles around the boundary of the site and on the underside of the 
proposed canopy).  It also states that internal lighting would also be required in the 
welfare and re-use building, that low level lighting may also be provided and that 

Page 15



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.10  

floodlighting would only be in use during operational hours and during site 
maintenance.  The applicant states that the lighting scheme would be designed to 
minimise light spillage and that specific measures that are likely to include: the use of 
luminaires with minimal to zero direct contribution to upward light; careful selection, 
aiming and positioning of luminaires; the use of optimal optics for their specific location 
and orientation; optimisation of mounting heights; the adoption of the lowest intensity 
LED modules practicable; and minimising the task illuminance level. 

 
28. A range of non-illuminated signage is proposed to be erected around the site and 

additional directional signage is likely to be required on the surrounding highway 
network to assist members of the public in getting to the site (consent for which would 
be secured as necessary). 

 
29. Construction of the HWRC would be carried out in two phases (i.e. enabling works and 

the construction itself).  It is proposed that these works would take place between 
07:00 and 18:00 on weekdays and Saturdays, although additional flexibility would be 
required for key elements which would be included in a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) secured by condition. 

 
30. Trees and vegetation would be cleared by an arboricultural contractor outside the bird 

breeding season or checked by an ecologist to confirm that no breeding birds are 
present.  The perimeter of the construction and spoil disposal sites would then be 
fenced for safety and security (with timber hoardings or Heras type fencing) and 
environmental reasons (e.g. tree protection fencing, site fencing and acoustic fencing).  
A construction compound and laydown area would then be created for temporary site 
offices, welfare facilities and material and plant storage areas.  The applicant 
anticipates this being located to the south of the IWMF on the existing hardstanding 
area next to the spoil disposal area. 

 
31. The existing underground 33kv cable which provides the electrical connection between 

the Allington IWMF and electricity grid would need to be diverted (by UK Power 
Networks Ltd) to the west and north of the proposed HWRC as it is not sufficiently 
deep to be retained in situ.  The existing and foul and surface water pumping main 
would also need to be diverted for similar reasons. 

 
32. Following the clearance of vegetation and the diversion of the electricity cable, 

excavators would excavate material from the existing bund on the eastern boundary of 
the wider Allington site to create the development platform upon which the HWRC 
would be constructed.  The applicant anticipates that it would be necessary to 
excavate about 60,000m3 (120,000t) of material to create the development platform.  
The access road from the junction with Laverstoke Road towards the HWRC would 
rise slightly to the platform level of 25.7m AOD (the height of majority of the proposed 
HWRC) whilst the upper level would be at 27.3m AOD.  This would result in an overall 
reduction in the height of the existing bund (by as much as 9.7m).  Earthworks would 
also be required to tie the development platform into the existing bund running along 
the northern part of the Allington IWMF site. 

 

Page 16



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.11  

33. All the material excavated during the construction of the development platform would 
be retained on the wider Allington IWMF site.  It would be moved from the proposed 
HWRC site by dumper trucks and deposited on land to the south-west of the existing 
Allington IWMF. The dumper trucks would use a temporary haul road and remain on 
the Allington IWMF site at all times such that it would not be necessary for vehicles to 
use the public highway.  The excavated material would be placed in a series of layers 
against the existing quarry slope by an excavator.  The earth bunds surrounding the 
Allington IWMF were created using inert waste material that had previously been 
deposited within the former Allington quarry.  Although all of the material is understood 
to be inert in nature it is still technically classed as a landfill and remains the subject of 
an Environmental Permit.  The material to be excavated therefore needs to be the 
subject of detailed investigation before excavation can commence and, following 
excavation, before construction can commence on the development platform.  This 
ground investigation and assessment would establish whether remediation of the 
material was required and, if so, inform the nature and extent of that remediation.  A 
full geotechnical investigation of the material remaining in-situ following excavation 
would also need to be carried out to establish its settlement characteristics to inform 
the foundation options / design for the HWRC and any ancillary structures.  The earth 
bunds surrounding the Allington IWMF have been in place for over 10 years and whilst 
some of the existing slopes are relatively steep the applicant states that they have 
remained stable.  It also states that a slope of one vertical to three horizontal of well-
placed unsaturated inert material of the nature expected is likely to be stable and that 
no steeper slopes are proposed. 

 
34. The applicant states that the new access junction off Laverstoke Road would be 

constructed first to enable access into the site and drainage, service infrastructure and 
surfacing to be installed (thereby allowing vehicles delivering materials to access the 
site and enable travel on hard-surfacing from an early stage in the main build, reducing 
the potential for mud to be trafficked onto the local highway network).  Following this, 
the retaining walls surrounding the upper level and ramps would be constructed from 
reinforced concrete, the whole site would be kerbed to contain surface water and the 
building foundations would be constructed.  The remaining elements of the scheme 
would be installed as the construction phase progresses.  The applicant proposes that 
a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) be developed to manage 
and report environmental effects using best practice during construction and that this 
be secured by condition. 

 
35. The applicant states that measures would be employed to ensure that all operations 

are carried out in an efficient and responsible manner to safeguard the environment 
and comply with the Environmental Permit for which an application has been made to 
the Environment Agency (e.g. periodic inspections of the fabric and infrastructure of 
the site including fences, gates, building infrastructure and drainage system; sweeping 
and litter clearance as required; daily inspections of the site; the use of a standpipe 
and hose as necessary to clean down site surfaces and control dust emissions; the 
use of a pest control contract which would include routine visits / checks; and specified 
time periods within which materials must be removed from site).  It also states that 
although the potential effects of waste management developments can be the subject 

Page 17



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.12  

of public concern (i.e. nuisance caused by litter, odour or through the attraction of 
vermin or other pests to the site) a modern well run facility (such as that proposed) 
should not give rise to such issues through regular monitoring / daily inspections and 
general good housekeeping. 

 
36. The application (as submitted in December 2019) was accompanied by a planning 

statement, a transport assessment, a noise impact assessment, an air quality 
assessment, an ecological assessment, a landscape and visual assessment, a phase 
1 site investigation, a flood risk assessment, a drainage assessment and an 
arboricultural assessment, as well as a number of plans and drawings.  As a result of 
responses to the initial consultation / notification, the applicant submitted further 
information in support of the application in March 2020 and also made a relatively 
minor amendment to the application site (in terms of the area proposed to be used for 
the disposal of spoil arising from the development).  It provided a replacement noise 
impact assessment, flood risk assessment, drainage assessment, arboricultural 
assessment and plans / drawings relating to the application site boundary, earthworks 
and landscape proposals.  It also provided an ecological addendum report, a highways 
technical note, a technical note responding to issues raised by Natural England and an 
air quality assessment addendum, as well as a letter setting out responses to specific 
issues and comments (including those raised by the local business and residential 
communities).  Drawings illustrating the proposed development are included in 
Appendix 1. 

 

Planning Policy Context 

 
37. National Planning Policies – the most relevant National Planning Policies are set out 

in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (May 2019), the associated 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) and the National Planning Policy for 
Waste  (NPPW) (2014).  These are all material planning considerations. 

 
38. Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 (July 2016) – Policies CSW1 

(Sustainable Development), CSW2 (Waste Hierarchy), CSW3 (Waste Reduction), 
CSW4 (Strategy for Waste Management Capacity), CSW6 (Location of Built Waste 
Management Facilities), CSW7 (Waste Management for Non-hazardous Waste), 
CSW11 (Permanent Deposit of Inert Waste), CSW16 (Safeguarding of Existing Waste 
Management Facilities), DM1 (Sustainable Design), DM2 (Environmental and 
Landscape Sites of International, National and Local Importance), DM3 (Ecological 
Impact Assessment), DM10 (Water Environment), DM11 (Health and Amenity), DM12 
(Cumulative Impact), DM13 (Transportation of Minerals and Waste), DM15 
(Safeguarding of Transport Infrastructure), DM16 (Information Required In Support of 
an Application), DM18 (Land Stability) and DM19 (Restoration, Aftercare and After-
use). 

 
39. Kent Waste Local Plan (March 1998) Saved Policies – Policies W7 and W9.  [Note: 

This will be relevant until the Early Partial Review of the Kent MWLP is adopted.] 
 

Page 18



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.13  

40. Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council Local Development Framework (LDF) 
Core Strategy (September 2007) – Policies CP1 (Sustainable development), CP2 
(Sustainable transport), CP11 (Location of Development), CP21 (Employment 
Provision), Policy CP24 (Achieving a High Quality Environment) and CP25 (Mitigation 
of Development Impacts). 

 
41. Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council LDF Development Plan Allocations 

Development Plan Document (DPD) (April 2008) – Policy E1 (Safeguarded 
Employment Land). 

 
42. Tonbridge and Malling LDF Managing Development and the Environment DPD 

(April 2010) – Policies CC1 (Mitigation – Sustainable Design), CC2 (Mitigation – 
Waste Minimisation), CC3 (Adaption – Sustainable Drainage), NE1 (Local Sites of 
Wildlife, Geological and Geomorphological Interest), NE2 (Habitat Networks), NE3 
(Impact of Development on Biodiversity), NE4 (Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland), 
SQ1 (Landscape and Townscape Protection and Enhancement), SQ4 (Air quality), 
SQ5 (Water Supply and Quality), SQ6 (Noise) and SQ8 (Road Safety). 

 
43. Early Partial Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 Pre-

Submission Draft (November 2018) – This proposes changes to Policies CSW4 
(Strategy for Waste Management Capacity), CSW6 (Location of Built Waste 
Management Facilities), CSW7 (Waste Management for Non-hazardous Waste), 
CSW8 (Other Recovery Facilities for Non-hazardous Waste) and DM8 (Safeguarding 
Minerals Management, Transportation Production & Waste Management Facilities).  
One of the reasons for the Early Partial Review was to update the assumptions about 
waste management capacity underlying Policies CSW7 and CSW8 and the 
consequent impact on the need for a Waste Sites Plan.  The Early Partial Review of 
the Kent MWLP was subject to an independent examination between 8 and 15 
October 2019 and the Inspector’s Report was published on 23 April 2020.  The Report 
concludes that the Plan is sound provided that a number of main modifications are 
made.  The main modifications were discussed at the examination hearings, subject to 
sustainability appraisal and public consultation and considered by the Inspector along 
with any representations made on them.  Given this, it is appropriate that substantial 
weight be given to the Plan in the period prior to its adoption.  It is intended to seek 
adoption of the Early Partial Review of the Kent MWLP in September 2020.   

 
44. Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council Local Plan Regulation 19 Pre-

Submission Publication (September 2018) – Draft Policies LP1 (Presumption in 
Favour of Sustainable Development), LP2 (Strategic Objectives), LP5 (Settlement 
Hierarchy), LP10 (Infrastructure Requirements), LP11 (Designated Areas), LP12 
(Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty), LP13 (Local Natural Environmental 
Designations), LP14 (Achieving High Quality Sustainable Design), LP17 (Flood Risk), 
LP18 (Sustainable Drainage Systems), LP19 (Habitat Protection and Creation), LP20 
(Air Quality, LP21 (Noise Quality), LP22 (Contamination), LP23 (Sustainable 
Transport) and LP42 (Parking Standards). 

 

Page 19



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.14  

Consultations 

 
45. Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council – Raises the following issues: 
 

1. Whilst the Borough Council welcomes the principle of the provision of a HWRC 
within the Borough it raises concerns regarding the potential traffic generation 
from the site.  KCC should satisfy themselves that the traffic generation is fully 
assessed against the VISUM modelling undertaken in support of the emerging 
growth strategy for the Borough contained within the draft Tonbridge and Malling 
Local Plan. 

 
46. Maidstone Borough Council – No comments received. 
 
47. Aylesford Parish Council – Although not opposed to the principle of the facility, it 

believes that the application cannot be considered in isolation from all the other 
proposed development in the area including the expansion of the existing Allington 
IWMF and residential development in the area (e.g. 840 units at the Gladman’s site at 
Whitepost Lane and 106 units at Bunyards Farm).  It states that the A20 near the site 
could not cope with the significant increase in traffic movements arising from all of 
these developments, even with the proposed new Coldharbour roundabout.  It 
proposes that determination of the HWRC application be delayed until the position 
regarding all of the other developments is known and the highway improvements have 
been completed on the A20 in order that to ensure a more accurate determination of 
traffic movements.  It states that if it is decided to not wait until the position regarding 
all the above development is known, it would have to object to the application on the 
following grounds: 

 
1. The HWRC would lead to significant additional traffic movements on an already 

over capacity A20 in whatever direction the traffic takes as it accesses the A20. 
 
2. The development would make the already poor air quality in the area even 

worse, affecting quite significantly the existing Aylesford and Maidstone A20 
AQMAs. 

 
It had nothing to add to this following the submission of further information in March 
2020. 

 
48. Highways England – No objection.  It advises that its main interest in this case is 

whether the proposed development has the potential to impact on the safe and 
efficient operation of the M20 Junction 5 (i.e. part of the Strategic Road Network 
(SRN)).  It states that it is content that the proposed development would not materially 
impact the reliability, operation or safety of the SRN (i.e. the tests set out in DfT C2/13 
paragraphs 9 and 10 and MHCLG NPPF paragraph 109).  It notes that there is a 
concurrent application on the adjacent site for a proposed extension to the existing 
Allington EfW Generation Station (at EIA Scoping Notification and Consultation stage) 
which is currently being assessed as part of a Development Consent Order and 
advises that its current response only relates to the HWRC and not the DCO proposal. 

Page 20



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.15  

 
49. KCC Highways and Transportation – No objection subject to conditions to secure 

the following: 
 

1. Submission of a Construction Management Plan before the commencement of 
any development on site to include the following: 
(a) Routing of construction and delivery vehicles to / from site; 
(b) Parking and turning areas for construction and delivery vehicles and site 

personnel; 
(c) Timing of deliveries; 
(d) Provision of wheel washing facilities; and 
(e) Temporary traffic management / signage. 

 
2. Before and after construction of the development, highway condition surveys for 

highway access routes should be undertaken and a commitment provided to 
fund the repair of any damage caused by vehicles related to the development. 

 
3. Provision of construction vehicle loading/unloading and turning facilities prior to 

commencement of work on site and for the duration of construction. 
 
4. Provision of parking facilities for site personnel and visitors prior to 

commencement of work on site and for the duration of construction. 
 
5. Provision of measures to prevent the discharge of surface water onto the 

highway. 
 
6. Provision of wheel washing facilities prior to commencement of work on site and 

for the duration of construction. 
 
7. Provision and permanent retention of the vehicle parking spaces and/or garages 

shown on the submitted plans prior to the use of the site commencing. 
 
8. Provision and permanent retention of the vehicle loading/unloading and turning 

facilities shown on the submitted plans prior to the use of the site commencing. 
 
9. Use of a bound surface for the first 5 metres of the access from the edge of the 

highway. 
 
10. Provision and permanent retention of the cycle parking facilities shown on the 

submitted plans prior to the use of the site commencing. 
 
11. Completion and maintenance of the access shown on the submitted plans 

(drawing number: 1407 SK100 titled ‘Site Layout’) prior to the use of the site 
commencing. 

 
12. Provision and maintenance of 2.4 metre by 43 metre visibility splays at the 

access with no obstructions over 0.6 metres above carriageway level within the 

Page 21



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.16  

splays, prior to use of the site commencing. 
 

It has also requested the following informative: 
 

INFORMATIVE: It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the 
development hereby approved is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals 
and consents where required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are 
clearly established in order to avoid any enforcement action being taken by the 
Highway Authority. 

 
Across the county there are pieces of land next to private homes and gardens that do 
not look like roads or pavements but are actually part of the road.  This is called 
‘highway land’.  Some of this land is owned by The Kent County Council (KCC) whilst 
some are owned by third party owners.  Irrespective of the ownership, this land may 
have ‘highway rights’ over the topsoil.  Information about how to clarify the highway 
boundary can be found at https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-
after/highway-land/highway-boundary-enquiries  

 
The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved plans agree in 
every aspect with those approved under such legislation and common law.  It is 
therefore important for the applicant to contact KCC Highways and Transportation to 
progress this aspect of the works prior to commencement on site. 

 
KCC Highways and Transportation (KCC H&T) had initially requested clarification and 
further information in respect of a number of issues.  The response above and below 
represents its position following receipt and consideration of the applicant’s Highways 
Technical Note (HTN) dated 24 March 2020 (submitted in March 2020). 
 
KCC H&T has also commented (in summary) as follows: 
 
Vehicular access:  Although a revised plan demonstrating the required 2.4 by 43m 
visibility sight lines has not been provided by the applicant, KCC H&T is satisfied that 
this can be achieved.  It has also accepted that an independent  stage 1 road safety 
audit (RSA) can be provided at the detailed design / S278 stage if permission is 
granted given the high quality nature of Laverstoke Road and the fact that the 
proposed access complies with the relevant technical specifications (in terms of 
visibility, junction radius and swept paths).  It advises that accepts the suitability of the 
merge area adjacent to the site’s stacking lanes, although these will not be offered for 
adoption or form part of the publicly maintainable highway. 
 
Pedestrian access:  It accepts that a 1.2m footway into the site will be adequate given 
likely operational demands and as few people will arrive at the site on foot. 
 
Trip generation:  It considers that comparing the proposed facility with the Charlton 
Lane HWRC in Shepperton, Surrey and use of a traffic profile from the TRICS 
database to be reasonable.  It also considers the trip generation forecasts used for 
Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGV’s) to be reasonable since it represents a worst case 

Page 22

https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land/highway-boundary-enquiries
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land/highway-boundary-enquiries


Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.17  

scenario. 
 
Trip distribution:  It considers the assumption that the majority of traffic would route via 
the administrative area of Tonbridge and Malling (TMBC), 46% via A20 West and 40% 
via the M20, with only 14% routing from the direction of Maidstone (A20 South) to be 
reasonable given the lack of an existing HWRC within the TMBC administrative area, 
the significant residential development located to the west of the site and the proximity 
of the existing HWRC located in Tovil to residential development in South Maidstone. 
 
Traffic surveys:  It considers the use of applicant’s traffic surveys to be acceptable for 
assessment purposes as they are representative of typical traffic conditions (within 
term time). 
 
Committed development:  It accepts that the applicant has appropriately considered 
traffic associated with committed development in the area (including that being 
implemented by Croudace to the east of Hermitage Lane and an extension to the 
Aylesford Retail Park). 
 
TMBC Emerging Local Plan:  It does not consider that additional future year 
assessments up to 2031 inclusive of all proposed allocations in TMBC’s emerging 
Local Plan could be reasonably required, noting that KCC Planning Applications Group 
has advised that development proposed as part of the emerging TMBC Local Plan 
cannot (in itself) be considered as “committed development” as it has yet to go through 
formal examination with the Planning Inspectorate (PIN’s) and may therefore be 
subject to amendment or found to be unsound. 
 
Traffic impact:  It accepts that the applicant’s peak hour assessments present a worst-
case scenario in terms of total traffic flows and that an additional weekday lunchtime 
assessment is not required.  It also accepts that the results of the applicant’s baseline 
(2020) assessments confirm that all the junctions in question currently operate within 
operational capacity, without any excessive queueing or delay, thereby validating the 
future year assessments.  It notes that baseline junction capacity assessments have 
been undertaken for the junctions between the Allington IWMF and Laverstoke Road 
and between Laverstoke Road and St Laurence Avenue and for the 20/20 / 
Poppyfields Roundabout.  Whilst no baseline assessment has been undertaken for the 
Coldharbour Lane roundabout, it considers this reasonable given the advance and 
committed nature of KCC Highways own planned improvements. 
 
Junction Capacity Assessments:  It advises that the junction capacity assessments 
confirm that the site access would operate within its operational capacity in all 
assessed periods without queueing or delays and that the Allington IWMF / Laverstoke 
Road junction would continue to operate within its operational capacity up to 2024 in 
all assessed periods, without excessive queuing or delay on any arms of the junction.  
It notes that several objections have been received from neighbouring business on the 
20/20 Industrial Estate in relation to vehicles associated with Allington IWMF queueing 
on the public highway, with consequential implications for highway safety.  It also 
notes that the applicant has responded by stating that this occurs at times when 

Page 23



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.18  

demand is higher than normal (e.g. during the post-Christmas period) and has put 
forward a range of management measures to prevent any future queuing.  KCC H&T 
considers these measures to be acceptable.  It advises that the St Lawrence Avenue / 
Laverstoke Road junction would continue to operate within operational capacity up to 
2024 in all assessed periods without queuing or delay (with the greatest impact being 
anticipated between 11:00 and 12:00 on Sundays).  It advises that the Poppyfields / 
20/20 Roundabout would continue to operate within its operational capacity, with 
minimal increases in queuing and delay.  The most pronounced impact would be in the 
weekday PM peak period when an additional 2 vehicles are anticipated to be added to 
the queue.  However, it states that the junction would still operate without an 
unacceptable impact on traffic conditions.  It advises that the impact on the 
Coldharbour Roundabout capacity assessment is based on KCC Highways own 
improvement scheme at this location and that use of the improved layout for modelling 
purposes is acceptable given the advanced and committed status of the planned 
works.  It advises that all modelled scenarios (weekday AM and PM, Saturday 
interpeak and Sunday interpeak) show that the junction will operate within its 
operational capacity, without excessive queueing or delay. 
 
Wider A20 network:  It advises that the proposals are anticipated to only generate a 
limited amount of additional traffic in the direction of the A20 corridor in the AM and PM 
peak weekday periods and although a significant amount of traffic would be generated 
during the weekend interpeak period (11:00-12:00), this needs to be considered in the 
context of the lower background traffic flows on the local highway network at 
weekends.  It therefore accepts that the assessments in the applicant’s TA represent a 
worst case-scenario and that further assessment of the wider A20 network during the 
weekend periods could not be reasonably required. 
 
Personal Injury Collision (PIC) Analysis:  It accepts that the proposals are not likely to 
exacerbate any pre-existing highway safety issues.  It notes that PIC data associated 
with the Poppyfields roundabout confirms that of the 12 collisions recorded in the last 
5-year period all were classed as “slight” in terms of severity, except for 1 “serious” 
collision (relating to a motorcyclists travelling in the direction of Maidstone losing 
control whilst negotiating the roundabout in wet conditions and leaving the 
carriageway).  Of the remaining 11 “slight” collisions it notes that driver error was a 
contributory factor in all, with 2 of the slight collisions caused by buses breaking 
sharply and causing injury to passengers.  It states that the layout of the existing 
highway or any defects in it is not listed as a contributory factor in any of the 12 
recorded collisions.  It also notes that PIC data has only been obtained for the 20/20 / 
Poppyfields roundabout (as the Coldharbour Roundabout is due for improvement by 
KCC Highways Major Projects Team) and that Crashmap confirms only 1 “slight” 
collision on the St Lawrence Avenue and Laverstock Road corridor in the last 21 
years. 
 
Parking:  It accepts that the parking provision will be adequate for the development’s 
anticipated operational demands, without any overflow parking on the adjacent public 
highway.  It notes that there would be 58 car parking spaces (25 adjacent to the 
various recycling containers and 33 next to the “reuse shop”) with additional stacking 

Page 24



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.19  

capacity for 100 vehicles. 
 
Turning and Servicing:  It is satisfied that swept path analysis demonstrates that the 
largest vehicle requiring access (an 8.8m long roll on/roll off skip / dumper truck) can 
enter the site, manoeuvre and then egress onto the public highway in a forward 
motion. 

 
50. Environment Agency – No objection subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. No development shall commence until a strategy to deal with the potential risks 
associated with any contamination of the site has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by KCC.  The strategy shall include: 
(i) A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: all previous uses; 

potential contaminants associated with those uses; a conceptual model of 
the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors, including the Hythe 
Formation Principal Aquifer; and potentially unacceptable risks arising from 
contamination at the site. 

(ii) A site investigation scheme, based on (i) to provide information for a 
detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, 
including those off site. 

(iii) The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment 
referred to in (ii) and, based on these, an options appraisal and 
remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation measures 
required and how they are to be undertaken. 

(iv) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order 
to demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (iii) are 
complete and identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of 
pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.  

 
Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water 
pollution in line with paragraph 170 of the NPPF. 

 
2. No occupation of any part of the development shall occur until a verification 

report demonstrating the completion of works set out in the approved 
remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by KCC.  The report shall include results of 
sampling and monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved verification 
plan to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met 

 
Reason: To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to human health 
or the water environment by demonstrating that the requirements of the 
approved verification plan have been met and that remediation of the site is 
complete (in line with paragraph 170 of the NPPF). 

 
3. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by KCC, if during development contamination 

not previously identified is found to be present at the site then no further 

Page 25



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.20  

development shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how this 
contamination will be dealt with has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
KCC. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water 
pollution from previously unidentified contamination sources at the development 
site in line with paragraph 170 of the NPPF.  

 
4. Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall not be 

permitted other than with the express written consent of KCC, which may be 
given for those parts of the site where it has been demonstrated by a piling risk 
assessment that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater.  The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water 
pollution caused by mobilised contaminants in line with paragraph 170 of the 
NPPF. 

 
It also recommended the following informative: 
 
1. Piling can result in risks to groundwater quality by mobilising contamination when 

boring through different bedrock layers and creating preferential pathways.  Thus 
it should be demonstrated that any proposed piling will not result in 
contamination of groundwater.  If piling is proposed, a Piling Risk Assessment 
must be submitted, written in accordance with EA guidance document “Piling and 
Penetrative Ground Improvement Methods on Land Affected by Contamination: 
Guidance on Pollution Prevention. National Groundwater & Contaminated Land 
Centre report NC/99/73”. 

 
It states that it accepts the findings and conclusions of the submitted Phase 1 
investigative report on ground conditions.  It advises that the proposed development 
would need to be subject to an Environmental Permit which would further address 
drainage arrangements (in order to minimise the risk to surface and groundwater) and 
require measures to control dust, odour and noise emissions (to minimise impacts on 
the amenity of adjacent properties, including businesses).  It also advises that as the 
site is within the boundary of a permitted landfill site that accepted waste with some 
risk of generating landfill gas, the buildings and any enclosed spaces should be 
designed to take into account potential landfill gas being generated.  It states that the 
proposed earthworks would need to be carried out in accordance with an 
environmental permit (since they would involve moving controlled waste that has 
already been imported and deposited) and that this could be done under a variation to 
the existing landfill permit.  It also states that the existing Environmental Permit for the 
Allington IWMF may also need to be reviewed as a result of what is proposed to 
assess potential impacts and ensure that these remain acceptable.  This may include 
the need for an amended assessment of the risk of the Allington IWMF to the 

Page 26



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.21  

proposed new receptor (the HWRC) in terms of air quality. 
 
51. Natural England – No objection.  It had initially raised concerns about the potential 

impact of additional traffic on the North Downs Woodlands Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC).  However, these concerns were overcome by the applicant’s 
“Response to Natural England Technical Note” submitted in March 2020 which 
confirmed that the additional vehicle numbers predicted along the A229 associated 
with the proposed development is minimal and that the emissions are not likely to have 
a significant effect on the SAC, even when considered cumulatively with other plans 
and projects. 

 
52. Kent Downs AONB Unit – Advises that it is unable to provide a detailed response on 

the application due to unprecedented levels of major planning related work and that it 
is the responsibility of KCC to decide whether the application meets legislative and 
policy requirements in respect of AONBs.  It also advises that KCC has a legal duty to 
take account of the purposes of AONB designation (i.e. the conservation and 
enhancement of the area’s natural beauty) in determining the application and that 
consideration should be given to the development plan, paragraph 172 of the NPPF, 
the NPPG and the policies and objectives of the Kent Downs AONB Management Plan 
(Second Revision). 

 
Notwithstanding this, it has stated that in order to mitigate potential impacts on the 
Kent Downs AONB it supports the proposed replacement woodland planting around 
the perimeter of the site and would advocate the use of a dark coloured roofing 
material (rather than the pale grey of existing buildings at the Allington site which make 
the existing buildings prominent in views from the Kent Downs) and a requirement for 
lighting to be designed to minimise light pollution. 

 
53. KCC Landscape Consultant – No objection subject to conditions to secure: 
 

1. The implementation of a detailed planting plan, specification and planting 
schedule which has been submitted to and approved in writing by KCC prior to 
any development taking place; 

 
2. A Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) which shows how 

potential construction impacts on the environment and local community will be 
minimised or mitigated; 

 
3. Appropriate tree protection measures; 
 
4. Tree removal outside the bird nesting season; 
 
5. All planting, seeding or turfing to be carried out in the first available planting and 

seeding season following the occupation of the site or the completion of the 
development (whichever is the sooner); and 

 
6. An aftercare period of no less than five years. 

Page 27



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.22  

 
It has provided detailed advice on the content of the above.   
 
It states that although the loss of existing tree cover and reduction in the bund height 
would impact on the view of the site, the development proposals are consistent with 
their surroundings and as such the visual effects are not considered to be significant.  
It states that the most significant visual impact would be during the construction phase 
when the movement of machinery on site and potential generation of dust may be 
conspicuous.  However, it notes that the adjacent Allington IWMF is regularly serviced 
by HGVs and that within the wider landscape context this issue is not considered as 
being particularly sensitive.  It advises that replacement tree planting would take 
approximately 10 years to reach the degree of maturity required to provide complete 
screening. 
 
In terms of the spoil disposal area, it states that proposed levels appear to tie in with 
those of the adjacent contours so the additional spoil should not read as an 
incongruous feature in the wider landscape.  It recommends that the new slope profile 
should not exceed 1:3 unless slope stabilisation measures are put in place and that 
seeding should take place as soon as possible to prevent run‐off.  It also states that 
the sowing of a lowland meadow seed mix would enhance the biodiversity of the site 
and the additional woodland planting would offer further benefits in terms of habitat, 
stabilisation and screening. 

 
54. KCC Noise Consultant – No objection subject to a condition to secure a Construction 

Environment Management Plan (CEMP) detailing Best Practical Means (BPM) and 
other mitigation methods to protect nearby receptors during the construction phase.  It 
is satisfied that the HWRC can operate without adverse effect on any noise sensitive 
receptors. 

 
It advises that the applicant’s noise assessment is robust, taking into account the noise 
emissions from the three key aspects of site’s operations (i.e. routine / domestic 
operations, specific event noise such as HGV movements and the operational road 
traffic noise from vehicles visiting the site).  It also advises that the applicant has 
established representative background noise levels for three noise sensitive areas (i.e. 
the Poppy Fields PH, Rosebay Gardens (part of the Orchards development) and 
Coldharbour Lane) and that data from noise monitoring at a similar HWRC has been 
used in the assessment which is compliant with the guidance provided by BS4142: 
2014+A1:2019.  It notes that the predicted rating levels are significantly below the 
existing background LA90 levels (i.e. -30 dB at Poppy Fields, -6 dB at Rosebay 
Gardens and -26 dB at Coldharbour Lane).  It also advises that the separate 
assessment of the impact from road traffic noise from increased vehicle flows on the 
local highway network shows a negligible change in terms of perception of between 0 
and 0.8 dB. 

 
In terms of construction activities, it notes that the construction noise assessment 
shows predicted levels of up to 56 dB at residential receptors with potentially higher 
levels of up to 72 dB at the 20/20 Business Park during some activities.  However, as 

Page 28



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.23  

these construction works are temporary / short term it is satisfied that BPM should 
ensure they can be controlled and adverse impact avoided.  It therefore recommends 
that a CEMP detailing BPM and other mitigation methods for protection to the nearby 
receptors be submitted to KCC for approval. 

 
In summary, it is are satisfied that the applicant has demonstrated that the construction 
and operation of the HWRC can be carried out without significant adverse effect on the 
noise sensitive receptors and that where there is the potential for adverse noise during 
construction this can be adequately controlled by use of appropriate planning 
conditions. 

 
55. KCC Air Quality – No objection subject to conditions to secure an operational Dust 

Management Plan (DMP) and a site Odour Management Plan (OMP).  It is satisfied 
that the risk to neighbouring facilities and surrounding sensitive receptors from dust 
exposure is low, that any odour impact can be appropriately minimised and that air 
quality has been appropriately assessed and that no further assessment is required. 

 
Dust:  It advises that earthworks and construction activities at the site have been 
assessed to be of low risk, that appropriate mitigation measures have been identified 
in accordance with the relevant guidance and that with the implementation of the 
proposed measures any residual impacts are likely be not significant.  However, it 
recommends that further reassurance be provided to neighbours by formalising the 
approach to managing the potential impacts of dust generated from site by the 
provision of an operational Dust Management Plan (DMP).  It states that this DMP 
should be treated as a live document, with all proposed mitigation measures contained 
within it together with a clear procedure on how complaints should be handled and 
investigated, with responsible persons specified in the live document. 

 
Odour:  It advises that there is the potential for fugitive odour emissions from vehicles 
importing and exporting waste and from the bays on site during the operational phase, 
although a significant proportion of the waste likely to be brought in would not be 
odorous (given its inert nature).  It notes that the potential for odour would be 
minimised by managing the length of time waste is on site and by implementing good 
on-site house-keeping practices.  It also notes that the site would require an 
Environmental Permit and that the applicant would need to demonstrate (to the 
Environment Agency) that the planned odour containment and mitigation measures 
embedded into the design would prevent an unacceptable level of odour beyond the 
site boundary.  It notes that odour effects are predicted to be “slight adverse” at three 
identified receptors but accepts that the site would be regarded as “low risk” in terms of 
the Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) odour guidance.  However, it 
recommends the provision of a site Odour Management Plan (OMP) which includes 
details of all types of waste to be processed, anticipated volumes of waste, the 
proposed mitigation measures and any additional mitigation measure that would be 
implemented prior to accepting deliveries.  It also recommends that the OMP should 
identify any high risk receptors, specify all sources and points of release, include a 
procedure for dealing with complaints and contain contact details of those responsible 
persons on site. 

Page 29



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.24  

 
Air Quality:  It advises that the updated air quality assessment (which includes other 
committed development) was undertaken using relevant guidance and utilised air 
dispersion modelling which was verified utilising available monitoring data and focused 
estimating the potential impact at sensitive receptor locations along roads where there 
would be an increase in vehicle movements as a result of the proposals.  It states that 
a negligible impact is predicted at all but one receptor, which was slight adverse and 
located within the existing Air Quality Management Area.  However, the results of 
modelling estimate that the development related increase in traffic will not result in an 
exceedance of NO2 at this location.  It agrees that the overall magnitude of change at 
all receptors will likely be ‘negligible’ and that air quality does not need to be 
considered further within this application.  

 
56. KCC Ecological Advice Service – No objection subject to conditions to secure the 

implementation of compensation measures (an Ecological Design Strategy) and to 
ensure there is appropriate post-development management for the ecological features 
(a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan).  It states that the latter is especially 
pertinent to the meadow grassland habitat as, to become established and functional, a 
specific management regime must be implemented (as alluded to within the submitted 
documents) and maintained indefinitely.  It also suggests that an informative be 
included on any planning permission reminding the applicant of its obligations under 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (in respect of nesting birds) as there are habitats 
on and around the site which provide opportunities for breeding birds (including 
woodland which would be lost). 

 
It notes that habitat creation would be enacted where the spoil produced during 
construction phase of the development would be deposited to compensate for the loss 
of habitat resulting from the development of the HWRC.  It advises that although the 
revised location of the spoil disposal area would result in the loss of immature 
woodland habitat, this is of relatively low ecological value and would be replaced with 
new native woodland planting.  It also advises that establishment of species-rich 
meadow grassland on the remaining part of the spoil disposal area (c.50% of the area) 
could be considered a slight positive when compared to the previous location.  It also 
notes that native woodland planting / species-rich grassland creation would take place 
around the HWRC development footprint. 

 
57. KCC Flood and Water Management (SuDS) – No objection subject to the following 

conditions: 
 

1. Development shall not begin in any phase until a detailed sustainable surface 
water drainage scheme for the site has been submitted to (and approved in 
writing by) KCC.  The detailed drainage scheme shall be based upon the 
Drainage Assessment report (v1.3 March 2020) by Weetwood and shall 
demonstrate that the surface water generated by this development (for all rainfall 
durations and intensities up to and including the climate change adjusted critical 
100 year storm) can be accommodated and disposed of without increase to flood 
risk on or off-site.  The drainage scheme shall also demonstrate (with reference 

Page 30



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.25  

to published guidance): 
(a) that silt and pollutants resulting from the site use can be adequately 

managed to ensure there is no pollution risk to receiving waters; and 
(b) appropriate operational, maintenance and access requirements for each 

drainage feature or SuDS component are adequately considered, including 
any proposed arrangements for future adoption by any public body or 
statutory undertaker. 

The drainage scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for 
the disposal of surface water and to ensure that the development does not 
exacerbate the risk of on / off site flooding.  These details and accompanying 
calculations are required prior to the commencement of the development as they 
form an intrinsic part of the proposal, the approval of which cannot be 
disaggregated from the carrying out of the rest of the development. 

 
2. No building on any phase (or within an agreed implementation schedule) of the 

development hereby permitted shall be occupied until a Verification Report, 
pertaining to the surface water drainage system and prepared by a suitably 
competent person, has been submitted to and approved by KCC.  The Report 
shall demonstrate the suitable modelled operation of the drainage system where 
the system constructed is different to that approved.  The Report shall contain 
information and evidence (including photographs) of details and locations of 
inlets, outlets and control structures; landscape plans; full as built drawings; 
information pertinent to the installation of those items identified on the critical 
drainage assets drawing; and the submission of an operation and maintenance 
manual for the sustainable drainage scheme as constructed. 

 
Reason: To ensure that flood risks from development to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those risks to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems and to ensure that the development as 
constructed is compliant with and subsequently maintained pursuant to the 
requirements of paragraph 165 of the NPPF. 

 
It advises that it is happy with the revised drainage strategy layout and location of the 
separator, noting that it is proposed to discharge into the public sewer at Greenfield 
runoff rate, that the drainage design calculation has used a high FSR value as 
recommended in KCC planning policy and that a full retention separator to treat 
surface runoff from the site is proposed. 

 
58. Southern Water – No objection subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. The applicant should ensure that the Trade Effluent discharge licence has been 
obtained, before the connection to the public sewerage network can be 
approved. 

 

Page 31



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.26  

2. Construction of the development shall not commence until details of the 
proposed means of foul and surface water sewerage disposal have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with Southern Water. 

 
It has also advised that it requires a formal application for a connection to the public 
foul and surface water sewer to be made by the applicant or developer and requested 
the imposition of a detailed informative relating to this. 

 
59. KCC Waste Management – Supports the application as there is a need for a new 

HWRC to serve the north Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council and west Maidstone 
areas and as the proposed site would meet the requirements of the Waste Disposal 
Authority (WDA). 

 
It advises that the WDA has a statutory duty to seek provision for dealing with 
domestic waste arisings in Kent; that KCC provides HWRCs in accordance with the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 (EPA); that KCC currently operates a network of 18 
HWRCs providing facilities for re-use, recycling and safe disposal, for a range of 
material streams delivered by Kent residents; and that KCC’s Kent Waste Disposal 
Strategy (which was endorsed by Members in July 2017) set out the current position, 
identified the future pressures and outlined how we will maintain a sustainable waste 
management service given existing demands and those forecast by additional housing 
and population growth.  It states that the Strategy identified several capacity issues at 
the HWRC sites in West Kent (both now and in the near future).  In particular, the 
HWRC serving Maidstone at Tovil was noted to have a large population catchment 
and predicted to be over tonnage capacity by 2025. 
 
It states that in reality the Tovil HWRC has already reached its practical capacity, with 
complaints of frequent queuing traffic hindering the punctuality of public transport, and 
that although measures to improve the efficiency of the site have been implemented 
over the past few years there are now no practicable options to make further 
improvements.  It also states that the capacity issues associated with the large 
population catchment of the Tovil HWRC are compounded by the fact that the 
Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council (TMBC) area (which borders Maidstone to the 
west) is the only Kent District not to have a HWRC.  It further states that there is 
currently an agreement for Kent residents to use the Medway Council facility at 
Cuxton.  However, due to high demand there is frequent traffic queuing on Sundridge 
Hill, Cuxton.  It states that this, together with increased demand from residents in the 
north of the TMBC District and West Maidstone area (which currently utilise the Cuxton 
HWRC), is likely to increase resulting in greater pressure on the Tovil HWRC and 
those HWRCs slightly further afield (e.g. North Farm and Pepperhill).  It further states 
that the Pepperhill HWRC is already at capacity and that the North Farm HWRC is 
predicted to be at capacity by 2025. 
 
It also advises that the site specifications for the new HWRC tender process were that 
it should be: 
 

Page 32



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.27  

1. on land suitable in planning and environmental permitting terms, between 1 and 
5 hectares in size and ideally with an existing waste or industrial use (to assist in 
achieving a tight delivery time); 

2. easily assessible from the primary road network (in order to ensure it could 
operate efficiently with minimal impact upon the surrounding area, be easily 
accessible to the public and enable HGVs to access the site and take separated 
waste streams to their final disposal points); and 

3. within the administrative area of Kent and within or close to the primary search 
area…., defined as “to the west of the Maidstone Town Centre and the town of 
West Malling but contained within the proximity or locality of the M20 / A20 
corridor”. 

 
60. South East Water – No response received. 
 
61. UK Power Networks – No response received. 
 

Representations 

 
62. The application was publicised by site notice and newspaper advertisement and the 

occupiers of all properties on the 20/20 Business Park, the Poppyfields Public House 
and the Police Operations Centre were notified in January 2020.  The application was 
publicised by a further site notice and newspaper advertisement and all those who had 
previously submitted representations were notified in April 2020 following the receipt of 
additional information and an amendment to the site boundary. 

 
63. Twenty nine (29) representations were received (including one from Helen Grant MP) 

prior to April 2020.  Of these, twenty seven (27) object and two (2) offer qualified 
support. 

 
64. The objections relate to: 
 

• Highways and transportation: 
o Highway safety; 
o Inadequate, damaged and poorly maintained roads and pavements; 
o Traffic generation; 
o Traffic congestion; 
o HGVs parking on Laverstoke Road and queuing onto St Laurence 

Avenue whilst waiting to enter the Allington IWMF at peak times 
obstructs others using the 20/20 Business Park; 

• Air quality: 
o Large numbers of queuing cars; 

• Odour: 
o Impact on adjoining businesses and people; 

• Pollution: 
o Including litter and debris; 

• Vermin / scavenging birds; 

Page 33



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.28  

• Flies: 
o Particularly in warm summer months; 

• Noise: 
o Impact on nearby residents (existing and proposed) from site operations 

and associated traffic; 
o Hours of use are antisocial (07:00 to 20:00 hours each day); 
o Flawed noise assessment; 

• Quality of life; 

• Adverse health impacts; 

• Proximity to housing; and 

• Cumulative impact. 
 
65. Helen Grant MP states that she is opposing the application in its current form in the 

strongest possible terms due to the overwhelming views of her constituents and asks 
that her comments be considered when the application is determined.  She 
summarises her objections as: 

 

• “The application, and intention of the plant owners, is to operate the site from 
0700-2000 hours every day.  These times are highly antisocial considering the 
amount of housing that this would affect if this site was to be given the go-
ahead; 

• The site can hold 100 cars queuing at any one time.  Pollution from vehicle 
emissions alone would be detrimental to the local environment; 

• The number of vehicle bays to deposit waste has now increased – It was 28 
bays, but is now 25 on the upper level, with a further 10 on the lower level; 

• A noise impact assessment has been completed.  However, residents do not 
agree with the conclusion that there will be no impact to local residents; 

• With the application for 840 houses behind the Police building at Coldharbour 
being granted by Tonbridge & Malling Council recently, there are concerns 
regarding the ability for the area to now cope with the increased traffic leading 
to further gridlock in this part of Maidstone. 

• It is understood that no other applications have been submitted for a similar 
waste recycling plant.” 

 
66. A number of the objections include concerns about the existing Allington IWMF, the 

DCO / NSIP proposals to increase the capacity of that facility or energy from waste 
(“incineration”) more broadly rather than the proposed HWRC itself.  Others have 
referred to the impact of other development on the area (including housing).  Several 
have also raised objection on non-planning grounds (i.e. impact on house prices). 

 
67 The qualified support received (which is subject to traffic considerations being properly 

addressed) relates to: 
 

• The need for a facility in the area. 
 

Page 34



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.29  

68. One (1) further representation was received in response to the April 2020 notification.  
This was from a nearby business which had commented previously and which raised 
further concerns about queuing on Laverstoke Road. 

 
69. In addition, and whilst I have not received a copy, I am aware of a petition made on 

www.Change.org objecting to the development which states: 
 

“FCC Environment (The owners of the Incinerator at Allington) are seeking planning 
permission to expand their site to incorporate a Household Waste Recycling Centre 
(HWRC).  It is believed that this site is too close to the residential areas in Allington 
and Aylesford.  It is also believed that the location of the new HWRC would affect the 
surrounding areas with congestion due to the higher footfall onto the 20/20 Business 
Estate. 
 
We, the undersigned, are concerned residents who wish Kent County Council Planner 
to reconsider the area in which they place this open air HWRC away from residential 
areas, and in an area which can cope with the increased traffic volume. 
 
This issue has already received support from Helen Grant, the conservative MP for 
Maidstone and the Weald, and also her colleague Tracey Crouch from Chatham and 
Aylesford. 
 
Please read the below article for further information on the paper petition, which 
currently sits with 150 signatures from the Orchards development alone. 
 
https://www.kentonline.co.uk/maidstone/news/locals-fight-incinerator-expansion-
215108/.” 

 
At the time of writing this report, the petition had 376 signatures.  

 

Local Member 

 
70. County Council Member Peter Homewood (Malling North East) was notified in January 

and again in April 2020.  Rob Bird and Dan Daley (Maidstone Central) were also 
notified as adjoining Members. 

 
71. No comments have been received from the Local Members at the time of writing this 

report. 
 

Discussion 

 
72. The application is being reported to KCC’s Planning Applications Committee for 

determination as planning objections have been received from many of those who 
have submitted representations. 

 
73. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 

planning applications are determined in accordance with the development plan unless 

Page 35

http://www.change.org/
https://www.kentonline.co.uk/maidstone/news/locals-fight-incinerator-expansion-215108/
https://www.kentonline.co.uk/maidstone/news/locals-fight-incinerator-expansion-215108/


Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.30  

material considerations indicate otherwise.  In the context of this application, the 
development plan policies outlined in paragraphs 38 to 42 above are of most 
relevance.  Material planning considerations include the national planning policies 
referred to in paragraph 37 and the draft development plan policies in paragraphs 43 
and 44. 

 
74. The main issues that require consideration are as follows: 
 

• The principle of the development (including need and location); 

• Highways and transportation; 

• Noise; 

• Air quality; 

• Landscape and visual impact; 

• Water environment; and 

• Ecology. 
 
 These issues are addressed in the following sections, together with other issues that 

have been raised or require consideration. 
 

The principle of the development (including need and location) 
 
75. Paragraphs 7 to 14 of the NPPF sets out national policy on achieving sustainable 

development, including the three overarching objectives (economic, social and 
environmental) which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually 
supportive ways.  The presumption in favour of sustainable development means 
approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan 
without delay.  Paragraph 182 requires planning decisions to ensure new development 
can integrate with existing business and community facilities, that existing businesses 
and facilities should not have unreasonable restrictions placed on them as a result of 
development permitted after they were established and that where there are significant 
adverse effects the applicant (or “agent of change”) should be required to provide 
suitable mitigation before the development has been completed.  Paragraph 183 
states that the focus of planning policies and decisions should be on whether proposed 
development is an acceptable use of land, rather than the control of processes or 
emissions (where these are subject to separate pollution control regimes), and that 
planning decisions should assume that these regimes will operate effectively. 

 
76. Paragraph 1 of the NPPW states that positive planning plays a pivotal role in delivering 

the country’s waste ambitions through: delivery of sustainable development and 
resource efficiency, including provision of modern infrastructure, local employment 
opportunities and wider climate change benefits, by driving waste management up the 
waste hierarchy; ensuring that waste management is considered alongside other 
spatial planning concerns, such as housing and transport, recognising the positive 
contribution that waste management can make to the development of sustainable 
communities; providing a framework in which communities and businesses are 
engaged with and take more responsibility for their own waste, including by enabling 
waste to be disposed of in line with the proximity principle; and helping to secure the 

Page 36



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.31  

re-use, recovery or disposal of waste without endangering human health and without 
harming the environment, amongst other matters.  Paragraph 4 states that waste 
planning authorities (WPAs) should identify sites and / or areas for new or enhanced 
waste management facilities in appropriate locations (including industrial sites, looking 
for opportunities to co-locate waste facilities together and with complementary 
activities, and on previously developed land or land identified for employment uses).  
Paragraph 5 states that WPAs should assess the suitability of sites for new or 
enhanced waste management facilities against criteria including physical and 
environmental constraints on development (including existing and proposed 
neighbouring uses) having regard to a range of factors (e.g. water quality, land 
instability, landscape and visual impact, nature conservation, traffic and access, air 
emissions including dust, odour, vermin and birds, noise, light, litter and potential land 
use conflict), the capacity of existing and potential transport infrastructure to support 
the sustainable movement of waste and the cumulative impact of existing and 
proposed waste disposal facilities on the well-being of the local community (including 
any significant adverse impacts on environmental quality).  Paragraph 7 states that in 
determining applications WPAs should only expect applicants to demonstrate the 
quantitative or market need for new or enhanced waste management facilities where 
proposals are not consistent with an up-to-date Local Plan and that in such cases they 
should consider the extent to which the capacity of existing operational facilities would 
satisfy any identified need. 

 
77. Policies CSW1 and CSW2 of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan (Kent MWLP) 

reflect the national requirements on sustainable waste development, including driving 
waste management up the waste hierarchy.  Policy CSW4 states that the strategy for 
waste management capacity in Kent is to provide sufficient waste management 
capacity to manage at least the equivalent of the waste arising in Kent plus some 
residual non-hazardous waste from London.  As a minimum it is to achieve the targets 
for recycling and composting, reuse and landfill diversion identified in the Kent Joint 
Municipal Waste Management Strategy (as amended).  Paragraph 6.6.1 states that 
HWRCs play an important role in meeting waste recovery and landfill diversion targets, 
that the intention for the Plan period is to ensure facilities are provided to meet local 
population needs accounting for economic and projected housing growth and that 
during the lifetime of the Plan, there is an intention to rationalise facilities.  It also 
states that proposals for HWRCs will be considered against Policy CSW6 and relevant 
development management policies.  Policy CSW6 had assumed that sites would be 
identified in a Waste Sites Plan to meet the need identified in Policy CSW7 and 
indicates that planning permission will be granted for uses identified as appropriate to 
such sites providing the proposals meet a number of criteria.  However, it also provides 
support for additional capacity within or adjacent to an existing waste management use 
where this is demonstrated to be needed, where waste would be dealt with further up 
the hierarchy, or where it is replacing capacity lost at existing sites providing these 
meet the relevant criteria, where there is no adverse impact on the environment and 
communities and where such uses are compatible with the development plan.  It also 
specifically referred to locations which would be acceptable.  These included land 
within or adjacent to an existing waste management use and within existing industrial 
estates.  Draft Policy CSW6 of the Early Partial Review of the Kent MWLP removes all 

Page 37



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.32  

reference to a Waste Sites Plan and, instead, provides a criteria based policy against 
which all waste proposals will be assessed.  The locational criteria remain the same as 
those in the adopted version. 

 
78. Saved Policy W7 of the Kent Waste Local Plan (WLP) identifies the Allington IWMF 

site as a suitable location in principle for proposals to prepare category A waste (e.g. 
soil, brick and rubble) for re-use for the life of Allington Quarry.  Since the quarry has 
been restored and re-developed, this is no longer of direct relevance.  Land at the 
eastern end of the 20/20 Business Park (i.e. the Hanson Depot) is identified both as a 
suitable location in principle for permanent proposals to prepare category A waste for 
re-use (saved Policy W7) and as a suitable location in principle for waste separation 
and transfer by virtue of saved Policy W9. 

 
79. KCC has identified a need for a new HWRC to serve the Maidstone and Tonbridge 

and Malling areas due to existing and future capacity issues at the Tovil HWRC, the 
absence of a HWRC in Tonbridge and Malling and as the use of the Cuxton HWRC (in 
Medway) is only available to Kent residents under a short term agreement between the 
two Councils.  It is also actively seeking the procurement of a new HWRC for the west 
Maidstone area and has issued a series of tender documents to interested parties.  In 
responding to the current application (see paragraph 59), KCC Waste Management 
has advised that the proposed site is well located to meet the requirements of the 
Waste Disposal Authority (WDA).  The proposed HWRC would make an important 
contribution to help meet recycling, recovery and disposal targets by driving waste up 
the waste hierarchy through the re-use of materials and the separation of materials for 
recycling and the additional HWRC capacity would also assist in meeting current and 
projected population and housing growth in Kent.  For these reasons, I am satisfied 
that there is a need for the proposed development and that it can be viewed favourably 
in the context of the waste hierarchy such that it accords with the objectives of Policies 
CSW1, CSW2 and CSW4 of the adopted Kent MWLP and draft Policies CSW4 and 
CSW6 of the Early Partial Review of the Kent MWLP. 

 
80. The proposed HWRC lies within the defined settlement boundary, is allocated for 

employment use in the adopted and emerging Tonbridge and Malling Local Plans and 
is safeguarded for waste management use by Policy CSW16 of the Kent MWLP by 
virtue of being part of the Allington IWMF site.  It is therefore consistent with the 
locational land use criteria set out in the NPPW, Policy CSW6 of the adopted Kent 
MWLP and draft Policy CSW6 of the Early Partial Review of the Kent MWLP. 

 
Highways and transportation 

 
81. Paragraph 108 of the NPPF states that in assessing applications, it should be ensured 

that safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users and that any 
significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of capacity 
or congestion) or any highway safety can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable 
degree.  Paragraph 109 states that development should only be prevented or refused 
on highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or 
the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.  Paragraph 7 of 

Page 38



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.33  

the NPPW states that when determining waste planning applications WPAs should 
consider the likely impact on the local environment and on amenity against various 
locational criteria.  These include the suitability of the road network and the extent to 
which access would require reliance on local roads. 

 
82. Policy DM11 of the Kent MWLP states that waste development will be permitted if it 

can be demonstrated that it is unlikely to generate unacceptable adverse impacts from 
traffic.  Policy DM13 states that waste development will be required to demonstrate 
that emissions associated with road transport movements are minimised as far as 
practicable and by preference being given to non-road modes of transport.  Where 
development requires road transport, it states that proposals will be required to 
demonstrate that: (1) the proposed access arrangements are safe and appropriate to 
the scale and nature of movements associated with the proposed development such 
that the impact of traffic generated is not detrimental to road safety; and (2) the 
highway network is able to accommodate the traffic flows that would be generated, as 
demonstrated through a transport assessment, and the impact of traffic generated 
does not have an unacceptable adverse impact on the environment or local 
community.  Policy DM15 states that development will be granted planning permission 
where it would not give rise to unacceptable impacts on road transport or where these 
impacts are mitigated.  Policy DM17 indicates that traffic management measures will 
be secured where appropriate (by planning obligation) where such objectives cannot 
be achieved by planning conditions.  Draft Policy CSW6 of the Kent MWLP Early 
Partial Review states that planning permission will be granted for proposals that are 
well located in relation to Kent's Key Arterial Routes, avoiding proposals which would 
give rise to significant numbers of lorry movements through villages or on 
unacceptable stretches of road. 

 
83. Policy CP2 of the TMBC LDF Core Strategy states that new development that is likely 

to generate a significant number of trips should (amongst other things) be compatible 
with the character and capacity of the highway network in terms of the volume and 
nature of traffic generated.  Policy SQ8 of the TMBC LDF Managing Development and 
the Environment (MDE) DPD states that development should only be permitted if it is 
demonstrated that the necessary transport infrastructure is in place (or can be 
provided), that there would be no significant harm to highway safety and that traffic can 
be adequately served by the highway network. 

 
84. Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council (TMBC) has raised concerns about potential 

traffic generation from the HWRC and stated that KCC should be satisfied that the 
traffic generation is fully assessed against the VISUM modelling undertaken in support 
of the emerging growth strategy for the Borough contained within the draft Tonbridge 
and Malling Local Plan. 

 
85. Aylesford Parish Council (PC) believes that the application cannot be considered in 

isolation from all the other proposed development in the area (including the expansion 
of the existing Allington IWMF and residential development) and that the A20 near the 
site would be unable to cope with the significant increase in traffic movements arising 
from all of these developments (even with the proposed new Coldharbour roundabout).  

Page 39



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.34  

It proposes that the HWRC application should not be determined until the position 
regarding all of the other developments is known and the highway improvements have 
been completed on the A20 in order that to ensure a more accurate determination of 
traffic movements.  It states that if it is decided to not wait until the position regarding 
all the above development is known, it would object on the grounds that the HWRC 
would lead to significant additional traffic movements on an already over capacity A20 
(in whatever direction the traffic takes as it accesses the A20).  It would also object on 
the grounds that the development would make the already poor air quality in the area 
even worse (affecting quite significantly the existing Aylesford and Maidstone A20 
AQMAs). 

 
86. Objections relating to highways and transportation have been received from the 

majority of those who have made representations.  The objections refer to concerns 
about highway safety, inadequate, damaged and poorly maintained roads and 
pavements, traffic generation (including cumulative impact), traffic congestion and 
HGVs parking on Laverstoke Road and queuing onto St Laurence Avenue whilst 
waiting to enter the Allington IWMF at peak times obstructs others using the 20/20 
Business Park. 

 
87. KCC Highways and Transportation has no objection subject to the imposition of a 

number of conditions if permission is granted.  These relate to both the development 
and operational phases.  It has provided a detailed response to the application and 
commented on the issues and concerns that have been raised.  A summary of its 
response (including those matters it advises should be secured by condition) is set out 
in paragraph 49. 

 
88. Highways England has no objection and is content that the proposed development 

would not materially impact the reliability, operation or safety of the Strategic Road 
Network (SRN), including the safe and efficient operation of the M20 Junction 5. 

 
89. It is clear from the representations that have been received that the key issue for the 

vast majority of respondents is the potential impact of traffic associated with the 
proposed HWRC in terms of highway capacity, congestion and safety and the ability or 
otherwise of the HWRC to operate without significantly adversely affecting adjoining 
businesses and local residents (e.g. in terms of queuing on Laverstoke Road and air 
quality).  The responses from TMBC and Aylesford PC relate entirely to these issues. 

 
90. Following detailed consideration of the proposals and the applicant’s transport 

assessment and subsequent highways technical note, KCC Highways and 
Transportation has advised that the HWRC would not give rise to an unacceptable 
impact on highway safety and that the road network can accommodate the additional 
traffic that would be generated (having regard to committed development and the 
improvements to the Coldharbour Lane roundabout).  It has not raised concern about 
the condition of roads and pavements nor sought any improvements.   

 
91. The potential highways and transportation impact of the proposed development has 

been assessed in light of all existing development and “committed development” (i.e. 

Page 40



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.35  

all land with current planning permission or allocated in adopted development plans for 
development) and the implementation of the new Coldharbour Lane roundabout.  
Whilst this does not include all of the proposed allocations in the emerging TMBC 
Local Plan nor the emerging proposals for a 4th line at the Allington IWMF, I am 
satisfied that this is appropriate and properly addresses the potential cumulative 
impact of the HWRC.  TMBC’s suggestion that the assessment of the current HWRC 
application should additionally take account of its emerging growth strategy and all 
draft allocations in its emerging Local Plan (i.e. by use of the VISUM modelling referred 
to which relates to the period to 2031) is not reasonable and is not necessary to meet 
the relevant tests in paragraph 109 of the NPPF.  Similarly, it is not appropriate to have 
regard to the emerging proposals for a 4th line.  If planning permission is granted for 
the HWRC, it will be for TMBC and the Secretary of State respectively to have regard 
to traffic associated with these currently uncommitted developments and any traffic 
associated with the HWRC. 

 
92. It is clear (and accepted by the applicant and operator of the Allington IWMF) that 

HGVs parking on Laverstoke Road and queuing onto St Laurence Avenue whilst 
waiting to enter the Allington IWMF at peak times have occasionally obstructed others 
using the 20/20 Business Park.  The applicant has sought to explain this by saying it 
has occurred during periods of higher demand (such as during the post-Christmas 
period).  However, it does not accept that this is typical of traffic conditions on 
Laverstoke Road.  The applicant states that queuing on Laverstoke Road can occur for 
a number of contributory reasons: too many vehicles arriving over a short time period; 
vehicles arriving early; inefficient parking; temporary drivers; deliveries exceed 
processing capacity; failure of equipment; and obstruction of delivery vehicles.  The 
following table sets out further detail on these together with the mitigation measures 
the applicant proposed to address them. 

 

Reason Reason for Queuing Mitigation Measure 

1 Too many vehicles arriving over a short 
time period:  This can occur during the 
post- Christmas period when waste 
transfer stations (WTS) have higher than 
normal stock levels.  The operators of 
WTS tackle their high stock levels by 
renting additional vehicles which can 
arrive in conjunction with “normal” delivery 
vehicles which results in an abnormal 
volume of vehicles at the EfW facility. 

FCC has been meeting with its 
customers to discuss adopting 
a strategy whereby deliveries 
are made according to 
predesignated timeslots, so the 
waste is delivered gradually, 
thereby avoiding any sudden 
peaks in HGV movements. 

2 Vehicles Arriving Early:  Site related 
HGVs arrive at the site before it opens at 
7am and wait on Laverstoke Road until 
the gates open. 

To mitigate against this 
problem, FCC record HGV 
registration numbers and will 
continue to contact the relevant 
operator and request that their 
drivers do not arrive before the 
facility opens. 

Page 41



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.36  

 

3 Inefficient Parking:  Drivers waiting to 
enter the facility can park inefficiently in 
single file by leaving larger gaps that 
needed between vehicles.  This means 
that if a queue forms, it requires high 
amount of carriageway space on 
Laverstoke Road which can obstruct the 
passage of drivers accessing the wider 
20/20 site. 

FCC will modify its traffic 
management plan to ensure 
that the vehicles queue in two 
lanes and will allocate a 
member of staff to act as a 
banksman to monitor and 
manage drivers during busy 
periods. 

4 Temporary Drivers:  Drivers/vehicles who 
regularly delivery to the site usually takes 
around 4 minutes to have their paperwork 
checked and to be weighed.  A new or 
temporary driver / vehicle will take around 
30 minutes per vehicle during the first 
delivery.  This is particularly problematic 
first thing in the morning as this is when 
the facility experiences the highest 
volumes of new drivers which can result in 
vehicles queuing to get onto the site. 

New drivers will be directed 
onto the bypass lane.  FCC has 
discussed the issue with its 
operators and when 
implementing the delivery slot 
system, new drivers will be 
identified in advance and a 
strategy will be implemented to 
ensure that new 
drivers/vehicles will not arrive 
simultaneously. 

5 Deliveries Exceed Processing Capacity:  
More waste is delivered than the EfW 
facility can process.  This may occur if the 
treatment plant breaks down unexpectedly 
and the stock level is high. 

FCC will review its stock levels 
on a daily basis and will 
manage the volume of waste 
being brought to the site to 
ensure that the levels of stock 
on site remain within 
manageable thresholds. 

6 Failure of Equipment:  If the equipment 
breaks down in the reception hall then the 
facility cannot process material. 

FCC will notify its customers of 
likely delays and it will re-direct 
waste to other facilities or wait 
for the equipment to return to 
service before transferring 
waste to the Allington site. 

7 Obstruction of Delivery Vehicles:  A 
vehicle stops on the carriageway for an 
unknown reason, (e.g. breakdown, 
parking to do paperwork or stopping 
overnight) resulting in an obstruction for 
following vehicles. 

When the facility is busy, FCC 
will open the site early and 
encourage HGV drivers to 
enter the site instead of waiting 
on the public highway.  With 
respect to an incidence of a 
broken down vehicle, FCC 
can’t control this and vehicles 
which may not always be 
related to the EfW. 

 
93. Further problems relating to queuing on Laverstoke Road have occurred on at least 

two occasions since the post-Christmas period.  It is understood that one resulted from 

Page 42



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.37  

a fire in the tipping hall which led to the weighbridge being closed and the other from 
an exceptional number of HGVs arriving at the same time.  The applicant has advised 
that it is still in the process of integrating the above mitigation measures within its 
contractual arrangements and that it is confident that this will minimise the potential for 
future problems.  A particular measure it is seeking to agree with KCC, is for 
articulated HGV deliveries from waste transfer stations or HWRCs to be managed to 
avoid simultaneous arrivals. 

 
94. The applicant does not accept that the HWRC would exacerbate the problems with 

queuing on Laverstoke Road if the above mitigation measures are implemented.  KCC 
Highways and Transportation has advised that it considers the proposed mitigation 
measures to be acceptable.  I am satisfied that the proposed mitigation measures 
could be secured by condition (since they effectively relate to operations undertaken 
by the applicant / owner) and that this condition could additionally include provision for 
annual reviews of the mitigation and amended measures being agreed with KCC as 
necessary. 

 
95. The applicant forecasts that the maximum number of vehicles at the HWRC at any one 

time would be 59 on weekdays and 65 on weekends.  Since the HWRC would contain 
enough stacking capacity for over 100 cars (i.e. based on each vehicle requiring 6m 
and three internal queuing lanes with a combined length of over 600m) I am satisfied 
that vehicles using the HWRC would not queue back onto Laverstoke Road. 

 
96. The HWRC would, by its very nature, generate traffic movements as householders 

drive to the site to deposit waste and recyclable materials.  However, the location of 
the proposed HWRC in relation to its intended catchment and its proximity to the 
Allington IWMF can be regarded as positive in terms of seeking to minimise road 
miles.  The disposal of spoil on site (as opposed to transporting it elsewhere by road) 
can also be regarded as positive in terms of minimising road miles and impact on the 
highway.  The site would also be accessible by pedestrians, bicycle and public 
transport.  KCC Highways and Transportation has advised that the proposed access 
arrangement onto Laverstoke Road is acceptable and can be addressed in further as 
necessary at the detailed design / S278 stage if permission is granted.  It has also 
advised that the proposed pedestrian access arrangements are acceptable.  It has not 
sought any new traffic management measures as part of the development. 

 
97. Potential air quality impacts arising from traffic associated with the proposed HWRC 

are addressed separately in the Air quality section below. 
 
98. Subject to the imposition of conditions to secure the matters requested by KCC 

Highways and Transportation and the imposition of a condition to secure the mitigation 
measures to minimise the risk of HGVs queuing on Laverstoke Road to enter the 
Allington IWMF (with provision for annual reviews and amended measures being 
agreed with KCC as necessary), I must conclude that the proposed development 
would not have an unacceptable impact on highway safety, that the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would not be severe and that planning 
permission should not be withheld on the basis of paragraphs 108 and 109 of the 

Page 43



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.38  

NPPF.  Subject to the environmental impacts of traffic associated with the proposed 
HWRC being acceptable (e.g. air quality), I must also conclude that the proposed 
development accords with Policies DM11, DM13, DM15 and DM17 of the Kent MWLP, 
Policy CP2 of the TMBC LDF Core Strategy and Policy SQ8 of the TMBC LDF MDE 
DPD.  The proposed development can also be viewed favourably in terms of Draft 
Policy CSW6 of the Kent MWLP Early Partial Review as it is well located in relation to 
Kent's Key Arterial Routes and would not give rise to significant numbers of lorry 
movements through villages or on unacceptable stretches of road. 

 
Noise 

 
99. Paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should contribute to and 

enhance the natural and local environment by preventing new development from 
contributing to unacceptable levels of noise pollution.  Paragraph 180 states that 
planning decisions should ensure that new development is appropriate for its location 
taking into account the likely effects of pollution on the natural environment and that in 
doing so they should mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts 
resulting from noise, avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health 
and the quality of life and protect tranquil areas.  Paragraph 7 of the NPPW states that 
when determining waste planning applications WPAs should consider the likely impact 
on the local environment and on amenity against various locational criteria and other 
matters.  These include potential noise pollution and impact on sensitive receptors 
(linked to proximity).  The NPPW states the operation of large waste management 
facilities can produce noise affecting both the inside and outside of buildings (including 
noise and vibration from goods vehicle traffic movements to and from a site) and that 
intermittent and sustained operating noise may be a problem if not properly managed 
(particularly if night-time working is involved). 

 
100. Policy DM11 of the Kent MWLP states that waste development will be permitted if it 

can be demonstrated that it is unlikely to generate unacceptable adverse impacts from 
noise.  It further states that proposals will also be required to ensure that there is no 
unacceptable adverse impact on the use of other land for other purposes.  Draft Policy 
CSW6 of the Kent MWLP Early Partial Review requires waste development that avoids 
sites on or in proximity to land where alternative development exists / has planning 
permission for alternate uses that may prove to be incompatible with the proposed 
waste management uses on the site. 

 
101. Policy CP1 of the TMBC LDF Core Strategy states that the need for development will 

be balanced against the need to protect and enhance the natural environment and that 
residential amenity will be preserved and, where possible, enhanced.  Draft Policy 
LP21 of the emerging TMBC Local Plan states that development will only be permitted 
if it can be demonstrated that it is located, designed and controlled to minimise the 
impact of noise on neighbouring properties and the prevailing acoustic environment. 

 
102. Although no objections have been received from consultees in respect of noise impact, 

a number of those making representations have done so.  The objections relate to the 
potential impact on nearby residents (existing and proposed) from site operations and 

Page 44



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.39  

associated traffic and the extent of the proposed hours of use (i.e. 07:00 to 20:00 
hours each day), as well as any resultant impacts on quality of life and health.  It has 
also been suggested that the applicant’s noise assessment is flawed. 

 
103. KCC’s Noise Consultant has no objection subject to a condition to secure a 

Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) detailing Best Practical Means 
(BMP) and other mitigation methods to protect nearby receptors during the 
construction phase.  It is satisfied that the HWRC can operate without adverse effect 
on any noise sensitive receptors.  A summary of its response is set out in paragraph 
54.  Importantly, it advises that potential noise impact has been satisfactorily 
addressed and that the applicant’s noise assessment is robust.  It has not suggested 
that the proposed hours of use are unacceptable. 

 
104. The Environment Agency has no objection subject to a number of conditions (relating 

to potential ground contamination).  A summary of its response is set out in paragraph 
50.  Amongst other things it advises that the HWRC would be subject to an 
Environmental Permit which would require measures to control noise emissions (to 
minimise impacts on the amenity of adjacent properties, including businesses). 

 
105. The applicant proposes that the HWRC be permitted to be open to the public between 

07:00 and 20:00 hours weekdays, weekends and on Bank Holidays (but closed on 
Christmas Day, Boxing Day and New Year’s Day), with actual opening hours (within 
these) dependent on contractual arrangements with KCC Waste Management.  It also 
proposes that site maintenance / cleaning and other operational activities be allowed 
during the 30 minutes before the site opens and 30 minutes after the site has closed to 
the public (i.e. 06:30 to 07:00 and 20:00 to 20:30 hours).  It states that having staff on 
site prior to the official opening time would also assist with traffic management and 
enable members of the public arriving in advance of the opening time to wait within the 
confines of the site, rather than queuing on the public highway.  It proposes that 
construction of the HWRC would generally take place between 07:00 and 18:00 on 
weekdays and Saturdays, although it has indicated that additional flexibility may be 
required for key elements which would be included in a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) secured by condition. 

 
106. The potential noise impact of the proposed development has been assessed having 

regard to the proposed hours of operation and found to be acceptable.  Whilst 
concerns have been raised about potential impact on nearby residents (existing and 
proposed) from site operations and associated traffic, it is important to note that the 
proposed HWRC lies no closer than 230m from the nearest residential properties (at 
the Orchard) and is separated from it by the main railway line, St Laurence Avenue, 
land forming part of the Allington IWMF and woodland / vegetation.  No committed 
residential development would lie closer to the site (most is significantly further away).  
Vehicles arriving at or leaving the site would do so via St Laurence Avenue and the 
A20.  The only residential accommodation between the site and the A20 is that 
associated with the manager of the Poppy Fields Public House.  Noise from the 
construction phase (including works associated with the disposal of spoil arising from 
the project on land to the southwest of the Allington IWMF and north of St Lawrence 

Page 45



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.40  

Avenue) has been included in the assessment and also found to be acceptable (e.g. in 
terms of potential impact on the managers accommodation at the Poppy Fields Public 
House.  As noted above, the Environmental Permit would also require measures to 
control noise emissions and minimise impacts adjacent properties (including 
businesses). 

 
107. Given the advice from KCC’s Noise Consultant, I am satisfied that it would be 

appropriate to allow the proposed operational hours and allow for the actual opening 
hours (within these) to be determined based on the needs of KCC Waste Management 
which would be secured through contractual arrangements.  I am also satisfied that 
allowing a 30 minute period prior to and after the proposed public opening hours would 
be appropriate and not give rise to any significant adverse impact.  The proposed 
hours for construction operations are also appropriate.  However, I accept that there 
may be good reason why some operations could reasonably or may need to be 
undertaken outside these hours.  I would not expect these additional operations to 
include earth moving but am content that additional flexibility could be provided in the 
proposed CEMP (which would need to be approved by KCC).  Given that the proposed 
development is acceptable in noise terms, I am also satisfied that the proposed 
development would not adversely affect quality of life and health in any significant way. 

 
108. Subject to the imposition of conditions to secure the proposed hours of use and a 

CEMP, I must conclude that the proposed development would not give rise to 
unacceptable levels of noise pollution, is appropriate for its location having regard to 
potential noise impact and that planning permission should not be withheld on the 
basis of paragraphs 170 and 180 of the NPPF.  I must also conclude that the proposed 
development accords with Policy DM11 of the Kent MWLP and Policy CP1 of the 
TMBC LDF Core Strategy in terms of noise impact.  The proposed development can 
also be viewed favourably in terms of draft Policy CSW6 of the Kent MWLP Early 
Partial Review and draft Policy LP21 of the emerging TMBC Local Plan. 

 
Air quality 

 
109. Paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should contribute to and 

enhance the natural and local environment by preventing new development from 
contributing to unacceptable levels of air pollution and that development should 
wherever possible help to improve local environmental conditions such as air quality.  
Paragraph 180 states that planning decisions should ensure that new development is 
appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative 
effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as well as 
the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from the 
development.  Paragraph 181 states planning decisions should sustain and contribute 
towards compliance with relevant limit values or national objectives for pollutants, 
taking account of the presence of Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs).  
Paragraph 183 states that the focus of planning decisions should be on whether the 
proposed development is an acceptable use of land, rather than the control of 
processes or emissions (where these are subject to separate pollution control regimes) 
and that planning decisions should assume that these regimes will operate effectively.  

Page 46



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.41  

Paragraph 7 of the NPPW states that when determining waste planning applications 
WPAs should consider the likely impact on the local environment and on amenity 
against various locational criteria and other matters.  These include the proximity of 
sensitive ecological and human receptors and the extent to which adverse emissions 
(including odour) can be controlled using appropriate and well-maintained and 
managed equipment and vehicles. 

 
110. Policy DM11 of the Kent MWLP states waste development will be permitted if it can be 

demonstrated that it is unlikely to generate unacceptable adverse impacts from dust, 
odour, emissions bioaerosols or exposure to health risks and associated damage to 
the qualities of life and wellbeing to communities and the environment.  It states that 
this may include production of an air quality assessment of the impact of the proposed 
development and its associated traffic movements and necessary mitigation measures 
required through planning condition and / or planning obligation.  It further states that 
proposals will also be required to ensure that there is no unacceptable adverse impact 
on the use of other land for other purposes.  Policy DM12 states that permission will be 
granted for waste development where it does not result in an unacceptable adverse, 
cumulative impact on the amenity of a local community.  Policy DM13 states that 
development should demonstrate that emissions associated with road transport 
movements are minimised as far as practicable, including by emission controls and 
reduction measures (e.g. the use of low emission vehicles and vehicle scheduling to 
avoid movements in peak hours).  Draft Policy CSW6 of the Kent MWLP Early Partial 
Review requires waste development that avoids sites on or in proximity to land where 
alternative development exists / has planning permission for alternate uses that may 
prove to be incompatible with the proposed waste management uses on the site and 
does not give rise to significant adverse impacts on AQMAs.  In respect of 
development which may give rise to bioaerosols (such as composting) it states that 

facilities should be located at least 250m from any potentially sensitive receptors. 
 
111. Policy CP1 of the TMBC LDF Core Strategy states that the need for development will 

be balanced against the need to protect and enhance the natural environment and that 
residential amenity will be preserved and, where possible, enhanced.  Policy CP24 
states that all development should be well designed and of high quality, respecting the 
site and surroundings.  It also states that development which by virtue of its design 
would be detrimental to amenity will not be permitted.  Policy SQ4 of the TMBC LDF 
MDE DPD states that development will only be permitted where the proposed use 
does not result in a significant deterioration of the air quality of the area (either 
individually or cumulatively with other proposals or existing uses in the vicinity), would 
not result in the circumstances that would lead to the creation of a new AQMA and 
there is no impact on the air quality of designated sites of nature conservation interest 
or appropriate mitigation is proposed to alleviate any such impact.  Draft Policy LP20 

of the emerging TMBC Local Plan states that development (either individually or 
cumulatively with other proposals or existing uses in the vicinity) that could directly 
or indirectly result in material additional air pollutants and a significant worsening of 
levels of air quality within the area surrounding the development site will not be 
permitted unless evidenced, specifically identified and detailed measures to offset 
or mitigate those impacts are introduced as part of the proposal. 

Page 47



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.42  

 
112. In the event that KCC determines the HWRC application prior to the availability of an 

accurate determination of traffic movements associated with all proposed development 
in the area and the completion of highway improvements on the A20, Aylesford PC 
objects on the grounds that the development would make the already poor air quality 
in the area even worse (affecting quite significantly the existing Aylesford and 
Maidstone A20 AQMAs). 

 
113. Objections relating to air quality have also been received from a number of those who 

have made representations.  The objections refer to concerns about the large numbers 
of queuing cars and the impact of odour on adjoining businesses and people, as well 
as any resultant impacts (including cumulative impact) on quality of life and health. 

 
114. KCC’s Air Quality Consultant has no objection subject to conditions to secure an 

operational Dust Management Plan (DMP) and a site Odour Management Plan (OMP).  
It is satisfied that the risk to neighbouring facilities and surrounding sensitive receptors 
from dust exposure is low, that any odour impact can be appropriately minimised, that 
air quality has been appropriately assessed and demonstrated to give rise to a 
negligible overall magnitude of change at all receptors (including along roads where 
there would be an increase in vehicle movements) and that no further assessment is 
required.  A summary of its response is set out in paragraph 55.   

 
115. The Environment Agency has no objection subject to a number of conditions (relating 

to potential ground contamination).  A summary of its response is set out in paragraph 
50.  Amongst other things it advises that the HWRC would be subject to an 
Environmental Permit which would require measures to control dust and odour (to 
minimise impacts on the amenity of adjacent properties, including businesses).  It also 
advises that the proposed earthworks would need to be carried out in accordance with 
an Environmental Permit (since they would involve moving controlled waste that has 
already been imported and deposited) and that this could be done under a variation to 
the existing landfill permit.  It also refers to the potential need for the existing 
Environmental Permit for the Allington IWMF to be reviewed as a result of what is 
proposed to assess potential impacts and ensure that these remain acceptable and 
that this may include the need for an amended assessment of the risk of the Allington 
IWMF to the proposed new receptor (the HWRC) in terms of air quality.  I am satisfied 
locating the HWRC near the Allington IWMF is appropriate in planning terms and that 
this particular issue is a matter for the Environment Agency. 

 
116. Natural England has no objection to the proposed development.  Its initial concerns 

about potential air quality impact of additional traffic on the North Downs Woodlands 
Special Area of Conservation (SAC) were overcome as a result of further information 
provided by the applicant.  A summary of its response is set out in paragraph 51. 

 
117. As indicated in the Highways and transportation section above, I am satisfied that the 

impact of all committed development has been properly considered and that it is 
appropriate for the HWRC application to be determined. 

 

Page 48



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.43  

118. Potential air quality impacts associated with the proposed development include dust 
and odour (resulting from activities in the construction phase), odour (from activities in 
the operational phase) and exhaust pollution (from traffic associated with the use of 
the HWRC).  The primary air quality impact during the construction phase is likely to be 
dust arising from the creation of the HWRC development platform since this would 
involve the excavation of about 60,000m3 (120,000t) of material from the landscaped 
earth bund which was formed during the construction of the Allington IWMF and its 
movement to the spoil disposal area where it would be deposited to create a revised 
landform.  The applicant states that the material comprises a mixture of topsoil and 
previously deposited inert waste (generally loose sandy made ground).  The 
applicant’s air quality assessment states that subject to the implementation of standard 
mitigation measures, residual dust impact arising from the development phase would 
not be significant.  It also states that although excavation can result in odour, the odour 
potential from the earthworks is negligible.   

 
119. The likely extent of odour emissions from waste management facilities during the 

operational phase is dependent on the nature of wastes dealt with and the 
management and any mitigation measures employed to minimise such impacts.  The 
applicant’s air quality assessment states that the wastes dealt with at the HWRC would 
not be substantially odorous and would not be stored on site for long.  Whilst it predicts 
that the HWRC would have a slight adverse effect (as a worst case) on the 
immediately adjoining Industrial Estate (OR3) and at Fordwich Close (OR5) and 
Snowdrop Close (OR6) to the south of the railway line in terms of odour (based on 
historic complaints about odour from the Allington IWMF) it concludes that any 
operational odour effects would not be significant.   

 
120. Traffic travelling to and from the HWRC would give rise to vehicle emissions.  The 

applicant’s air quality assessment predicts a negligible magnitude of change at all but 
one receptor (where a slight adverse concentration of nitrogen dioxide (NO2) is 
predicted) based on worst case (where no improvement in emissions from an average 
vehicle between 2018 and 2024 is assumed).  This receptor (R32) is located near the 
London Road junction with Hall Road and Mills Road (i.e. the entrance to the Quarry 
Wood retail park).  However, the overall significance of the effect of vehicle emissions 
associated with the operational phase is deemed to be not significant. 

 
121. Given that the proposed development is acceptable in terms of air quality, I am 

satisfied that it would not adversely affect quality of life and health in any significant 
way. 

 
122. Subject to the imposition of conditions to secure an operational Dust Management 

Plan (DMP) and a site Odour Management Plan (OMP) and those requested by the 
Environment Agency relating to potential ground contamination, I must conclude that 
the proposed development would not give rise to unacceptable levels of air pollution, is 
appropriate for its location having regard to potential air quality impact and that 
planning permission should not be withheld on the basis of paragraphs 170 and 180 of 
the NPPF.  I must also conclude that the proposed development accords with Policy 
DM11 of the Kent MWLP, Policy CP1 of the TMBC LDF Core Strategy and Policy SQ4 

Page 49



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.44  

of the TMBC LDF MDE DPD in terms of air quality impact.  The proposed development 
can also be viewed favourably in terms of draft Policy CSW6 of the Kent MWLP Early 
Partial Review and draft Policy LP20 of the emerging TMBC Local Plan. 

 
Landscape and visual impact 

 
123. Paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should contribute to and 

enhance the natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing valued 
landscapes and recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside.  
Paragraph 172 states that great weight should be given to conserving and enhancing 
landscape and scenic beauty in Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, which have the 
highest status of protection in relation to these issues.  Paragraph 175 states that 
when determining planning applications, local planning authorities should refuse 
development that would result in the loss of irreplaceable habitats such as Ancient 
Woodland unless there are wholly exceptional reasons and a suitable compensation 
strategy exists.  Paragraph 180 states that planning decisions should ensure that new 
development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects of 
pollution on the natural environment and that in doing so they should limit the impact of 
light pollution from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and 
nature conservation.  Paragraph 7 of the NPPW states that when determining waste 
planning applications WPAs should consider the likely impact on the local environment 
and on amenity against various locational criteria and other matters.  These include 
landscape and visual impacts (e.g. design-led solutions that respect landscape 
character, the need to protect landscapes or designated areas of national importance 
and any localised height restrictions) and potential light pollution. 

 
124. Policy DM1 of the Kent MWLP supports sustainable development and states that 

proposals will be required to demonstrate that they have been designed to protect and 
enhance the character and quality of the site’s setting.  Policy DM2 states that 
designated AONBs have the highest status of protection in relation to landscape and 
scenic beauty and that regard must be had to the purpose of the designation when 
determining planning applications that may affect land in an AONB.  It also states that 
proposals outside, but within the setting of an AONB, will be considered having regard 
to the effect on the purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the 
AONB.  It further states that proposals for waste development likely to have any 
unacceptable adverse impact on Ancient Woodland will not be permitted unless the 
need for, and the benefits of, the development in that location clearly outweigh any 
loss.  Policy DM11 states that waste development will be permitted if it can be 
demonstrated that it is unlikely to generate unacceptable adverse impacts from 
illumination and visual intrusion.  Policy DM12 states that permission will be granted for 
waste development where it does not result in an unacceptable adverse cumulative 
impact on the environment.  Draft Policy CSW6 of the Kent MWLP Early Partial 
Review states that planning permission will be granted for facilities that do not give rise 
to significant adverse impacts on AONBs, SSSIs and Ancient Woodland. 

 
125. Policy CP1 of the TMBC LDF Core Strategy states that the need for development will 

be balanced against the need to protect and enhance the natural environment and that 

Page 50



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.45  

the quality of the natural environment and countryside will be preserved and, where 
possible, enhanced.  Policy CP24 states that all development should be well designed 
and of high quality, respecting the site and surroundings.  Policy SQ1 of the TMBC 
LDF MDE DPD states that proposals should protect, conserve and where possible 
enhance local character and distinctiveness.  Draft Policies LP1 and LP14 of the 
emerging TMBC Local Plan include similar requirements. 

 
126. No objections have been raised by consultees or by those making representations in 

respect of landscape and visual impact. 
 
127. KCC’s Landscape Consultant has no objection subject to conditions to secure the 

implementation of a detailed planting plan, a Construction Environment Management 
Plan (CEMP), appropriate tree protection measures, avoidance of tree removal during 
the bird nesting season, all planting, seeding or turfing to be carried out in the first 
available planting and seeding season following the occupation of the site or the 
completion of the development (whichever is the sooner) and an aftercare period of no 
less than five years.  A summary of its response is set out in paragraph 53.  Amongst 
other things it states that the most significant visual impact would be during the 
construction phase although it does not regard this as being a particularly sensitive 
issue given the wider landscape context.  Whilst the loss of existing tree cover and 
reduction in the bund height would impact on the view of the site, it states that the 
development proposals are consistent with their surroundings and as such the visual 
effects are not considered to be significant.  It also considers the proposals for the 
spoil disposal area to be acceptable. 

 
128. The Kent Downs AONB Unit has raised no objection.  A summary of its response is set 

out in paragraph 52.  Despite not commenting in detail, it supports the proposed 
replacement woodland planting around the perimeter of the site and the use of a dark 
coloured roofing material (to minimise potential impact in views from the Kent Downs) 
and states that lighting should be designed to minimise light pollution.  It reminds KCC 
that it must have regard to the purposes of AONB designation in determining the 
application. 

 
129. The proposed development would result in the loss of all the trees within the footprint 

of the proposed HWRC and the removal of some of those on the eastern boundary of 
the site as a result of the associated earthworks.  It would also necessitate the loss of 
some trees in the spoil disposal area.  The precise extent of the loss of trees on the 
eastern boundary of the HWRC is not certain and would depend on operational issues 
associated with the earthworks and the machinery required to undertake these.  
However, the existing vegetation (and trees) located on the lower / easternmost part of 
the bund (which slopes down towards the distribution centre) would remain unaffected 
by the construction or operation of the HWRC and would be retained.  Although the 
earthworks and HWRC would be clearly visible from Laverstoke Road and some of the 
commercial premises on the 20/20 Business Park immediately to the east and give rise 
to some views into the Allington IWMF from these areas as a result of the tree removal 
and reduction in height of the bund, these views would not be visible from sensitive 
locations.  The retained trees and vegetation and the proposed new planting would 

Page 51



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.46  

assist in reducing the visual impact of the HWRC once operational. 
 
130. The precise extent of the trees that would be lost as a result of the proposed 

earthworks and the resultant exact extent of new tree planting on the eastern boundary 
can be established and addressed as necessary as part of the conditions proposed by 
KCC’s Landscape Consultant.  These conditions would also ensure that appropriate 
detailed landscape planting and associated aftercare is secured both in the vicinity of 
the proposed HWRC and the spoil disposal areas. 

 
131. The applicant’s Landscape and Visual Assessment (LVIA) concludes that the 

proposed HWRC would not result in an unacceptable adverse impact on the integrity, 
character, appearance, function or interest of the AONB (the HWRC would be barely 
visible, if at all, from the AONB and any effects would be negligible at worst), not 
impact upon the character of the landscape surrounding the proposed HWRC (which is 
dominated by waste management and employment operations, and major transport 
infrastructure) and not result in an unacceptable visual impact or affect the quality of 
life or wellbeing of communities in the locality (despite being visible from some 
locations in the surrounding area such as Laverstoke Road).  KCC’s Landscape 
Consultant has accepted these findings. 

 
132. The proposed hours of use would necessitate lighting on site.  This would be viewed 

on the context of what is a relatively well-lit urban fringe location.  The applicant 
proposes that a detailed external lighting scheme (designed to accord with current 
industry standards and best practice guidance) be prepared and secured by condition.  
I am content that it is appropriate for this to be addressed in this way and would enable 
KCC to ensure that any lighting used at the site minimises light pollution and that any 
landscape and visual effects from the HWRC during hours of darkness would not be 
significant. 

 
133. The HWRC has been designed to limit land-take and to make the best use of under-

utilised part of the Allington site whilst maximising the rate of recycling for those wastes 
accepted by HWRC’s in Kent, ensuring the health and safety of residents and 
operatives (e.g. clear separation of the operational and public parts of the facility and 
the split-level arrangement for the disposal of waste in order that residents need not 
climb steps or stairs to dispose of their waste) and by ensuring ease of access and 
egress for public and operational vehicles (e.g. 3 inbound lanes to allow the stacking of 
public vehicles off the public highways at peak times and separate vehicle 
manoeuvring and parking areas next to the waste containers to allow for the 
continuous free flow of vehicles out of the site.  As noted earlier in this report, whilst it 
was initially proposed that the roof of the two-storey site office / welfare and re-use 
shop and the canopy over the waste containers, walkways and parking spaces would 
be finished in Goosewing Grey, it is now proposed that all roofs would be dark 
coloured in order to address the Kent Downs AONB Unit’s suggestion.  I am satisfied 
that this can be addressed appropriately by condition. 

 
134. Although areas of Ancient Woodland lie relatively near to the site (just to the north of 

M20 and east of railway line at the eastern end of the 20/20 Business Park) I am 

Page 52



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.47  

satisfied that the proposed development would not have any unacceptable adverse 
impact on these. 

 
135. Given the advice of KCC’s Landscape Consultant and the Kent Downs AONB Unit I 

am satisfied that although the proposed development would give rise to some adverse 
landscape and visual impacts (in locations immediately adjacent to the site which are 
less sensitive to any impact), it is acceptable in terms of landscape and visual impact 
and would not adversely affect the character and quality of the site’s setting in any 
significant way.  To ensure that KCC is able to assess the potential landscape and 
visual impact that may arise from the extension of alteration of the proposed buildings 
or the installation or replacement of any plant and machinery, it would be appropriate 
to remove the permitted development rights that would normally exist for a 
development of this type.  This can be secured by a condition requiring the prior 
written approval of any such details.  This would be consistent with the position at the 
Allington IWMF. 

 
136. Subject to the imposition of conditions to secure the implementation of a detailed 

planting plan, a CEMP, appropriate tree protection measures, avoidance of tree 
removal during the bird nesting season, all planting, seeding or turfing to be carried out 
in the first available planting and seeding season following the occupation of the site or 
the completion of the development (whichever is the sooner) and an aftercare period 
of no less than five years, the use of a dark coloured roofing material, a detailed 
lighting scheme and the removal of permitted development rights, I must conclude that 
the proposed development would not give rise to unacceptable landscape and visual 
impact and that planning permission should not be withheld on the basis of paragraphs 
170, 172, 175 and 180 of the NPPF.  I must also conclude that the proposed 
development accords with Policies DM1, DM2, DM11 and DM12 of the Kent MWLP, 
Policies CP1 and CP24 of the TMBC LDF Core Strategy and Policy SQ1 of the TMBC 
LDF MDE DPD in terms of landscape and visual impact (including AONB and Ancient 
Woodland considerations).  The proposed development can also be viewed favourably 
in terms of draft Policy CSW6 of the Kent MWLP Early Partial Review and draft 
Policies LP1 and LP14 of the emerging TMBC Local Plan. 

 
Water environment 

 
137. Paragraph 163 of the NPPF states that when determining planning applications, local 

planning authorities should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere.  
Paragraph 170 states that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance the 
natural environment by preventing new and existing development from contributing to, 
being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by unacceptable 
levels of water pollution.  Paragraph 178 states that planning decisions should ensure 
that a site is suitable for its proposed use taking account of ground conditions and any 
risks arising from land instability and contamination (including risks arising from former 
activities such as mining).  Paragraph 180 states that planning decisions should 
ensure that new development is appropriate for its location considering the likely 
effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on the natural environment.  
Paragraph 183 states that the focus should be on whether the proposed development 

Page 53



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.48  

is an acceptable use of land, rather than the control of processes or emissions (where 
these are subject to separate pollution control regimes) and that planning decisions 
should assume that these regimes will operate effectively.  Paragraph 7 of the NPPW 
states that when determining waste planning applications WPAs should consider the 
likely impact on the local environment and on amenity against various locational 
criteria.  These include the protection of water quality and resources and flood risk 
management.  It also re-iterates that WPAs should concern themselves with 
implementing the planning strategy and not with the control of processes which are a 
matter for the pollution control authorities.  

 
138. Policy DM1 of the Kent MWLP states that waste proposals should be designed to 

incorporate measures for water recycling where possible and utilise sustainable 
drainage systems wherever practicable.  Policy DM10 states that planning permission 
will be granted for waste development where it would not result in the deterioration of 
physical state, water quality or ecological status of any water resource and water body, 
have an unacceptable impact on groundwater Source Protection Zones (SPZs) or 
exacerbate flood risk.  Draft Policy CSW6 of the Kent MWLP Early Partial Review 
states that planning permission will be granted for proposals that avoid Groundwater 
Source Protection Zone 1 or Flood Risk Zone 3b.  

 
139. Policy CP1 of the TMBC LDF Core Strategy states that the need for development will 

be balanced against the need to protect and enhance the natural environment and that 
water quality will be preserved and, where possible, enhanced.  Policy CC3 of the 
TMBC LDF MDE DPD states that development will not be permitted if it has an 
unacceptable effect on the water environment, including surface water and 
groundwater quality and quantity, river corridors and associated wetlands.  Policy SQ5 
states that all development will be expected to ensure that adequate water and 
sewerage infrastructure is present or can be provided in order to meet future needs 
without compromising the quality and supply of services for existing users.  It also 
states that development proposals will not be permitted unless they incorporate 
sustainable drainage systems (SUDS) appropriate to the local ground water and soil 
conditions, local drainage regimes and in accordance with the Groundwater 
Regulations and that development proposals incorporating SUDS must include an 
agreement to ensure future management, maintenance and replacement, when 
necessary, of the SUDS structures.  Draft Policy DM17 of the emerging TMBC Local 
Plan states that the flood risk policy in the NPPF will be applied.  Draft Policy DM18 
states that SUDS for the management of run-off must be provided for as part of major 
development. 

 
140. No objections have been raised by consultees or by those making representations in 

respect of the water environment. 
 
141. The Environment Agency has no objection subject to a number of conditions (relating 

to potential ground contamination).  A summary of its response is set out in paragraph 
50.  Amongst other things it advises that it accepts the findings and conclusions of the 
submitted Phase 1 investigative report on ground conditions and that the HWRC would 
be subject to an Environmental Permit which would further address drainage 

Page 54



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.49  

arrangements (in order to minimise the risk to surface and groundwater). 
 
142. Southern Water has no objection subject to conditions (relating to foul and surface 

water sewerage disposal and the need for a Trade Effluent discharge licence) and the 
imposition of an informative (relating to the need for an application to connect to the 
public foul and surface water sewer).  A summary of its response is set out in 
paragraph 58. 

 
143. KCC Flood and Water Management (SuDS) has no objection subject to conditions to 

secure a detailed sustainable surface water drainage scheme (based on the 
applicant’s drainage assessment report) in order to ensure that the HWRC is served by 
satisfactory arrangements for the disposal of surface water and does not exacerbate 
the risk of on / off site flooding and a verification report (which demonstrates that 
drainage has been properly installed and will be subject to appropriate maintenance).  
A summary of its response is set out in paragraph 57.  It advises that it is satisfied with 
the revised drainage strategy (in terms of layout and location of the separator) and the 
assumptions which underpin it (which accord with KCC planning policy. 

 
144. The applicant’s Flood Risk Assessment concludes that the site is not at risk from 

flooding and would not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere subject to the 
implementation of appropriate attenuation.  The applicant’s Drainage Assessment 
proposes that this be addressed by the implementation of a detailed drainage scheme 
which would first be submitted to and approved in writing by KCC.  The site would 
have a sealed drainage system (with appropriate pollution control infrastructure) to 
prevent the infiltration of drainage to the underlying groundwater.  As a result, the 
proposed SuDS solution would involve surface water being directed via a sealed 
drainage system and an underground tank before being discharged to the public 
surface water sewer in Laverstoke Road.  The discharge would be at a greenfield run-
off rate of 1.8 litres / second (l/s), which the applicant states is 0.1ls lower than 
required by Southern Water.  The applicant states that Southern Water is content that 
foul water be discharged to the foul sewer.  However, its response to the consultation 
indicates that it wishes to see further details on both foul and surface water disposal 
before confirming this.  Both the Environment Agency and KCC SuDS have accepted 
the proposed discharge rate.  It should be noted that additional controls would also be 
imposed on the Environmental Permit and that Southern Water would need to 
separately approve details of connection to its apparatus. 

 
145. The applicant’s Phase 1 Site Investigation Report demonstrates that the site is suitable 

for the proposed used taking account of ground conditions and any risks arising from 
land instability and contamination.  Although the material to be excavated as part of 
the earthworks is classed as waste material (despite having been formed into a 
landscaped bund), the report states that it would be thoroughly tested and, if 
necessary, remediated on site prior to placement in spoil disposal area or disposed of 
at a suitable facility elsewhere.  On this basis, there should be no risk of contamination 
during the earthworks.  The conditions proposed by the Environment Agency would 
serve to address this as necessary and would enable KCC to exercise further control if 
it became necessary for any contaminated materials to be exported from the site.  

Page 55



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.50  

Further reassurance on the matter is provided by the Environment Agency’s advice on 
the need for an Environmental Permit . 

 
146. Given the advice of the Environment Agency and KCC SuDS I am satisfied that the 

proposed development is acceptable in terms of potential impact on the water 
environment.  Whilst separate approval for connection to the public foul and surface 
water sewer would be required from Southern Water, it has not objected to the 
application.  Although further details of the proposed means of foul and surface water 
sewerage disposal arrangements can be secured by condition, I consider that the 
stated need for a Trade Effluent discharge licence should more properly be addressed 
by an informative. 

 
147. Subject to the imposition of conditions relating to potential ground contamination, 

details of foul and surface water sewerage disposal and a detailed sustainable surface 
water drainage scheme and a verification report and informatives relating to the need 
for a Trade Effluent discharge licence and an application to connect to the public foul 
and surface water sewer, I must conclude that the proposed development would not 
give rise to unacceptable impact on or associated with the water environment and that 
planning permission should not be withheld on the basis of paragraphs 163, 170, 178, 
180 and 183 of the NPPF.  I must also conclude that the proposed development 
accords with Policies DM1 and DM10 of the Kent MWLP, Policy CP1 of the TMBC LDF 
Core Strategy and Policies CC3 and SQ5 of the TMBC LDF MDE DPD in terms of the 
water environment.  The proposed development can also be viewed favourably in 
terms of draft Policy CSW6 of the Kent MWLP Early Partial Review and draft Policies 
LP1 and LP14 of the emerging TMBC Local Plan. 

 
Ecology 

 
148. Paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should contribute to and 

enhance the natural environment by protecting and enhancing sites of biodiversity 
value (in a manner commensurate with their statutory status or identified quality) and 
minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity.  Paragraph 175 states 
that when determining planning applications, local planning authorities should refuse 
development which that would result in significant harm to biodiversity if this cannot (as 
a last resort) be compensated for.  Paragraph 7 of the NPPW states that when 
determining waste planning applications WPAs should consider the likely impact on 
the local environment against various locational criteria.  These include protecting 
ecological networks and protected species. 

 
149. Policies DM1, DM2 and DM3 of the Kent MWLP seek to protect and enhance 

biodiversity interests or mitigate and if necessary compensate for any predicted loss.  
Draft Policy CSW6 of the Kent MWLP Early Partial Review states that planning 
permission will be granted for proposals that do not give rise to significant adverse 
impacts upon (amongst others) Local Wildlife Sites (LWS) and Ancient Woodland. 

 
150. Policy CP1 of the TMBC LDF Core Strategy states that the need for development will 

be balanced against the need to protect and enhance the natural environment and that 

Page 56



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.51  

the quality of the natural environment will be preserved and, where possible, 
enhanced.  Policy NE1 of the TMBC LDF MDE DPD states that proposals which would 
adversely affect a LWS or Local Nature Reserve (LNR) will not be permitted, unless it 
can be demonstrated that the benefits would override the need to safeguard the site.  
Policy NE2 states that biodiversity will be protected, conserved and enhanced and that 
the restoration and creation of new habitats will be promoted.  Policy NE3 states that 
development which would adversely affect the biodiversity value of wildlife habitats will 
only be permitted if appropriate mitigation / compensation measures are provided 
which would result in overall enhancement and states that proposals should seek to 
retain and maximise opportunities the creation of new areas of ecological conservation 
value.  Policy NE4 seeks to maintain and enhance tree cover and hedgerows to 
provide new habitats as part of development proposals and states that proposals 
resulting in a net loss of woodland will only be permitted where it cannot be located on 
an alternative site, the need for the development clearly outweighs the ecological, 
archaeological and landscape value of the woodland and any harm can be reduced to 
acceptable limits through implementation of positive environmental mitigation within 
the site or elsewhere or through enhanced management.  Draft Policy LP13 of the 
emerging TMBC Local Plan states that development must protect and where possible 
enhance (amongst others) LWS. 

 
151. No objections have been raised by consultees (including Natural England) or by those 

making representations in respect of ecology.  Natural England’s final response 
advises that it is satisfied that the emissions from traffic associated with the HWRC 
would not be likely to have a significant effect on the SAC (even when considered 
cumulatively with other plans and projects). 

 
152. KCC Ecological Advice Service has no objection subject to conditions to secure the 

implementation of compensation measures (an Ecological Design Strategy) and to 
ensure there is appropriate post-development management for the ecological features 
(a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan).  It also proposes an informative 
reminding the applicant of its obligations under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 
(in respect of nesting birds) as there are habitats on and around the site which provide 
opportunities for breeding birds (including woodland which would be lost).  A summary 
of its response is set out in paragraph 56.  Amongst other things it welcomes the 
proposed habitat creation (i.e. species-rich meadow grassland) in the spoil disposal 
area and advises that although the revised location would result in the loss of some 
immature woodland habitat, this is of relatively low ecological value and would be 
replaced with new native woodland planting.  It also notes that native woodland 
planting / species-rich grassland creation would take place around the HWRC 
development footprint.  It also emphasises the importance of implementing and 
maintaining a specific management regime for the proposed the meadow grassland 
habitat in order that it become established and functional. 

 
153. As noted earlier in this report, the proposed HWRC would result in the loss of existing 

trees in and adjoining the footprint of the HWRC and in part of the spoil disposal area 
(i.e. 1 individual tree, 1 group off trees and 7 partial groups of trees).  The applicant’s 
Arboricultural Assessment identifies those directly affected by the proposed HWRC as 

Page 57



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.52  

being generally of poor quality and value.  Those lost in the spoil disposal area would 
be replaced with native woodland.  The applicant’s Ecological Assessment concludes 
that the proposed development would not have any effect on statutory or non-statutory 
designated sites, there would be no direct effects on protected species subject to the 
implementation of the proposed mitigation (e.g. site clearance is undertaken outside 
breeding bird season) and there would be no significant effects on ecological 
networks.  It also concludes that whilst the proposed development would give rise to 
the loss of some existing habitats (e.g. mosaic plantation, scrub, etc.) on both the site 
of the proposed HWRC and the receptor (spoil disposal) site, this habitat is of poor 
quality and no more than site value.  It further concludes that any loss would be 
compensated for by the implementation of the proposed landscape scheme and 
proposed biodiversity enhancement measures. 

 
154. Given the advice of Natural England and KCC Ecological Advice Service I am satisfied 

that the proposed development is acceptable in terms of ecological impact.  The 
proposed native woodland planting and species rich meadow grassland, reinforced by 
conditions requiring (amongst other things) the prior approval of detailed planting 
proposals (including tree and shrub sizes, species, siting and planting distances and 
seed mixes and sowing densities) and ongoing management prescriptions, should 
ensure that the proposed development provides the envisaged biodiversity benefits.  In 
considering the proposed schemes, KCC will also be able to ensure that the proposed 
details provide appropriate opportunities for a variety of pollinators (including bees). 

 
155. Subject to the imposition of conditions to secure the implementation of compensation 

measures (an Ecological Design Strategy) and to ensure there is appropriate post-
development management for the ecological features (a Landscape and Ecological 
Management Plan) and an informative reminding the applicant of its obligations under 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (in respect of nesting birds), I must conclude 
that the proposed development would not give rise to unacceptable ecological impact 
and that planning permission should not be withheld on the basis of paragraphs 170 
and 175 of the NPPF.  I must also conclude that the proposed development accords 
with Policies DM1, DM2 and DM3 of the Kent MWLP, Policy CP1 of the TMBC LDF 
Core Strategy and Policies NE1, NE2, NE3 and NE4 of the TMBC LDF MDE DPD in 
terms of ecology.  The proposed development can also be viewed favourably in terms 
of draft Policy CSW6 of the Kent MWLP Early Partial Review and draft Policy LP13 of 
the emerging TMBC Local Plan. 

 
Other issues 

 
156. Other issues or concerns that have been raised by those who have made 

representations relate to litter and debris, vermin / scavenging birds and flies 
(particularly in warm summer months). 

 
157. Litter and debris, vermin / scavenging birds and flies are operational matters for the 

Environmental Permit and will be addressed separately by the Environment Agency.  
Paragraph 183 of the NPPF states that the focus in making planning decisions should 
be on whether the proposed development is an acceptable use of land, rather than the 

Page 58



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.53  

control of processes or emissions (where these are subject to separate pollution 
control regimes) and that planning decisions should assume that these regimes will 
operate effectively.  Notwithstanding this, it should be noted that modern, well run 
waste management facilities (including HWRCs) are capable of being operated without 
giving rise to significant problems associated with these issues. 

 

Conclusion 

 
158. The application proposes the development of a HWRC, new access to a highway, 

associated infrastructure and earthworks at the Allington IWMF, Laverstoke Road, 
Allington, Maidstone. 

 
159. The proposed HWRC lies within the defined settlement boundary, is allocated for 

employment use in the adopted and emerging TMBC Local Plans and is safeguarded 
for waste management use in the Kent MWLP.  It is therefore consistent with the 
locational land use criteria set out in the NPPW and Kent MWLP. 

 
160. KCC has identified a need for a new HWRC to serve the Maidstone and Tonbridge 

and Malling areas and is actively seeking the procurement of a new facility for the west 
Maidstone area.  KCC Waste Management has advised that the proposed site is well 
located to meet the requirements of the Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) and that the 
HWRC would make an important contribution to help meet recycling, recovery and 
disposal targets by driving waste up the waste hierarchy through the re-use of 
materials and the separation of materials for recycling and that the additional HWRC 
capacity would also assist in meeting current and projected population and housing 
growth in Kent. 

 
161. The key issue for those who have made representations is the potential impact of 

traffic associated with the proposed HWRC in terms of highway capacity, congestion 
and safety and the ability or otherwise of the HWRC to operate without significantly 
adversely affecting adjoining businesses and local residents (e.g. in terms of queuing 
on Laverstoke Road and air quality).  Aylesford PC’s response reflects these concerns 
and proposes that the application should not be determined until the position regarding 
all of the other potential developments is known and the highway improvements have 
been completed on the A20. 

 
162. Although welcoming the principle of the provision of a HWRC within the Borough and 

not objecting, TMBC has raised concerns about potential traffic generation from the 
HWRC and stated that KCC should be satisfied that the traffic generation is fully 
assessed against the VISUM modelling undertaken in support of the emerging growth 
strategy for the Borough contained within the draft TMBC Local Plan. 

 
163. Other objections that have been raised in representations relate to air quality, odour, 

pollution, vermin, flies, noise, quality of life, adverse health impacts, proximity to 
housing and cumulative impact.  Concerns have also been expressed about the 
emerging DCO / NSIP proposals and the impact of other development (e.g. housing) in 
the area as well as issues that cannot be regarded planning considerations (e.g. house 

Page 59



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.54  

prices). 
 
164. With the exception of Aylesford PC (and the concerns raised by TMBC), no objections 

have been received from technical or other consultees (i.e. The Environment Agency, 
Natural England, KCC’s Noise Consultant, KCC’s Air Quality Consultant, KCC’s 
Landscape Consultant, KCC Ecological Advice Service, KCC Flood and Water 
Management (SuDS), Southern Water, Kent Downs AONB Unit and KCC Waste 
Management) subject to the imposition of the various conditions set out in this report. 

 
165. Of particular significance, KCC Highways and Transportation has advised that it is 

satisfied that the applicant has demonstrated that the proposed HWRC would not give 
rise to an unacceptable impact on highway safety and that the road network can 
accommodate the additional traffic that would be generated (having regard to 
committed development and the improvements to the Coldharbour Lane roundabout) 
and Highways England is content that the proposed development would not materially 
impact the reliability, operation or safety of the SRN (including the safe and efficient 
operation of the M20 Junction 5).  Notwithstanding TMBC’s suggestion that traffic 
generation should be fully assessed against the VISUM modelling undertaken in 
support of the emerging growth strategy for the Borough contained within the draft 
TMBC Local Plan, I am satisfied that potential impact has been properly assessed in 
accordance with the NPPF and that the application can be determined now. 

 
166. Given the objections and concerns that have been raised, it is also important to note 

that KCC’s Air Quality Consultant has advised that air quality has been appropriately 
assessed and demonstrated to give rise to a negligible overall magnitude of change at 
all receptors (including along roads where there would be an increase in vehicle 
movements). 

 
167. As identified in the report, the proposed development would give rise to some adverse 

impacts during the earthworks / construction and operational phases.  However, I am 
satisfied that none of these are sufficient to justify refusal given that they are capable 
of being appropriately mitigated.  I am also mindful of the identified need for a new 
HWRC and the benefits associated with the provision of new waste management 
capacity. 

 
168. Notwithstanding the objections and concerns that have been raised, I am satisfied that 

the proposed development gives rise to no significant harm, is in accordance with the 
development plan and that there are no material considerations that indicate that the 
application should be refused.  I am also satisfied that any harm that would arise from 
the proposed development would reasonably be mitigated by the imposition of the 
proposed conditions.  I therefore recommend accordingly. 

 

Recommendation 

 
169. I RECOMMEND that PLANNING PERMISSION BE GRANTED SUBJECT TO: 
 

(i) conditions covering amongst other matters: 

Page 60



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.55  

 

• Permission to be implemented within 3 years; 

• A Construction Management Plan covering the routing of construction 
and delivery vehicles to / from site, parking and turning areas for 
construction and delivery vehicles and site personnel, timing of deliveries, 
provision of wheel washing facilities and temporary traffic management / 
signage); 

• Highway condition surveys (before and after construction) and the 
funding of any damage caused by vehicles related to the development; 

• Provision of construction vehicle loading / unloading and turning facilities, 
parking facilities for site personnel and visitors and wheel washing 
facilities prior to commencement of work on site and for the duration of 
construction; 

• Provision of measures to prevent the discharge of surface water onto the 
highway; 

• Provision and permanent retention of the vehicle parking spaces and / or 
garages, the vehicle loading/unloading and turning facilities and the cycle 
parking facilities shown on the submitted plans prior to the use of the site 
commencing; 

• Use of a bound surface for the first 5 metres of the access from the edge 
of the highway; 

• Completion and maintenance of the access shown on the submitted 
plans prior to the use of the site commencing; 

• Provision and maintenance of 2.4 metre by 43 metre visibility splays at 
the access with no obstructions over 0.6 metres above carriageway level 
within the splays, prior to use of the site commencing; 

• Implementation of the proposed measures to avoid queuing at the 
Allington IWMF on Laverstoke Road (with provision for annual reviews 
and amended measures being agreed with KCC as necessary); 

• Hours of use (i.e. to allow the HWRC to be open to the public between 
07:00 and 20:00 hours weekdays, weekends and on Bank Holidays (but 
closed on Christmas Day, Boxing Day and New Year’s Day) with site 
maintenance / cleaning and other operational activities be allowed during 
the 30 minutes before the site opens and 30 minutes after the site has 
closed to the public); 

• A Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP); 

• Enabling and construction works only taking place between 07:00 and 
18:00 on weekdays and Saturdays unless otherwise approved in the 
CEMP; 

• An operational Dust Management Plan (DMP); 

• A site Odour Management Plan (OMP); 

• No development taking place until a strategy to deal with the potential 
risks associated with any contamination of the site has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by KCC; 

• No occupation of any part of the development until a verification report 
demonstrating the completion of works set out in the approved 

Page 61



Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.56  

remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by KCC; 

• Development works ceasing if contamination not previously identified is 
found to be present at the site until a further remediation strategy has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by KCC; 

• No piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods 
unless approved in writing by KCC; 

• The implementation of a detailed planting plan; 

• Tree protection measures; 

• Removal of permitted development rights; 

• Avoidance of tree removal during the bird nesting season; 

• All planting, seeding or turfing to be carried out in the first available 
planting and seeding season following the occupation of the site or the 
completion of the development (whichever is the sooner); 

• An aftercare period of no less than five years; 

• The use of a dark coloured roofing material; 

• A detailed lighting scheme; 

• Details of foul and surface water sewerage disposal; 

• A detailed sustainable surface water drainage scheme and a verification 
report; 

• The implementation of ecological compensation measures (an Ecological 
Design Strategy); and 

• Post-development management for the ecological features (a Landscape 
and Ecological Management Plan); and 

 
(ii) the following informatives: 
 

• The applicant ensuring that all necessary highway approvals and 
consents are obtained; 

• The applicant be advised that if piling is proposed, a Piling Risk 
Assessment must be submitted to the Environment Agency in 
accordance with the Environment Agency guidance document “Piling and 
Penetrative Ground Improvement Methods on Land Affected by 
Contamination: Guidance on Pollution Prevention. National Groundwater 
& Contaminated Land Centre report NC/99/73”; 

• The applicant be advised of the need for a Trade Effluent discharge 
licence and for an application to be made to Southern Water to connect 
to the public foul and surface water sewer; and 

• The applicant be reminded of its obligations under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (in respect of nesting birds). 

 
 

Case Officer: Jim Wooldridge     Tel. no. 03000 413484 

 

Background Documents:  see section heading. 

 

Page 62



Appendix 1 to Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

C1.57  

See separate Appendix 1 which contains the following drawings 

illustrating the proposed development: 

 

• Plan showing locations of proposed HWRC, Spoil Disposal area, Allington IWMF, 
20/20 Business Park, the Orchards development, the Poppy Fields PH and local  
road network 

 

• Drawing number PL100 titled “Site Layout Plan” 
 

• Drawing number PL101 titled “Proposed Traffic Signs Layout and Details” 
 

• Drawing number PL102 titled “Material Layout Plan” 
 

• Drawing number PL103 titled “HWRC Canopy and Re-Use Shop Plans” 
 

• Drawing number PL300 titled “Site Elevations” 
 

• Drawing number PL301 titled “Laverstoke Road Section Looking West” 
 

• Drawing number PL302 titled “North and East Proposed Elevations” 
 

• Drawing number PL303 titled “South and West Proposed Elevations” 
 

• Drawing number PL304 titled “Re-use Shop Elevations” 
 

• Drawing number PL305 titled “Meet and Greet, Bicycle Shelter Plans and Elevations” 

 
• Drawing number 4073-102 Rev P1 titled “Proposed Drainage Layout” 

 

• Drawing number 2566-01-02 Rev B titled “Statutory Plan” 
 

• Drawing number 4557/1/011 Rev A titled “Proposed HWRC Layout with Fill 
Deposition Drawing” 

 

• Drawing number 2566-01-01 Rev B titled “Illustrative Landscape Proposals” 

 
• Extracts from Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) showing viewpoints 

and photographs 
 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 to Item C1 

Proposed development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre 

(HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and 

earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, 

Laverstoke Road, Allington, Maidstone, Kent, ME16 0LE - TM/20/62 

(KCC/TM/0284/2019) 

 

 

Appendix 1 contains the following drawings illustrating the proposed 

development: 

 

• Plan showing locations of proposed HWRC, Spoil Disposal area, Allington IWMF, 
20/20 Business Park, the Orchards development, the Poppy Fields PH and local  
road network 

 

• Drawing number PL100 titled “Site Layout Plan” 
 

• Drawing number PL101 titled “Proposed Traffic Signs Layout and Details” 
 

• Drawing number PL102 titled “Material Layout Plan” 
 

• Drawing number PL103 titled “HWRC Canopy and Re-Use Shop Plans” 
 

• Drawing number PL300 titled “Site Elevations” 
 

• Drawing number PL301 titled “Laverstoke Road Section Looking West” 
 

• Drawing number PL302 titled “North and East Proposed Elevations” 
 

• Drawing number PL303 titled “South and West Proposed Elevations” 
 

• Drawing number PL304 titled “Re-use Shop Elevations” 
 

• Drawing number PL305 titled “Meet and Greet, Bicycle Shelter Plans and Elevations” 

 
• Drawing number 4073-102 Rev P1 titled “Proposed Drainage Layout” 

 

• Drawing number 2566-01-02 Rev B titled “Statutory Plan” 
 

• Drawing number 4557/1/011 Rev A titled “Proposed HWRC Layout with Fill 
Deposition Drawing” 

 

• Drawing number 2566-01-01 Rev B titled “Illustrative Landscape Proposals” 

 
• Extracts from Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) showing viewpoints 

and photographs 
 

Page 65



D

S

T

A

N

R

D

R

O

A

D

E

D

R

I

V

E

A

N

L

E

U

E

E

S

N

V

U

30m

C

A

R

T

E

C

H

N

C

E

A

V
E

N
U

E

C

R

O

P

Y

E

S

L

26m

C

A

S

T
L

E

R

O

A

D

M

2
0

C

o

C

o
n
st

B

dy

D

r

a

i
n

C

A

S

T

L

E

R

O

A

D

L

C

H

T

N

S

A

U

B

R

N

E

S

H

S

E

O

I

L

C

O

R

R

R

T

C

U

B

E

H

G

D

U

43m

B

L

U

E

C

R

E

S

S

T

O

N

E

R

O

A

D

B

K

I

L

N

D

O

W

N

C

Allington

A

R

A

O

L

L

A

D

R

M

T

NH

R

E

B

K

C

A

S

T

L

E

 

R

O

A

D

E

Y

N

S

F

O

L

U

L

L

I

N

G

C

H

E

R

I

T

O

N

 

W

A

Y

E

C

K

E

N

H

A

M

D

R

I

V

D

A

R

G

A

T

E

 

C

L

Primary

School

L
I
P

H
O

O
K

 
W

A
Y

ST LEONARDS RD

L
A

V
E

R
S

T
O

K
E

 
R

O
A

D

Depot

S
T

L
A

U
R

E

BS

36m

43m

B

E

L

L

W

Y

P

I

P

P

I

N

 

P

L

C

A

R

O

L

I

N

E

F

O

R

D

W

I

C

H

C

L

L

C

L

I

V

E

D

E

N

C

L

A

R

L

O

C

K
C L

G
O

O

C

L

N

R

A

38m

E

U

Y

A

W

E

R

V
I

N

D

B

O

D

Y

R

i

v

e

r

M

e

d

w

a

y

M

L

W

M H W

Cobtree

Roundabout

W

The Running

Horse Roundabout

O

A

D

H

A

R

B

O

U

R

A

N

E

M20

D

C

A
S

T

O

R

P

K

R

D

O

A

L
O

N
D

O

N
 
R

O

A
D

 
E

A
S

T

C

O

L

D

C

O

L

D

H

A

R

B

O

U

R

L

A

N

E

Preston Lodge

Little

L

Centre

S

E

A

S

T

 
P

A

R

K

 
R

O

A

D

T

Hospice

H

N

P

E

C

O

(Hospl)

The Churchill

A

Mast

Balancing

Ppg Sta

Pond

L
o
c
k

Allington

Mast

Car Park

D

r

a

i
n

Sluice

Lock Wood

Centre 3000

Conveyors

Enterprise Park

Nimbus

ESS

Facility

Sports

Balancing

Pond

T

r
a

c
k

T

r

a

c

k

Mud

P

a

t

h

Conveyors

Conveyor

FB

P

a

t

h

ESS

P

a

t

h

5

ESS

Pond

Balancing

Facility

Sports

T
r
a
c
k

Caravan Site

Mast

FB

M20

1

2

3
4

6

10

5

7

8

9

9

9

11

12

N

Proposed Site Access

Spoil Disposal Area

HWRC Site Location

1

Existing Allington IWMF

2

The Orchard Development

3

Poppy Fields Public House

4

20/20 Business Park5

Railway Line

6

Laverstoke Road7

St Laurence Avenue8

A20
9

Coldharbour Roundabout10

Coldharbour Lane11

M20 (J5)

12

0 100 200 300 400 500m

P
age 66



C
a
r P

a
rk

S
ta
ff C

a
r P

a
rk

L
a
g
o
o
n

W
h
a
tm

a
n
 H

o
u
s
e

18

20 24

24

22

3
5

36

3433323130292827262524

37

S
to
re

S
to
re

T
e

m
p
'

W
C

T
e

m
p
'

O
ffic

e
s

G
u

M
H

M
H

M
H

M
H

H
V
 E

q
u
ip

m
e
n
t

C
o
n
't

B
o
x

M
H

M
H

M
H

C
O

A
C

H

M
H

C
o
n
t'

B
o
x

C
o
n
t'

B
o
x

M
H

M
H

B
T
 IC

M
H

M
H

G
u

G
u

G
u

G
u

G
u

M
H

M
H

M
H

G
u

G
u

M
H

S
ig

n

G
u

B
T
 IC

M
H

M
H

G
u

M
H

M
H

M
H

3 5 6 8 9 1
0

1
1

1
2 1
5

1
6

1
8

1
9

2
0 2
3

2
4

2
5

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 1
0

1
1

1
2

1
3

1
4

1
5

1
7

1
8

1
9

2
0

2
1

2
2

2
3

2
4

2
5

2
6

2
7

2
8

3
1

3
2

3
3

1

1
6

3
0

G
u

M
H

Operations Area

CRC Facility

Up

Down

Proposed Re Use Area

Unloading

Operations Area

Re-Use Shop

canopy above

LAVERSTOKE ROAD

above
canopy

shelter
bicycle

+ 25.700m

+ 25.700m

+ 25.700m

+ 25.700m

+ 27.300m

+ 27.300m

Car Park

Greet Cabin
Meet and

0 10 25m

N
O

R
T

H

L E G E N D

Structure / enclosure

HWRC area

Site Boundary

Nature Conservation Area

Outline of Canopy

F E N C I N G  L E G E N D

(green plastic coated finish)
1.6m high concrete retaining wall
2.4m high paladin fencing above

(green plastic coated finish)
2.4m high paladin fencing

fencing (galvanised finish)
Perimeter 2.4m high palisade

vary in level by 1.6m
length of ramps,  Ramps
above ramp level, along
1.1m high concrete wall

galvanised handrailing
1.1m high anti climb

1407 PL100

1:250@A0 19/12/12

-

19/12/12-

Site Layout

FOR PLANNING Issued for planning GSDA
GARRY STEWART DESIGN ASSOCIATES

T. 020 8544 8085  
Broadway, Wimbledon, London, SW19 1NE
Highlands House, Office 300A, 165 The

PROJECT

DRAWING

1.

2.

3.

4.

NOTE

SCALE DATE

DWG. NO. REVISION 
TAKE PREFERENCE.
ASSEMBLY DRAWINGS & DETAIL DRAWINGS, THE LATTER
WHERE DISCREPANCIES EXIST BETWEEN REFERENCE OR
 
OF THE ARCHITECTS FOR RESOLUTION.
DIMENSIONS THESE MUST BE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION 
WHERE ANY DISCREPANCIES ARE FOUND BETWEEN
 
ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM DIMENSION STRINGS.
THE CONTRACTOR MUST NOT SCALE FROM THE DRAWING
 
THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT GSDA LTD. 

ALLINGTON HWRC

P
age 67

hunjah01
Text Box
Received - 23 December 2019
Copied to District
Planning Applications Group



C
a
r P

a
rk

S
ta
ff C

a
r P

a
rk

L
a
g
o
o
n

W
h
a
tm

a
n
 H

o
u
s
e

18

20 24

24

22

3
5

36

3433323130292827262524

37

S
to
re

S
to
re

T
e

m
p
'

W
C

T
e

m
p
'

O
ffic

e
s

G
u

M
H

M
H

M
H

M
H

H
V
 E

q
u
ip

m
e
n
t

C
o
n
't

B
o
x

M
H

M
H

M
H

C
O

A
C

H

M
H

C
o
n
t'

B
o
x

C
o
n
t'

B
o
x

M
H

M
H

B
T
 IC

M
H

M
H

G
u

G
u

G
u

G
u

G
u

M
H

M
H

M
H

G
u

G
u

M
H

S
ig

n

G
u

B
T
 IC

M
H

M
H

G
u

M
H

M
H

M
H

3 5 6 8 9 1
0

1
1

1
2 1
5

1
6

1
8

1
9

2
0 2
3

2
4

2
5

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 1
0

1
1

1
2

1
3

1
4

1
5

1
7

1
8

1
9

2
0

2
1

2
2

2
3

2
4

2
5

2
6

2
7

2
8

3
1

3
2

3
3

1

1
6

3
0

G
u

M
H

Operations Area

CRC Facility

Up

Down

Proposed Re Use Area

Unloading

Operations Area

Re-Use Shop

canopy above

LAVERSTOKE ROAD

above
canopy

shelter
bicycle

+ 25.700m

+ 25.700m

+ 25.700m

+ 25.700m

+ 27.300m

+ 27.300m

Car Park

Greet Cabin
Meet and

0 10 25m

N
O

R
T

H

L E G E N D

Structure / enclosure

HWRC area

Site Boundary

Nature Conservation Area

Outline of Canopy

3 and 14

3 and 14

3 and 14

15

4

5

5

7, 11, 14

1

16,17 and 18

12

3, 2, 6 and 13

7

3 and 14 19

1 and 19

4

3 and 14

9
10

20 and 8

5

450

Traffic Sign Schedule
DescriptionSign/Size

450 x 675

WAY

GIVE 

One-way traffic

No entry for vehicular traffic

450 (site)

750 (site entrance)

Speed limit 5 mph

Give way

Chevron (3 arrows)

Ramp

Merging traffic (from right hand lane)

RAMP

Exit Exit

450 x 300

Return to Recycling Centre

3.5T
mgw

Maximum gross wieght (3.5t)

Mounting**

        barrier

Mounted on vehicle ·

Mounted on gates/fences·

parapet

Mounted on stub pole on  ·

Maximum height (4.0m)

Mounted on gates/fences·

MAXIMUM  HEIGHT 4.0M

Mounted on gates/fences·

from side of parapet wall

Mounted on cantilever post ·

Mounted on twin poles·

Mounted on fence·

restraint

Mounted on vehicle ·

parapet

Mounted on stub pole on  ·

Mounted on fence·

parapet

Mounted on stub pole on  ·

parapet

Mounted on stub pole on  ·

parapet

Mounted on stub pole on  ·

building

Mounted above door on ·

When queuing use both lanes

Mounted on gates/fences·

LANES

USE BOTH 

QUEUING

WHEN 

600 x 450

1050 x 450

450

600 x 450

600 x 450

600 x 450

1050 x 450

450/750

Recycling Centre

Return to 

Speed bumps

Mounted on fence·

Mounted on pole·

(facing into HWRC)

Mounted on barrier arm ·
1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

Reference Number Reference Number Sign/Size Description Mounting** Reference Number Sign/Size Description Mounting**

Traffic Sign Schedule Traffic Sign Schedule

15 MAXIMUM  HEIGHT 2.0M

1050 x 450

Maximum height (2.0m)

16

17

18 Child Safety

Operating Conditions

Opening Hours

road

Mounted on gantry above

only

parking

Reverse 

Reference Number Sign/Size Description Mounting**

Traffic Sign Schedule

Mounted on twin posts 

Mounted on twin posts 

19 Reverse parking only

Mounted on posts 

Mounted on posts 

Mounted on posts 

Mounted on posts 

Mounted on posts 

Mounted on posts 

Mounted on posts 

Mounted on posts 

Mounted on posts 

Mounted on posts 

Mounted on posts 

Mounted on posts 

Mounted on posts 

No right turn

450

450

No left turn

Mounted on posts 

20

Mounted on posts 

1407 PL101

1:250@A0 19/12/12

-

19/12/12-

Proposed Traffic Signs Layout and Details

Issued for planningFOR PLANNING GSDA
GARRY STEWART DESIGN ASSOCIATES

T. 020 8544 8085  
Broadway, Wimbledon, London, SW19 1NE
Highlands House, Office 300A, 165 The

PROJECT

DRAWING

1.

2.

3.

4.

NOTE

SCALE DATE

DWG. NO. REVISION 
TAKE PREFERENCE.
ASSEMBLY DRAWINGS & DETAIL DRAWINGS, THE LATTER
WHERE DISCREPANCIES EXIST BETWEEN REFERENCE OR
 
OF THE ARCHITECTS FOR RESOLUTION.
DIMENSIONS THESE MUST BE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION 
WHERE ANY DISCREPANCIES ARE FOUND BETWEEN
 
ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM DIMENSION STRINGS.
THE CONTRACTOR MUST NOT SCALE FROM THE DRAWING
 
THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT GSDA LTD. 

ALLINGTON HWRC

P
age 68

hunjah01_1
Text Box
Received - 23 December 2019
Copied to District
Planning Applications Group



C
a
r P

a
rk

S
ta
ff C

a
r P

a
rk

L
a
g
o
o
n

W
h
a
tm

a
n
 H

o
u
s
e

18

20 24

24

22

3
5

36

3433323130292827262524

37

S
to
re

S
to
re

T
e

m
p
'

W
C

T
e

m
p
'

O
ffic

e
s

G
u

M
H

M
H

M
H

M
H

H
V
 E

q
u
ip

m
e
n
t

C
o
n
't

B
o
x

M
H

M
H

M
H

C
O

A
C

H

M
H

C
o
n
t'

B
o
x

C
o
n
t'

B
o
x

M
H

M
H

B
T
 IC

M
H

M
H

G
u

G
u

G
u

G
u

G
u

M
H

M
H

M
H

G
u

G
u

M
H

S
ig

n

G
u

B
T
 IC

M
H

M
H

G
u

M
H

M
H

M
H

3 5 6 8 9 1
0

1
1

1
2 1
5

1
6

1
8

1
9

2
0 2
3

2
4

2
5

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 1
0

1
1

1
2

1
3

1
4

1
5

1
7

1
8

1
9

2
0

2
1

2
2

2
3

2
4

2
5

2
6

2
7

2
8

3
1

3
2

3
3

1

1
6

3
0

G
u

M
H

Operations Area

CRC Facility

Up

Down

Proposed Re Use Area

Unloading

Operations Area

Re-Use Shop

LAVERSTOKE ROAD

above
canopy

shelter
bicycle

+ 25.700m

+ 25.700m

+ 25.700m

+ 25.700m

+ 27.300m

+ 27.300m

Car Park

Greet Cabin
Meet and

0 10 25m

N
O

R
T

H

L E G E N D

Structure / enclosure

HWRC area

Site Boundary

Nature Conservation Area

Outline of Canopy

appliances
small 

metal
scrap waste

garden 

metal
scrap 

cardboard

& timber
wood chipboard

cardboardwaste
non recyclable 

waste
garden 

metal
scrap 

appliances
small 

waste
garden 

& timber
wood

chipboard

waste
non recyclable 

cardboard

& freezers
fridges monitors

tvs &
spares

seasonal/

textiles

metal
non ferrous

media
mixed 

gas bottles
oil

cooking 

chemicals 
 

tubes
fluorescent 

appliances
large 

plasterboard
batteries

cartridges printer

phones mobile
spectacles

COLOR

BLACK

Re-use
Re-use

paper

glass
mixed

1407 PL102

1:250@A0 19/12/12

-

19/12/12-

Material Layout

FOR PLANNING Issued for planning

cardboardwaste
non recyclable 

GSDA
GARRY STEWART DESIGN ASSOCIATES

T. 020 8544 8085  
Broadway, Wimbledon, London, SW19 1NE
Highlands House, Office 300A, 165 The

PROJECT

DRAWING

1.

2.

3.

4.

NOTE

SCALE DATE

DWG. NO. REVISION 
TAKE PREFERENCE.
ASSEMBLY DRAWINGS & DETAIL DRAWINGS, THE LATTER
WHERE DISCREPANCIES EXIST BETWEEN REFERENCE OR
 
OF THE ARCHITECTS FOR RESOLUTION.
DIMENSIONS THESE MUST BE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION 
WHERE ANY DISCREPANCIES ARE FOUND BETWEEN
 
ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM DIMENSION STRINGS.
THE CONTRACTOR MUST NOT SCALE FROM THE DRAWING
 
THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT GSDA LTD. 

ALLINGTON HWRC

spare

spare
bulky

bulky
spare

engine oil
used 

batteries
car

sand
soil and

gravel, rocks, stones
Hardcore, rubble,

marble, paving slabs
 Flagstones, granite, 

and tiles
and kitchen items 
Ceramic bathroom 

pipes
concrete and drain 
bricks, cement, 
Breeze blocks, 

tyres

P
age 69

hunjah01_2
Text Box
Received - 23 December 2019
Copied to District
Planning Applications Group



19/12/12-

19/12/121:100@A1

1407 PL103 -

HWRC Canopy and Re-Use Shop Plans

SIMILAR APPROVED
GREY (RAL 7038) OR
WILL BE IN GOOSEWING
CANOPY AND STRUCTURE
GREET CABIN AND HWRC
RE-USE SHOP, MEET AND

+0.00m (+25.7m AOD)
OF THE LOWER LEVEL:
BACK TO THE SITE DATUM
ALL LEVELS REFER

NOTE

Issued for planningFOR PLANNING GSDA
GARRY STEWART DESIGN ASSOCIATES

T. 020 8544 8085  
Broadway, Wimbledon, London, SW19 1NE
Highlands House, Office 300A, 165 The

PROJECT

DRAWING

1.

2.

3.

4.

NOTE

SCALE DATE

DWG. NO. REVISION 
TAKE PREFERENCE.
ASSEMBLY DRAWINGS & DETAIL DRAWINGS, THE LATTER
WHERE DISCREPANCIES EXIST BETWEEN REFERENCE OR
 
OF THE ARCHITECTS FOR RESOLUTION.
DIMENSIONS THESE MUST BE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION 
WHERE ANY DISCREPANCIES ARE FOUND BETWEEN
 
ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM DIMENSION STRINGS.
THE CONTRACTOR MUST NOT SCALE FROM THE DRAWING
 
THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT GSDA LTD. 

ALLINGTON HWRC

0 1 10m5

Roof Plan

Canopy Roof Plan

0 1 10m5

NORTH

N
O

R
T

H

Ground Floor Plan

Re-Use Shop & Storage

Roof Pitch Fall Roof Pitch Fall

Roof Pitch FallRoof Pitch Fall

First Floor Plan

Staff Offices & Welfare
Flat Roof

Roof

Lift Shaft

1
1
0
2
0

1
3
7
1
5

78086

6
9
5
0

2
0
0
0

6
9
5
0

11020

P
age 70

hunjah01_3
Text Box
Received - 23 December 2019
Copied to District
Planning Applications Group



0 10 25m

L E G E N D

Fence Line

East Elevation

North Elevation

South Elevation

West Elevation

HWRC Boundary

HWRC BoundaryHWRC Boundary Ramp
Up

Down RampStaff Car ParkProposed Re Use AreaEntrance
Area

Operations

HWRC Facility

HWRC BoundaryHWRC Boundary RO-RO ManoeuvringBays
HWRC

HWRC Facility

Platform Level
+ 1.60m

Site Level
+ 0.00m (+25.7m AOD)

Roof Level
Re-Use Shop
+ 6.33m

Eastern Canopy Top
+ 7.27m

Western Canopy Top
+ 7.53m

Lanes
Vehicle

Greet
and

Meet

HWRC BoundaryRamp
Down

Building
Admin

Bays
HWRC

RO-RO ManoeuvringVehicle LanesHWRC Boundary

HWRC BoundaryHWRC Boundary Ramp
Up

Operations Area Lanes
Vehicle

Re-Use ShopHWRC Bays

1407 PL300

1:250@A0 19/12/12

-

19/12/12-

Site Elevations

SIMILAR APPROVED
GREY (RAL 7038) OR
WILL BE IN GOOSEWING
CANOPY AND STRUCTURE
GREET CABIN AND HWRC
RE-USE SHOP, MEET AND

+0.00m (+25.7m AOD)
OF THE LOWER LEVEL:
BACK TO THE SITE DATUM
ALL LEVELS REFER

NOTE

Issued for planningFOR PLANNING GSDA
GARRY STEWART DESIGN ASSOCIATES

T. 020 8544 8085  
Broadway, Wimbledon, London, SW19 1NE
Highlands House, Office 300A, 165 The

PROJECT

DRAWING

1.

2.

3.

4.

NOTE

SCALE DATE

DWG. NO. REVISION 
TAKE PREFERENCE.
ASSEMBLY DRAWINGS & DETAIL DRAWINGS, THE LATTER
WHERE DISCREPANCIES EXIST BETWEEN REFERENCE OR
 
OF THE ARCHITECTS FOR RESOLUTION.
DIMENSIONS THESE MUST BE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION 
WHERE ANY DISCREPANCIES ARE FOUND BETWEEN
 
ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM DIMENSION STRINGS.
THE CONTRACTOR MUST NOT SCALE FROM THE DRAWING
 
THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT GSDA LTD. 

ALLINGTON HWRC

P
age 71

hunjah01_4
Text Box
Received - 23 December 2019
Copied to District
Planning Applications Group



0 10 25m

L E G E N D

HWRC Boundary

Existing Topography

(5m Average Height of Foliage)
of Proposed Native Woodland
Minimum Expected 10 Year Growth

DPD Fence

Section Through Laverstoke Road and DPD Manouevring Yard Looking West, Year 0

Section Through Laverstoke Road and DPD Manouevring Yard Looking West, Year 10

HWRC BoundaryHWRC Boundary Entrance
Area

Operations

Down RampStaff Car ParkProposed Re Use Area HWRC Facility

HWRC BoundaryHWRC Boundary Entrance
Area

Operations

Down RampStaff Car ParkProposed Re Use Area HWRC Facility

1407 PL301

1:250@A0 19/12/12

-

19/12/12-

Laverstoke Road Section Looking West

SIMILAR APPROVED
GREY (RAL 7038) OR
WILL BE IN GOOSEWING
CANOPY AND STRUCTURE
GREET CABIN AND HWRC
RE-USE SHOP, MEET AND

+0.00m (+25.7m AOD)
OF THE LOWER LEVEL:
BACK TO THE SITE DATUM
ALL LEVELS REFER

NOTE

Issued for planningFOR PLANNING GSDA
GARRY STEWART DESIGN ASSOCIATES

T. 020 8544 8085  
Broadway, Wimbledon, London, SW19 1NE
Highlands House, Office 300A, 165 The

PROJECT

DRAWING

1.

2.

3.

4.

NOTE

SCALE DATE

DWG. NO. REVISION 
TAKE PREFERENCE.
ASSEMBLY DRAWINGS & DETAIL DRAWINGS, THE LATTER
WHERE DISCREPANCIES EXIST BETWEEN REFERENCE OR
 
OF THE ARCHITECTS FOR RESOLUTION.
DIMENSIONS THESE MUST BE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION 
WHERE ANY DISCREPANCIES ARE FOUND BETWEEN
 
ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM DIMENSION STRINGS.
THE CONTRACTOR MUST NOT SCALE FROM THE DRAWING
 
THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT GSDA LTD. 

ALLINGTON HWRC

P
age 72

hunjah01_5
Text Box
Received - 23 December 2019
Copied to District
Planning Applications Group



1:200@A1

1407 PL302

19/12/12

-

- 19/12/12

Proposed Elevations

SIMILAR APPROVED
GREY (RAL 7038) OR
WILL BE IN GOOSEWING
CANOPY AND STRUCTURE
GREET CABIN AND HWRC
RE-USE SHOP, MEET AND

+0.00m (+25.7m AOD)
OF THE LOWER LEVEL:
BACK TO THE SITE DATUM
ALL LEVELS REFER

NOTE

FOR PLANNING Issued for planning GSDA
GARRY STEWART DESIGN ASSOCIATES

T. 020 8544 8085  
Broadway, Wimbledon, London, SW19 1NE
Highlands House, Office 300A, 165 The

PROJECT

DRAWING

1.

2.

3.

4.

NOTE

SCALE DATE

DWG. NO. REVISION 
TAKE PREFERENCE.
ASSEMBLY DRAWINGS & DETAIL DRAWINGS, THE LATTER
WHERE DISCREPANCIES EXIST BETWEEN REFERENCE OR
 
OF THE ARCHITECTS FOR RESOLUTION.
DIMENSIONS THESE MUST BE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION 
WHERE ANY DISCREPANCIES ARE FOUND BETWEEN
 
ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM DIMENSION STRINGS.
THE CONTRACTOR MUST NOT SCALE FROM THE DRAWING
 
THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT GSDA LTD. 

ALLINGTON HWRC

North Elevation

East Elevation

East Elevation

b
re

a
k
 l
in
e

b
re

a
k
 l
in
e

0 1 5 10 20m

HWRC BoundaryHWRC Boundary RO-RO ManoeuvringBays
HWRC

HWRC Facility

Platform Level
+ 1.60m

Site Level
+ 0.00m (+25.7m AOD)

Roof Level
Re-Use Shop
+ 6.33m

Eastern Canopy Top
+ 7.27m

Western Canopy Top
+ 7.53m

Lanes
Vehicle

Greet
and

Meet

HWRC BoundaryRamp
Up

Down RampStaff Car Park HWRC Facility

HWRC Boundary Staff Car ParkProposed Re Use AreaEntrance
Area

Operations

P
age 73

hunjah01_6
Text Box
Received - 23 December 2019
Copied to District
Planning Applications Group



1:200@A1

1407 PL303

19/12/12

-

- 19/12/12

Proposed Elevations

SIMILAR APPROVED
GREY (RAL 7038) OR
WILL BE IN GOOSEWING
CANOPY AND STRUCTURE
GREET CABIN AND HWRC
RE-USE SHOP, MEET AND

+0.00m (+25.7m AOD)
OF THE LOWER LEVEL:
BACK TO THE SITE DATUM
ALL LEVELS REFER

NOTE

Issued for planningFOR PLANNING GSDA
GARRY STEWART DESIGN ASSOCIATES

T. 020 8544 8085  
Broadway, Wimbledon, London, SW19 1NE
Highlands House, Office 300A, 165 The

PROJECT

DRAWING

1.

2.

3.

4.

NOTE

SCALE DATE

DWG. NO. REVISION 
TAKE PREFERENCE.
ASSEMBLY DRAWINGS & DETAIL DRAWINGS, THE LATTER
WHERE DISCREPANCIES EXIST BETWEEN REFERENCE OR
 
OF THE ARCHITECTS FOR RESOLUTION.
DIMENSIONS THESE MUST BE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION 
WHERE ANY DISCREPANCIES ARE FOUND BETWEEN
 
ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM DIMENSION STRINGS.
THE CONTRACTOR MUST NOT SCALE FROM THE DRAWING
 
THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT GSDA LTD. 

ALLINGTON HWRC

West Elevation

West Elevation

b
re

a
k
 l
in
e

b
re

a
k
 l
in
e

South Elevation

0 1 5 10 20m

HWRC BoundaryOperations Area Lanes
Vehicle

HWRC BoundaryRamp
Down

Building
Admin

Bays
HWRC

RO-RO ManoeuvringVehicle LanesHWRC Boundary

HWRC Boundary Ramp
Up

Re-Use ShopHWRC Bays

P
age 74

hunjah01_7
Text Box
Received - 23 December 2019
Copied to District
Planning Applications Group



19/12/12-

19/12/121:100@A1

1407 PL304 -

Re-Use Shop Elevations

SIMILAR APPROVED
GREY (RAL 7038) OR
WILL BE IN GOOSEWING
CANOPY AND STRUCTURE
GREET CABIN AND HWRC
RE-USE SHOP, MEET AND

+0.00m (+25.7m AOD)
OF THE LOWER LEVEL:
BACK TO THE SITE DATUM
ALL LEVELS REFER

NOTE

FOR PLANNING Issued for planning GSDA
GARRY STEWART DESIGN ASSOCIATES

T. 020 8544 8085  
Broadway, Wimbledon, London, SW19 1NE
Highlands House, Office 300A, 165 The

PROJECT

DRAWING

1.

2.

3.

4.

NOTE

SCALE DATE

DWG. NO. REVISION 
TAKE PREFERENCE.
ASSEMBLY DRAWINGS & DETAIL DRAWINGS, THE LATTER
WHERE DISCREPANCIES EXIST BETWEEN REFERENCE OR
 
OF THE ARCHITECTS FOR RESOLUTION.
DIMENSIONS THESE MUST BE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION 
WHERE ANY DISCREPANCIES ARE FOUND BETWEEN
 
ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM DIMENSION STRINGS.
THE CONTRACTOR MUST NOT SCALE FROM THE DRAWING
 
THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT GSDA LTD. 

ALLINGTON HWRC

North Elevation East Elevation

South Elevation West Elevation

0 1 10m5

Platform Level
+ 1.60m

Site Level
+ 0.00m (+25.7m AOD)

Roof Level
Re-Use Shop
+ 6.33m

Top of Lift
+ 6.97m

First Floor Level
Re-Use Shop
+ 3.40m

Site Level
+ 0.00m (+25.7m AOD)

Roof Level
Re-Use Shop
+ 6.33m

Top of Lift
+ 6.97m

First Floor Level
Re-Use Shop
+ 3.40m

Platform Level
+ 1.60m

Platform Level
+ 1.60m

Site Level
+ 0.00m (+25.7m AOD)

Roof Level
Re-Use Shop
+ 6.33m

Top of Lift
+ 6.97m

First Floor Level
Re-Use Shop
+ 3.40m

Site Level
+ 0.00m (+25.7m AOD)

Roof Level
Re-Use Shop
+ 6.33m

Top of Lift
+ 6.97m

First Floor Level
Re-Use Shop
+ 3.40m

Platform Level
+ 1.60m

P
age 75

hunjah01_8
Text Box
Received - 23 December 2019
Copied to District
Planning Applications Group



19/12/12-

19/12/12

1407 PL305 -

Meet and Greet, Bicycle Shelter Plans and Elevations

1:50@A1 1:100@A3

SIMILAR APPROVED
GREY (RAL 7038) OR
WILL BE IN GOOSEWING
CANOPY AND STRUCTURE
GREET CABIN AND HWRC
RE-USE SHOP, MEET AND

+0.00m (+25.7m AOD)
OF THE LOWER LEVEL:
BACK TO THE SITE DATUM
ALL LEVELS REFER

NOTE

Issued for planningFOR PLANNING GSDA
GARRY STEWART DESIGN ASSOCIATES

T. 020 8544 8085  
Broadway, Wimbledon, London, SW19 1NE
Highlands House, Office 300A, 165 The

PROJECT

DRAWING

1.

2.

3.

4.

NOTE

SCALE DATE

DWG. NO. REVISION 
TAKE PREFERENCE.
ASSEMBLY DRAWINGS & DETAIL DRAWINGS, THE LATTER
WHERE DISCREPANCIES EXIST BETWEEN REFERENCE OR
 
OF THE ARCHITECTS FOR RESOLUTION.
DIMENSIONS THESE MUST BE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION 
WHERE ANY DISCREPANCIES ARE FOUND BETWEEN
 
ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM DIMENSION STRINGS.
THE CONTRACTOR MUST NOT SCALE FROM THE DRAWING
 
THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT GSDA LTD. 

ALLINGTON HWRC

North Elevation

Ground Plan

East Elevation

West ElevationSouth Elevation

NORTH
NORTH

Ground Plan

North Elevation East Elevation

South Elevation West Elevation

0 1 5m2.5 0 1 5m2.5

Ground Plan

Site Level
+ 0.00m (+25.7m AOD)

Top of Shelter
+ 2.11m

Site Level
+ 0.00m (+25.7m AOD)

Top of Shelter
+ 2.11m

Site Level
+ 0.00m (+25.7m AOD)

Top of Shelter
+ 2.11m

Site Level
+ 0.00m (+25.7m AOD)

Top of Shelter
+ 2.11m

9
1
4
 x
 9

1
4
 s
lid
in

g
 w
in

d
o

w

9
1
4
 x
 9

1
4
 s
lid
in

g
 w
in

d
o

w

s
te

e
l d

o
o
r

Site Level
+ 0.00m (+25.7m AOD)

Cabin Roof
+ 2.40m

Cabin Roof
+ 2.40m

Site Level
+ 0.00m (+25.7m AOD)

Cabin Roof
+ 2.40m

Site Level
+ 0.00m (+25.7m AOD)

Cabin Roof
+ 2.40m

Site Level
+ 0.00m (+25.7m AOD)

Flat Roof

P
age 76

hunjah01_9
Text Box
Received - 23 December 2019
Copied to District
Planning Applications Group



1

0

O

N

L
Y

H

G

V

UNLO
ADING

U
N

L
O

A
D

IN
G

R
E

-

U
S

E

LAVERSTOKE ROAD

A

L

L

U

S

E

L

A

N

E

S

S1

FLOW CONTROL CHAMBER

FLOW=1.8 l/s

CL=24.00

IL=22.15

Ex.0851

CL=22.795

IL=21.325

Ex.0852

CL=22.73

IL=21.11

Ex.0950

CL=22.695

IL=19.945

Ex.0050

CL=22.63

IL=19.50

Ex.0850

CL=24.16

IL=22.06 (150Ø)

IL=21.91 (300Ø)

300Ø

300Ø

4

5

0

Ø

450Ø

600Ø

600Ø

1

5

0

Ø

GROUND LEVELS TO SPLIT

LEVEL WASTE COLLECTION

CONTAINER AREA TO HAVE

MINIMAL FALL (1:100)

TOWARDS CHANNEL DRAIN

TO PICK UP LEACHATE

DRAINAGE

THIS AREA IS SUSCEPTIBLE

TO LEACHATE DRAINAGE.

GROUND LEVELS TO HAVE

MINIMAL FALL (1:100)

TOWARDS CHANNEL DRAIN

S2

CATCHPIT CHAMBER

CL=25.70

IL=22.40 (IN/OUT)

IL=21.95 (SILT TRAP)

300Ø LAND DRAIN

150Ø LAND DRAIN

BS1

BYPASS SEPARATOR

CL=25.50

IL=22.35 (IN)

IL=22.25 (OUT)

O
F

F
-
L
IN

E
 C

E
L
L
U

L
A

R
 S

T
O

R
A

G
E

6
.0

m

 x
 1

0
3
.0

m

 x
 1

.6
m

 (
9
5
%

 V
O

ID
S

)
 =

 9
3
0
.2

4
m

³

C
L
=

2
5
.7

0

S
L
=

2
4
.0

5

IL
=

2
2
.4

5

S2A

CL=25.70

IL=22.45

64.8m 300Ø 1:240 1.000

44.6m 450Ø 1:223 2.000

8
5
.1

m

 4
5
0
Ø

 1
:2

4
3
 2

.0
0
1

21.0m 300Ø 1:16 1.001

92.7m 450Ø 1:371 1.002

8
8
.6

m

 4
5
0
Ø

 1
:2

9
5
 2

.0
0
2

1
7
.
2
m

 
4
5
0
Ø

 
1
:
2
2
 
2
.
0
0
3

1

2

.

2

m

 

4

5

0

Ø

 

1

:

2

4

5

 

3

.

0

0

0

35.1m 450Ø 1:25 1.003

2
3
.
4
m

 
3
0
0
Ø

 
1
:
2
3
4
 
1
.
0
0
5

S7

CL=25.70

IL=23.20

S8

CL=25.70

IL=23.50

S9

CL=25.70

IL=23.85

S10

CL=25.70

IL=24.05

S3

CL=25.70

IL=23.80

S4

CL=25.70

IL=24.05

S5

CL=27.30

IL=25.53

S6

CL=27.30

IL=25.80

F2

CL=24.00

IL=22.65

115.9m 150Ø 1:101

3

2

.

1

m

 

1

5

0

Ø

 

1

:

2

1

1
0
.
4
m

 
1
5
0
Ø

 
1
:
6
9

F4

CL=25.70

IL=24.35

F3

CL=25.70

IL=24.20

SW IL=24.42

FW IL=23.94

4

0

.
0

m

 
1

5

0

Ø

 
1

:
1

0

0

1

1

.
3

m

 
1

5

0

Ø

 
1

:
2

3

L3

CL=25.70

IL=24.35

L4

CL=25.70

IL=24.35

L1

CL=25.70

IL=23.85

LEACHATE STORAGE TANK

CAPACITY TBC AT DETAILED DESIGN

CL=25.70

IL=23.75 (IN)

TANK TO BE REGULARLY

INSPECTED AND EMPTIED

L2

CL=25.70

IL=24.25

25.70+

25.70+

25.70+

25.70+

25.70+

25.70+

25.70+

25.70+

25.70+

25.70+

25.70+

25.70+

27.30+

27.30+

27.30+

C
O

N
T

I
N

U
A

T
I
O

N
C

O
N

T
I
N

U
A

T
I
O

N

KEY

EXISTING PUBLIC FOUL WATER SEWER

EXISTING PUBLIC SURFACE WATER SEWER

PROPOSED FOUL WATER SEWER

PROPOSED SURFACE WATER SEWER

PROPOSED LEACHATE DRAIN

EXISTING PUBLIC FOUL WATER MANHOLE

EXISTING PUBLIC SURFACE WATER MANHOLE

PROPOSED FOUL WATER MANHOLE

PROPOSED SURFACE WATER MANHOLE

PROPOSED LEACHATE DRAINAGE MANHOLE

PROPOSED LEACHATE CHANNEL DRAIN

DEVELOPMENT BOUNDARY

PROPOSED SPOT LEVEL

LAND DRAIN

SURFACE WATER ATTENUATION

LEACHATE DRAINAGE AREA

38.30+

Ex.0051

CL=22.73

IL=19.13

Ex.0001

CL=22.73

IL=19.23

600Ø

600Ø

2
2
5
Ø

6
0
0
Ø

F1

CL=23.50

IL=21.50

1

2

.

6

m

 

1

5

0

Ø

 

1

:

1

0

27.30+

C
O

N
T

I
N

U
A

T
I
O

N
C

O
N

T
I
N

U
A

T
I
O

N

THIS DRAWING MUST BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE SPECIFICATION AND ALL OTHER RELEVANT DRAWINGS.  DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING.

NOTES

1. THIS DRAWING TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH ALL

RELEVANT WEETWOOD AND DESIGN TEAM DRAWINGS.

REV DATE DRAWN CHECKDESCRIPTION

info@weetwood.net

www.weetwood.net

Client

Date

Scale

(A0)

Drawn

Checked

Project No

Drawing No

Revision

Drawing Status

Project

Title

Park House, Ffordd

Byrnwr Gwair, Mold

CH7 1FQ

Tel 01352 700045

HWRC

ALLINGTON

4073

PROPOSED DRAINAGE

LAYOUT

 

 

102

PRELIMINARY

P1

AXIS PED LTD.

DEC 2019

1:250

TB

LR

N

P1 09.12.19 INITIAL ISSUE TB LR

DRAINAGE NOTES

1. ALL DIMENSIONS IN mm UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

2. ALL LEVELS IN METRES.

3. ALL PROPOSED DRAINAGE TO BE MINIMUM 100Ø

UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

4. MINIMUM GRADIENTS:

4.1. 100Ø FOUL WATER = 1:80

4.2. 150Ø SURFACE WATER = 1:100

5. ALL CONNECTING PIPES TO ADOPTABLE DRAINAGE TO

BE MINIMUM 150Ø.

6. ALL HIGHWAY GULLY CONNECTIONS TO BE MINIMUM

150Ø.

7. ALL RAINWATER PIPES MUST BE FITTED WITH A

RODDABLE ACCESS ABOVE GROUND.

8. ALL PRIVATE DRAINAGE TO BE INSTALLED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH PART H OF THE BUILDING

REGULATIONS AND BS EN 752 & 12056.

9. PRIVATE DRAINAGE TO BE UPVC PIPES WITH GRP OR

UPVC INSPECTION CHAMBERS. SYSTEM DESIGN &

CONSTRUCTION TO CONFORM WITH MANUFACTURER'S

INSTRUCTIONS & "GOOD PRACTICE GUIDE".

10. PROPOSED SITE LAYOUT TAKEN FROM FCC

ENVIRONMENT (UK) LIMITED DRAWING 'PROPOSED

HWRC LAYOUT & SECTION (OPTION 2) (REF: EC-18037

S01 151, NOV 2019).

11. PROPOSED SITE LEVELS TAKEN FROM TERRACONSULT

DRAWING 'CROSS SECTIONS THROUGH EXISTING AND

PROPOSED HWRC LAYOUT' (REF: 4557/1/003 REV D, NOV

2019).

12. EXISTING DRAINAGE INFORMATION TAKEN FROM

SOUTHERN WATER SEWER RECORD EXTRACT (REF:

346026, JUL 2019).

13. CHANNEL DRAINAGE, CELLULAR STORAGE, BYPASS

SEPARATORS AND FLOW CONTROL DEVICES TO BE

INSTALLED AS PER MANUFACTURER INSTRUCTIONS.

P
age 77

AutoCAD SHX Text
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
20.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
20.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
20.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
20.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
21.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
22.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
28.0



A

N

L

E

U

E

E

S

N

V

U

C

A

R

T

E

C

R

O

P

Y

E

S

L

L
I
P

H
O

O
K

 
W

A
Y

ST LEONARDS RD

L
A

V
E

R
S

T
O

K
E

 
R

O
A

D

Application Boundary

Other Land within

Control of the Applicant

p  l  a  n  n  i  n  g         e  n  v  i  r  o  n  m  e  n  t          d  e  s  i  g  n

rev:

status:

drawn by:
date:

drawing title:

project:

client:

scale(s):

drawing number:

Chester Office:

Well House Barns

Bretton

Chester

CH4 0DH

l     Revision History l     Date

checked:

axis

South Manchester Office:

Camellia House

76 Water Lane

Wilmslow

SK9 5BB

0844 8700 007    -    www.axisped.co.uk

This drawing is the copyright of AXIS P.E.D Limited and may not be

loaned, copied or reproduced in any way -or used for any offer,

quote, tender or construction purposes without written consent of

the company to do so

Follow any figured dimensions - do not scale for construction

purposes. IF IN DOUBT ASK.

FCC Environment

Allington HWRC

Statutory Plan

February 2020

HM AB

2566-01-02

1:2500@A3

For Planning

B

Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of HMSO.  © Crown copyright & database right 2019.  All rights reserved.  Ordnance Survey Licence number AL 100036678.

N

Q:\2551-2600\2566-01 Allington HWRC\Dwgs\CAD\2566-01-02 Statutory Plan Rev B.dwg

0 50 100 150 200 250m

P
age 78

hunjah01_10
Text Box
Received - 3 April 2020
Planning Applications Group



Client

Scale

File

Date

Drawn

Engineer

Checked

Site

@ A1

Title

Bold Business Centre, Bold Lane,
Sutton, St Helens WA9 4TX

Notes

DRAFT

Rev

Drawing No.

Date Description

Z:\Jobs\4557 - Allington HWRC\8 - Drawings\Drawings\series 1 HWRC and 4th Line

©
 C

op
yr

ig
ht

 T
er

ra
Co

ns
ul

t L
im

ite
d 

- N
ot

 to
 b

e 
co

pi
ed

 o
r r

ep
ro

du
ce

d 
in

 a
ny

 w
ay

 o
r f

or
m

 w
ith

ou
t p

rio
r w

rit
te

n 
co

ns
en

t f
ro

m
 T

er
ra

co
ns

ul
t L

im
ite

d

4557.1.011 HWRC Layout with Fill Rev A

As Shown

4557/1/011

01/20
GH

JB

Allington HWRC

Proposed HWRC Layout
with Fill Deposition

1. Survey information supplied by FCC
Environment. Drawing refs: 1185-ALLINGTON
SURVEY JAN 2013 Plant.dxf, Allington current
levels.dwg & EC-18037-102-S06 (allington Site
layout).

2. Do not scale

3. All dimensions are in millimetres and all levels
are in metres above Ordnance datum

4. Any anomalies on this drawing are to be
brought to the attention of Terraconsult Ltd

5. Total cut volume = 52,920m3

6. Platform Area = 10,725m2

Legend
Existing ground contours

Proposed HWRC layout contours

FCC Environment (UK) Limited
3 Sidings Court, White Rose Way, Doncaster. DN4 5NU

Environment

Proposed Platform Area

Nature Conservation Site

Proposed HWRC Deposition contours

A 03/20 Fill area amended

P
age 79

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
10.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
15.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
20.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
20.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
20.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
11.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
12.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
13.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
14.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
16.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
17.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
18.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
18.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
18.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
19.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
19.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
19.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
21.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
21.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
21.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
22.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
22.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
22.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
22.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
22.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
34.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
34.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
34.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
34.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
39.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
39.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
10.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
15.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
15.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
15.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
15.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
20.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
20.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
20.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
20.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
20.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
20.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
20.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
20.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
20.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
20.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
20.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
11.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
11.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
11.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
12.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
12.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
12.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
13.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
13.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
13.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
13.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
14.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
14.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
14.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
14.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
14.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
16.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
16.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
16.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
16.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
16.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
17.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
17.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
17.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
17.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
17.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
18.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
18.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
18.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
18.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
18.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
18.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
18.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
18.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
18.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
19.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
19.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
19.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
19.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
19.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
19.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
19.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
19.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
19.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
19.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
19.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
19.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
21.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
21.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
21.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
21.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
21.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
21.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
21.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
21.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
21.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
21.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
21.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
21.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
21.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
21.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
21.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
22.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
22.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
22.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
22.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
22.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
22.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
22.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
22.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
22.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
22.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
22.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
22.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
22.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
22.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
34.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
34.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
34.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
34.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
34.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
34.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
34.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
34.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
34.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
34.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
34.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
34.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
34.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
34.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_458
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_459
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_460
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_461
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_462
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_464
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_465
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_466
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_467
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_468
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_469
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_470
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_471
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_472
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_473
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_474
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_475
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_476
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_477
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_478
39.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_479
39.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_480
39.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_481
39.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_482
39.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_483
39.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_484
39.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_485
39.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_486
39.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_487
39.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_488
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_489
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_490
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_491
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_492
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_493
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_494
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_495
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_496
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_497
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_498
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_499
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_500
573500mE

AutoCAD SHX Text_501
573600mE

AutoCAD SHX Text_502
573700mE

AutoCAD SHX Text_503
573800mE

AutoCAD SHX Text_504
573900mE

AutoCAD SHX Text_505
574000mE

AutoCAD SHX Text_506
574100mE

AutoCAD SHX Text_507
157600mN

AutoCAD SHX Text_508
157700mN

AutoCAD SHX Text_509
157800mN

AutoCAD SHX Text_510
157900mN

AutoCAD SHX Text_511
158000mN

AutoCAD SHX Text_512
158100mN

AutoCAD SHX Text_513
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_514
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_515
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_516
40.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_517
40.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_518
40.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_519
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_520
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_521
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_522
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_523
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_524
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_525
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_526
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_527
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_528
34.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_529
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_530
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_531
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_532
39.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_533
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_534
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_535
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_536
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_537
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_538
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_539
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_540
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_541
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_542
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_543
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_544
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_545
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_546
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_547
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_548
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_549
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_550
36.0

hunjah01_11
Text Box
Received - 3 April 2020
Planning Applications Group



Car Park

S

t
a

f
f
 
C

a

r
 
P

a

r
k

Lagoon

Warehouse

Distribution

Sainsbury

L
A

V
E

R
S

T
O

K
E

 
R

O
A

D

Whatman House

1

8

2
0

2

4

2

4

2

2

Store

Store

Temp'

WC

Temp'

Offices

Gu

Gu

MH

MH

MH

MH

HV Equipment

Con't

Box

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

COACH

MH

Cont'

Box

Cont'

Box

MH

MH

MH

Cont'

Box

BT IC

Sign

Sign

MH

BT IC

BT IC

MH

MH

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Cont'

Box

MH

MH

Gu

Gu

Gu

MH

MH

MH

Gu

Gu

MH

Sign

Gu

BT IC

MH

MH

MH

MH

Gu

Gu

Gu

MH

MH

Cont'

Box

BT IC

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

3

5

6

8

9

10

11

12

15

16

18

19

20

23

24

25

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

31
32

33

1

16

30

O
p
e
r
a
t
i
o
n
s
 
A

r
e
a

C
R

C
 
F

a
c
i
l
i
t
y

U
p

D
o
w

n

S
t
a
f
f
 
C

a
r
 
P

a
r
k

P
r
o
p
o
s
e
d
 
R

e
 
U

s
e
 
A

r
e
a

U
n
l
o
a
d
i
n
g

O
p
e
r
a
t
i
o
n
s
 
A

r
e
a

R
e
-
U

s
e
 
S

h
o
p

c
a
n
o
p
y
 
a
b
o
v
e

c
a
n
o
p
y

a
b
o
v
e

b
i
c
y
c
l
e
 
s
h
e
l
t
e
r

b
i
c
y
c
l
e

s
h
e
l
t
e
r

Stockyard

1
6

2
0

2

4

2

4

3

6

2

6

2
6

2

8

2
8

3

2

3
2

34

3

8

3

8

36

3

0

3

0

3

4

2

4

2

6

3

2

F

r

e

n

c

h

 

D

r

a

i

n

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

MH

MH

Sign

Gu

MH

MH

MH

Fuel

Oil

Gas Store

MH

Container Store

3

3

.

0

3

4

3

6

Seed mix to be chosen to

create Lowland Meadows

UKBAP priority habitat

158200N

158300N

Works / Depot

Woodland

Car Park

Staff Car Park

5
7

4
2

0
0

E

Stockyard

Pond

Lagoon

M20 MOTORWAY

Warehouse

Distribution

Sainsbury

Holidays

James Villa

A
ir
 C

o
n
d
e
n
s
o
r

L
I
P

H
O

O
K

 
W

A
Y

Centre 3000

L
A

V
E

R
S

T
O

K
E

 R
O

A
D

Whatman House

ST LAURENCE AVENUE

HQ

Traffic

Police

LO

N

D

O

N

 R

O

A

D

Caravan Park

5
7

4
1

0
0

E

5
7

4
0

0
0

E

5
7

3
9

0
0

E

5
7

3
8

0
0

E

5
7

3
7

0
0

E

5
7

3
6

0
0

E

5
7

3
5

0
0

E

5
7

3
4

0
0

E

5
7

3
3

0
0

E

158100N

158000N

157900N

157800N

157700N

157600N

157500N

16

1
6

1

8

1

8

2
0

20

2
0

1

0

12

14

1

4

1

4

1

6

1

6

1

6

2

4

2

4

2

4

2

4

2

4

2
2

22

2

2

36

3

6

3

6

2

6

2
6

26

2

8

2
8

28

3

2

3
2

3

2

34

3

4

34

3

8

3
8

38

3

8

38

36

3

6

36

3

0

3

0

3

0

34

3

4

3

4

1

8

1

8

1

8

2

0

2

0

20

2

0

22

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2
4

2

4

24

2

4

2

4

2

6

2

6

2

6

26

2
6

2

8

2

8

2

8

2

8

30

3
0

3

0

30

3

0

3

2

3

2

3

2

3

2

Gu

Store

Store

Temp'

WC

Temp'

Offices

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

GuGuGuGuGuGuGuGu

French Drain

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

MH

MH

MH /FH

MH

Sign

O/H Sign

Sign

Gu

MH

MHMHMH

HV Equipment

Con't

Box

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH MH

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

Gu

Gu

GuGuGu

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

MH

MH

MH

Gu

MHMH

MH

MH MH

MHMH

MH

Gu

Gu

Gu

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

A/C Units

MH

MH

Fuel

Oil

Gas Store

MH

MH MH

MH

Container Store

MH

MH

MH MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

COACH

MHCont'

Box

Cont'

Box MH

MH

MH

Cont'

Box

BT IC

Sign

Sign

MH

BT IC

BT IC

MH

MH

Gu

Gu

GuGu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Gu

Cont'

BoxMH

MH

Gu

Gu

Gu

MH

MH

MH

Gu

Gu

MH

Sign

Gu

BT IC

MH

MH

MH

MH

Gu

Gu

Gu

MH

MH

Cont'

Box

BT IC

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

BT IC

BT IC

could not survey due to

under growth and pond

could not survey due to

under growth and pond

could not survey due to

under growth

3

3

.0

3

6

3
8

3

4

3

4

3

6

3

5

6

8

9

10

11

12

15

16

18

19

20

23

24

25

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

31 32 33

1

16

30

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
 A

re
a

C
R

C
 F

ac
ili

ty

U
p

D

ow

n

S
ta

ff 
C

ar
 P

ar
k

P
ro

po
se

d 
R

e 
U

se
 A

re
a

U
nl

oa
di

ng

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
 A

re
a

R
e-

U
se

 S
ho

p

can
opy

 ab
ove

can
opy

abo
ve

bicy
cle 

she
lter

bicy

cle

she
lter

Seed mix to be chosen to

create Lowland Meadows

UKBAP priority habitat

p  l  a  n  n  i  n  g         e  n  v  i  r  o  n  m  e  n  t          d  e  s  i  g  n

rev:

status:

drawn by:
date:

drawing title:

project:

client:

scale(s):

drawing number:

Chester Office:

Well House Barns

Bretton

Chester

CH4 0DH

l     Revision History l     Date

checked:

axis

South Manchester Office:

Camellia House

76 Water Lane

Wilmslow

SK9 5BB

0844 8700 007    -    www.axisped.co.uk

This drawing is the copyright of AXIS P.E.D Limited and may not be

loaned, copied or reproduced in any way -or used for any offer,

quote, tender or construction purposes without written consent of

the company to do so

Follow any figured dimensions - do not scale for construction

purposes. IF IN DOUBT ASK.

FCC Environment

Allington HWRC

Illustrative Landscape Proposals

December 2019

AM JM

2566-01-01
1:1250@A3

For Planning

B

A Amended to reflect revised fill area 24.03.20

B Extent of retained vegetation increased 23.06.20

N

Q:\2551-2600\2566-01 Allington HWRC\Dwgs\CAD\2566-01-01 Illustrative Landscape Proposals_revB.dwg

HWRC Boundary

Retained Existing

Vegetation

Extent of

Re-engineered

Earthworks

Proposed Native

Woodland

0 25 50 75 100 125m

Proposed Species-rich

Grassland

2.

1.

INSET 1 INSET 2

P
age 80

AutoCAD SHX Text_551
21.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_552
21.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_553
29.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_554
29.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_555
29.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_556
29.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_557
28.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_558
28.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_559
28.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_560
27.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_561
27.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_562
27.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_563
27.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_564
27.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_565
27.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_566
27.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_567
26.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_568
25.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_569
24.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_570
23.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_571
26.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_572
25.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_573
21.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_574
21.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_575
21.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_576
28.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_577
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_578
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_579
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_580
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_581
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_582
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_583
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_584
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_585
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_586
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_587
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_588
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_589
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_590
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_591
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_592
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_593
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_594
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_595
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_596
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_597
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_598
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_599
27.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_600
28.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_601
28.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_602
28.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_603
28.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_604
28.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_605
28.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_606
28.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_607
29.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_608
28.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_609
28.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_610
30.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_611
30.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_612
29.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_613
29.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_614
35.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_615
34.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_616
34.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_617
34.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_618
34.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_619
34.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_620
34.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_621
39.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_622
39.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_623
39.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_624
38.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_625
39.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_626
40.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_627
40.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_628
40.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_629
39.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_630
39.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_631
39.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_632
39.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_633
37.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_634
34.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_635
33.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_636
36.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_637
36.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_638
36.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_639
36.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_640
37.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_641
39.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_642
39.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_643
33.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_644
35.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_645
34.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_646
35.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_647
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_648
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_649
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_650
40.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_651
40.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_652
40.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_653
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_654
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_655
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_656
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_657
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_658
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_659
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_660
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_661
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_662
34.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_663
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_664
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_665
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_666
39.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_667
20.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_668
21.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_669
21.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_670
20.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_671
20.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_672
21.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_673
20.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_674
21.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_675
21.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_676
21.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_677
30.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_678
29.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_679
29.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_680
29.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_681
29.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_682
29.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_683
28.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_684
28.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_685
28.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_686
27.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_687
27.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_688
27.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_689
27.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_690
27.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_691
27.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_692
27.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_693
28.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_694
26.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_695
25.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_696
24.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_697
23.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_698
26.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_699
25.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_700
21.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_701
21.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_702
21.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_703
21.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_704
21.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_705
21.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_706
20.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_707
21.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_708
21.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_709
21.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_710
21.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_711
21.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_712
21.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_713
21.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_714
20.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_715
21.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_716
22.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_717
22.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_718
23.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_719
23.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_720
27.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_721
28.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_722
28.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_723
28.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_724
28.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_725
28.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_726
28.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_727
28.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_728
29.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_729
28.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_730
28.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_731
31.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_732
31.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_733
28.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_734
29.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_735
29.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_736
30.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_737
30.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_738
28.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_739
26.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_740
25.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_741
25.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_742
25.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_743
24.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_744
25.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_745
25.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_746
25.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_747
25.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_748
25.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_749
25.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_750
26.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_751
27.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_752
29.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_753
30.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_754
30.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_755
29.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_756
29.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_757
34.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_758
34.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_759
33.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_760
33.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_761
33.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_762
33.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_763
34.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_764
33.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_765
35.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_766
34.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_767
34.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_768
34.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_769
34.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_770
34.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_771
34.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_772
34.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_773
34.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_774
34.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_775
30.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_776
39.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_777
39.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_778
39.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_779
38.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_780
39.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_781
40.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_782
40.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_783
39.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_784
39.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_785
39.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_786
38.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_787
38.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_788
38.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_789
38.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_790
38.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_791
37.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_792
37.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_793
32.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_794
31.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_795
35.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_796
36.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_797
37.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_798
37.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_799
38.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_800
38.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_801
38.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_802
38.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_803
38.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_804
38.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_805
39.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_806
40.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_807
39.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_808
39.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_809
39.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_810
39.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_811
37.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_812
34.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_813
33.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_814
34.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_815
33.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_816
33.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_817
33.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_818
33.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_819
33.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_820
32.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_821
32.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_822
32.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_823
31.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_824
31.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_825
31.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_826
30.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_827
30.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_828
30.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_829
33.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_830
33.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_831
34.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_832
34.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_833
34.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_834
35.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_835
36.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_836
36.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_837
35.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_838
36.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_839
36.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_840
36.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_841
36.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_842
37.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_843
39.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_844
39.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_845
33.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_846
35.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_847
34.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_848
35.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_849
35.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_850
35.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_851
35.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_852
34.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_853
33.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_854
33.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_855
33.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_856
33.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_857
33.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_858
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_859
34.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_860
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_861
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_862
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_863
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_864
33.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_865
33.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_866
33.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_867
32.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_868
33.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_869
33.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_870
34.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_871
33.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_872
21.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_873
25.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_874
22.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_875
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_876
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_877
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_878
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_879
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_880
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_881
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_882
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_883
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_884
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_885
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_886
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_887
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_888
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_889
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_890
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_891
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_892
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_893
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_894
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_895
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_896
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_897
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_898
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_899
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_900
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_901
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_902
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_903
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_904
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_905
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_906
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_907
25.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_908
30.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_909
35.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_910
40.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_911
40.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_912
40.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_913
23.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_914
24.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_915
26.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_916
27.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_917
28.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_918
29.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_919
31.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_920
32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_921
33.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_922
34.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_923
36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_924
37.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_925
38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_926
39.0

hunjah01_12
Text Box
Received - 23 June 2020
Planning Applications Group



A

B

R

A

N

L

E

25m

U

E

E

S

N
V

U

30m

C A
R

T

LONDON ROAD

E

Mast

C
H

N C
E

A
V

E
N

U
E

Balancing

C

R
O

P

Ppg Sta

Y
E

Pond
S

L

L

N

E
S

H

S

E
O

I L

C

O

R

R

R

T

C

U

B

E

H
G

D

U

43m

B
L

U
E C

R
E

S

S
T

O
N

E
R

O
A

D

B

K
I L

N
D

O
W

N
C

Allington
A

O

L
A

D

R

M

T
NH R

A20

E
B

CASTLE
 R

OAD
E

Y

N

S
F

O

L
U

L
L I N

G

CHERITON W
AY

DARGATE CL

Primary
School

LI
PH

O
O

K 
W

AY

25m

ST LEONARDS RD

25m

LA
VE

R
ST

O
KE

 R
O

AD Centre 3000

Depot

Conveyors

S T L A U R E

Enterprise Park
Nimbus

BS

36m

ESS

43m

B
E

L
L

W
Y

PIPPIN PL

C
A

R
O

L I N
E

F
O

R
D

W
I C H

C L

Facility
Sports

L

C
L

I V
E

A
R

L

N
A

38m

U

Y

Balancing

A
W

R

Pond

D

B

Y

25m

Track

Track

Mud

River Medway

Path

MLW

M H W

Conveyors

Conveyor

FB

Cobtree
Roundabout

Track

W

Path The Running
Horse Roundabout

ESS

Path

5

H

A
R

B
O

U
R

A
N

E

M20

H
A

R
B

O
U

R
L

A
N

E

ESS

C
A

S
T

O
R

P
K

D

Pond
Balancing

C
O

L
D

A2
0

Facility
Sports

Track

C
O

L
D

H
A

R
B

O
U

R

L
A

N
E

Preston Lodge
Little

C
O

L
D

Tr
ac

k

Caravan Site

Mast

L

Centre
EAST PARK ROAD

N C

(Hospl)

The Churchill

4

500m
Greensand Fruit
Belt Malling

Urban area

1

2
3

500m

250m

250m

Urban area

Medway Valley Lower

5

Q:\2551-2600\2566-01 Allington HWRC\Dwgs\CAD\LVIA\Figure 1 Landscape and Visual Context.dwg

Landscape and Visual Context

Scale
1:5,000@A3

Date
December 2019

Allington Household Waste
Recycling Centre

Allington Site Boundary

Key:

Extent of Proposed HWRC
Development

N
0 250 500 750 1000m

Viewpoint Location1

VIEWPOINTS

1. Laverstoke Road, opposite new
entrance

2. St Laurence Avenue, outside public
house

3. A20, London Road near police station
4. A20, near M20 junction
5. Medway Valley Walk, M20 footbridge

PHOTOGRAPHS

A. North Downs Way, Blue Bell Hill
B. North Downs Way, Kit's Coty House

Figure 1

The Orchards Residential
Development

Photograph LocationA

INSET: 1:50,000@A3

Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of HMSO.  © Crown copyright & database right 2019.  All rights reserved.  Ordnance Survey Licence number AL 100036678.

Kent Landscape Character
Areas

Viewpoint omitted from LVIA1

Kent Downs Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty
(inset only)

Public Right of Way

P
age 81



Q:\2551-2600\2566-01 Allington HWRC\Dwgs\CAD\LVIA\Figure 2 Viewpoints.dwg

ALLINGTON HOUSEHOLD WASTE RECYCLING CENTRE
Figure 2a Viewpoint 1: Laverstoke Road, near Site entrance

Visualisation Type: Type 1
Projection: Planar

Enlargement Factor: 100%
Date and Time of Photograph: 01/08/19 13:35

Camera: Canon EOS 5D FFS
Lens: Canon EF 50mm 1:1.8 II

HFoV: 39.6°
Direction of View: North-north-west

Print on A3 paper.
View at a comfortable arm's length

Baseline Photograph

Allington WMF
entrance

Approx. location of
Proposed Development

P
age 82



Q:\2551-2600\2566-01 Allington HWRC\Dwgs\CAD\LVIA\Figure 2 Viewpoints.dwg

ALLINGTON HOUSEHOLD WASTE RECYCLING CENTRE
Figure 2b Viewpoint 4: A20 London Road, near M20 junction

Visualisation Type: Type 1
Projection: Planar

Enlargement Factor: 100%
Date and Time of Photograph: 01/08/19 13:55

Camera: Canon EOS 5D FFS
Lens: Canon EF 50mm 1:1.8 II

HFoV: 39.6°
Direction of View: East

Print on A3 paper.
View at a comfortable arm's length

Baseline Photograph

Allington WMF

Proposed Development screened
from view by vegetation

P
age 83



Q:\2551-2600\2566-01 Allington HWRC\Dwgs\CAD\LVIA\Figure 2 Viewpoints.dwg

ALLINGTON HOUSEHOLD WASTE RECYCLING CENTRE
Figure 2c Viewpoint 5: Medway Valley Walk, M20 footbridge

Visualisation Type: Type 1
Projection: Planar

Enlargement Factor: 100%
Date and Time of Photograph: 01/08/19 12:15

Camera: Canon EOS 5D FFS
Lens: Canon EF 50mm 1:1.8 II

HFoV: 39.6°
Direction of View: South-south-west

Print on A3 paper.
View at a comfortable arm's length

Baseline Photograph

Allington WMF

Proposed Development screened
from view by tree coverP

age 84



Q:\2551-2600\2566-01 Allington HWRC\Dwgs\CAD\LVIA\Figure 2 Viewpoints.dwg

ALLINGTON HOUSEHOLD WASTE RECYCLING CENTRE
Figure 2d Photograph A: North Downs Way, Blue Bell Hill

Visualisation Type: Type 1
Projection: Planar

Enlargement Factor: 100%
Date and Time of Photograph: 01/08/19 15:50

Camera: Canon EOS 5D FFS
Lens: Canon EF 50mm 1:1.8 II

HFoV: 39.6°
Direction of View: South

Print on A3 paper.
View at a comfortable arm's length

Baseline Photograph

Allington WMF

Approx. location of
Proposed Development

P
age 85



Q:\2551-2600\2566-01 Allington HWRC\Dwgs\CAD\LVIA\Figure 2 Viewpoints.dwg

ALLINGTON HOUSEHOLD WASTE RECYCLING CENTRE
Figure 2e Photograph B: North Downs Way, Kit's Coty House

Visualisation Type: Type 1
Projection: Planar

Enlargement Factor: 100%
Date and Time of Photograph: 01/08/19 15:30

Camera: Canon EOS 5D FFS
Lens: Canon EF 50mm 1:1.8 II

HFoV: 39.6°
Direction of View: South

Print on A3 paper.
View at a comfortable arm's length

Baseline Photograph

Allington WMF

Approx. location of
Proposed Development

P
age 86



SECTION D 
DEVELOPMENT TO BE CARRIED OUT BY THE COUNTY COUNCIL 

 
Background Documents: the deposited documents; views and representations received as 
referred to in the reports and included in the development proposals dossier for each case; 
and other documents as might be additionally indicated.  

 

D1.1 
 

Item D1 

New two-storey teaching block of eight classrooms with 

associated facilities; a new nursery block; nursery and 

reception external play space; ancillary car parking at 

Sunny Bank Primary School, Sunny Bank, Murston, 

Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3QN - SW/20/501709 

(KCC/SW/0079/2020) 

 
 
A report by Head of Planning Applications Group to Planning Applications Committee on 15 
July 2020 
 
Application by KCC - East Kent - Children, Young People & Education for new two-storey 
teaching block of eight classrooms with associated facilities; a new nursery block; nursery 
and reception external play space; ancillary car parking at Sunny Bank Primary School, 
Sunny Bank, Murston, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3QN - SW/20/501709 
(KCC/SW/0079/2020) 
 
Recommendation: Permission be granted subject to conditions. 
 

Local Member: Mr Jason Clinch Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Site 

 
1. The school site is 0.267ha situated in Murston, north-east Sittingbourne. The site is laid 

out in an “L” shape with the main school buildings in the north-east corner and areas of 
playing field/grassed amenity space spanning to the south and west. The site entrance 
is immediately adjacent to Gorse Road and residential developments to the north, 
although vehicular access is via Sunny Bank to the west. Further residential 
development surrounds the site to the east and west whilst the site wraps around 
Murston All Saints Church to the south-west.  

 
2. The existing school building comprises a contemporary, flat-roofed design with some 

hard-playing surface to the immediate south. Currently, 8 formalised parking spaces 
serve the school, including 1 disabled space.  

 
3. The School playing field is allocated as a Local Green Space within the Swale Borough 

Council Local Plan (2017). 

Page 87

Agenda Item D1



Item D1 

New two-storey teaching block of eight classrooms with associated 

facilities; a new nursery block; nursery and reception external 

playspace; ancillary car parking at Sunny Bank Primary School, 

Sunny Bank, Murston, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3QN - SW/20/501709 

(KCC/SW/0079/2020) 

 

D1.2 
 

General Location Plan 
 

 

Page 88



Item D1 

New two-storey teaching block of eight classrooms with associated 

facilities; a new nursery block; nursery and reception external 

playspace; ancillary car parking at Sunny Bank Primary School, 

Sunny Bank, Murston, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3QN - SW/20/501709 

(KCC/SW/0079/2020) 

 

D1.3 
 

Background / Recent Site History 

 
4. Sunny Bank Primary School was established in 2016 after the amalgamation of Murston 

Junior School and Murston Infant School and a maintained nursery. The junior school, 
infant school and nursey are currently located  at different sites  in the locality, with the 
nursery and infant school being situated on Church Road to the south west of the main 
school site. This proposal aims to bring the school together on one site, as well as 
expanding pupil capacity to accommodate predicted local need. 

 
5. Positive feedback was received on the proposals to amalgamate the school sites during 

a public consultation session prior to the submission of the application. There were 
concerns raised at this session over the impact of increased numbers of staff who may 
park on surrounding residential streets, and so the scheme was revised to increase the 
size of the school car park. 

 

Proposal 

 
6. Planning permission is sought for a new teaching block and nursey building at Sunny 

Bank School. The scheme comprises the creation of a new two-storey classroom block 
consisting of 2 Reception classrooms, 2 KS1 classrooms and 4 KS2 classrooms, staff 
offices, group rooms and ancillary spaces. The classroom block would be sited to the 
south-east of the existing school buildings on an area of hard playing surface and would 
be linked by a covered walkway. 7 Photovoltaic panels would be installed on the roof to 
provide the school with a source of renewable energy. 

 
7. A new nursery building would be provided on a grassed area to the east of the main 

school building. It would comprise a large learning space, staff offices, a kitchen (for 
teaching activities only and school meals) and ancillary spaces. The works would also 
include the creation of a new external play space for the nursery and reception classes; 
both separate and one large combined space.  

 
8. The scheme would enable the amalgamation of the school onto one site, whilst allowing 

it to expand from 1.5FE to 2FE to meet the predicted intake demands from local 
development. This would see an increase in pupil roll to 420; the roll at the junior school 
site is currently 222 The nursery currently accommodates 45 part-time places (25 in the 
morning and 20 in the afternoon), this would be increased to 30 in the morning and 30 in 
the afternoon. The number of staff at the Junior school is currently 37, this would 
increase to 58 FTE when combined with the infant and nursery school and with the 
school expansion.  

 
9. In order to accommodate the new and provide properly for the existing members of staff, 

the proposal seeks to expand the school car park to provide an additional 37 spaces, 
including two disabled bays and four bays equipped with electronic vehicle charging 
points. The expansion of the school car park would see a reconfiguration of the existing 
car park, utilisation of hardstanding at the rear of the school buildings as well as 
increasing perimeter fencing to include an area of land adjacent to Sunny Bank which is 
owned by the school.  

 

Page 89



Item D1 

New two-storey teaching block of eight classrooms with associated 

facilities; a new nursery block; nursery and reception external 

playspace; ancillary car parking at Sunny Bank Primary School, 

Sunny Bank, Murston, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3QN - SW/20/501709 

(KCC/SW/0079/2020) 

 

D1.4 
 

Site Location Plan 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 90



Item D1 

New two-storey teaching block of eight classrooms with associated 

facilities; a new nursery block; nursery and reception external 

playspace; ancillary car parking at Sunny Bank Primary School, 

Sunny Bank, Murston, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3QN - SW/20/501709 

(KCC/SW/0079/2020) 

 

D1.5 
 

Proposed Site Layout 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 91



Item D1 

New two-storey teaching block of eight classrooms with associated 

facilities; a new nursery block; nursery and reception external 

playspace; ancillary car parking at Sunny Bank Primary School, 

Sunny Bank, Murston, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3QN - SW/20/501709 

(KCC/SW/0079/2020) 

 

D1.6 
 

 
Proposed Elevations 
 

 

Page 92



Item D1 

New two-storey teaching block of eight classrooms with associated 

facilities; a new nursery block; nursery and reception external 

playspace; ancillary car parking at Sunny Bank Primary School, 

Sunny Bank, Murston, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3QN - SW/20/501709 

(KCC/SW/0079/2020) 

 

D1.7 
 

Planning Policy  

 
10. The most relevant Government Guidance and Development Plan Policies in respect of 

this application are summarised below: 
 

(i) The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) February 2019 and The 
National Planning Policy Guidance (March 2014), sets out the Government’s 
planning policy guidance for England, at the heart of which is a presumption in favour 
of sustainable development. The guidance is a material consideration for the 
determination of planning applications but does not change the statutory status of the 
development plan which remains the starting point for decision making. However, the 
weight given to development plan policies will depend on their consistency with the 
NPPF (the closer the policies in the development plan to policies in the NPPF, the 
greater weight that they may be given).  

 
There is an expectation within the NPPF that planning decisions should play an 
active role in guiding development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so 
should take into account the local circumstances, to reflect the character, needs and 
opportunities of each area. Furthermore, Local Planning Authorities should approach 
decision on proposed development in a positive and creative way and look for 
solutions rather than problems. Decision makers at every level should seek to 
approve applications for sustainable development where possible. 

 
In terms of delivering sustainable development in relation to this proposal, the 
following NPPF guidance and objectives are of particular relevance:  

 
- The importance of a sufficient choice of school places being available to meet 

the needs of existing and new communities and that great weight should be 
given to the need to create, expand or alter schools; and 

- Addressing potential impacts of development on transport networks and ensuring 
that opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public transport use are 
identified and pursued as well as ensuring that safe and suitable access to the 
site can be achieved for all users; and 

- That patterns of movement, streets, parking and other transportation 
considerations are integral to the design of schemes and contribute to making 
high quality places; and 

- Ensuring that the design of the development is sympathetic to the local character 
and will function well and add to the overall quality of the area for the long-term, 
and create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote 
health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future 
users; 

- Planning for new development in a way which can help to reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions through its location, orientation and design. 

 
(ii) Policy Statement – Planning for Schools Development (15 August 2011) which 

sets out the Government’s commitment to support the development of state-funded 
schools and their delivery through the planning system. In particular, the Policy states 

Page 93



Item D1 

New two-storey teaching block of eight classrooms with associated 

facilities; a new nursery block; nursery and reception external 

playspace; ancillary car parking at Sunny Bank Primary School, 

Sunny Bank, Murston, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3QN - SW/20/501709 

(KCC/SW/0079/2020) 

 

D1.8 
 

that the Government wants to enable new schools to open, good schools to expand 
and all schools to adapt to improve their facilities. This will allow for more provision 
and greater diversity of provision in the state funded school sector, to meet both 
demographic needs, provide increased choice and create higher standards. 

 
(iii) Development Plan Policies 

 
Swale Borough Council Local Plan “Bearing Fruits 2013” (Adopted July 2017) 
 
Policy CP4 Requiring Good Design – Development proposals will create safe, 
accessible, comfortable, varied and attractive places; be appropriate to the context in 
respect of materials, scale, height and massing; make best use of texture, colour, 
pattern, and durability of materials; ensure the long-term maintenance and 
management of buildings and maximise opportunities for including sustainable 
design and construction techniques including the use of recycled and recyclable 
materials, sustainable drainage systems, carbon reduction and minimising waste. 
 
Policy CP6 Community Facilities and Services to meet Local Needs – 
Development proposals will deliver timely infrastructure and safeguard existing 
community services and facilities where they are viable or can be made so unless 
replacement facilities can be provided without leading to any shortfall in provision. 
 
Policy DM6 Managing Transport Demand and Impact - Development proposals 
generating a significant amount of transport movements will be required to support 
their proposal with the preparation of a Transport Assessment (including a Travel 
Plan). Development proposals will demonstrate that opportunities for sustainable 
transport modes have been taken up and include facilities for charging plug-in and 
other ultra low emission vehicles. 
 
Policy DM7 Vehicle Parking - Vehicle parking for non-residential uses will take into 
account the accessibility of the development and availability of public transport, and 
on-street car parking must not be exacerbated to an unacceptable degree. 
 
Policy DM14 General Development Criteria – All development proposals will, as 
appropriate, accord with the policies and proposals of the adopted Development Plan 
(including any relevant Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance) unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise; Include information sufficient to enable 
the Council to determine the application in conjunction with the Council’s published 
Local List of requirements; respond to the constraints and opportunities posed from 
climate change and natural processes; Be both well sited and of a scale, design, 
appearance and detail that is sympathetic and appropriate to the location; cause no 
significant harm to amenity and other sensitive uses or areas and achieve safe 
vehicular access, together with parking facilities. 
 
Policy DM18 – Local Green Space (Allocation) - Within designated Local Green 
Spaces planning permission will not be granted other than for the carrying out of an 
engineering or other operation or the making of any material change of use of land, 
provided that it maintains the openness and character of the Local Green Space. 

Page 94



Item D1 

New two-storey teaching block of eight classrooms with associated 

facilities; a new nursery block; nursery and reception external 

playspace; ancillary car parking at Sunny Bank Primary School, 

Sunny Bank, Murston, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3QN - SW/20/501709 

(KCC/SW/0079/2020) 

 

D1.9 
 

 
Policy DM19 Sustainable Design and Construction - Development proposals will 
include measures to address and adapt to climate change in accordance with 
national planning policy and guidance and, where appropriate, will incorporate the 
use of materials and construction techniques which increase energy efficiency and 
thermal performance, and reduce carbon emissions in new development over the 
long term. Development proposals should also, where appropriate, be designed to 
take advantage of low and zero carbon energy. All new non-residential developments 
will aim to achieve BREEAM ‘Good’ standard or equivalent as a minimum. 
 
Policy DM 21 Water, Flooding and Drainage – Development proposals will include, 
where possible, sustainable drainage systems to restrict runoff to an appropriate 
discharge rate and integrate drainage measures within the planning and design of the 
project to ensure that the most sustainable option can be delivered. 

 

Consultations 

 
11. Swale Borough Council raise no objection to the proposals provided that due 

consideration is given to the impact on parking for nearby residents, and the impact of 
construction operations. 

 
Environment Agency raise no objection subject to the submission of a remediation 
strategy to deal with the risks associated with any unidentified contamination of the site 
prior to commencement. They also request several other conditions relating to 
contamination and drainage. 
 
KCC Transportation Planning raise no objection subject to the submission of a 
construction management strategy, several conditions relating to parking provision 
access, and cycle parking, and the submission of a School Travel Plan prior to 
occupation, which is to be annually reviewed thereafter.  
 
Sustainable Drainage raise no objection subject to the submission of a surface water 
drainage strategy prior to commencement.  
 
KCC Biodiversity raise no objection subject to a condition requiring the submission of 
details on biodiversity enhancement within 6 months of the development being 
commenced.  
 
Amey - Landscaping recommend the submission of a tree planting plan and a plans 
detailing tree constraints and protection to be submitted.  

 

Local Member 

 
12. The local County Member for Sittingbourne North, Mr Jason Clinch was notified of the 

application on 21 May 2020. He drew attention to local concern that the proposals have 
significantly altered from the original application presented at a public viewing at the 
school (in advance of the planning application being submitted). These include an open 
area of grass being converted into a hard standing area and the removal of several 

Page 95



Item D1 

New two-storey teaching block of eight classrooms with associated 

facilities; a new nursery block; nursery and reception external 

playspace; ancillary car parking at Sunny Bank Primary School, 

Sunny Bank, Murston, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3QN - SW/20/501709 

(KCC/SW/0079/2020) 

 

D1.10 
 

mature trees. There are also issues over the location of the proposed bin area and 
access for site traffic.  
 

Publicity 

 
13. The application was publicised by the posting of a site notice near the access at Sunny 

Bank and an advertisement in a local newspaper. 

 

Representations 

 
14. In response to the publicity, 2 letters were received objecting to the application.  
 

The key points raised can be summarised as follows: 
 

- Concern over the area of land at Sunny Bank to be fenced off for school 
parking as the area is currently used for parking by local residents. 

- Local residents would now look onto a fence surrounding this parking area 
which would negatively impact views. 

- There is insufficient parking for residents elsewhere in the area, which is 
exacerbated by school staff parking on residential streets. 

- The construction of the new buildings would negatively impact views from 
neighbouring properties. 

- Construction operations would have a negative impact on local amenity. 
- The expansion of the school would constrain the local highway network.  

 

Discussion 

 
15. In considering this proposal, regard must be had to the Development Plan Policies 

outlined in paragraph (x) above. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act (2004) states that applications must be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Therefore, the 
proposal needs to be considered in the context of the Development Plan Policies, 
Government Guidance and other material planning considerations arising from 
consultation and publicity. In my opinion, the key material planning considerations in this 
particular case comprise need for the development, design, impact on highways, 
sustainability, impact on open space, impact on local amenity, impact on local flood risk 
and water resources and landscaping. 

 
Need 
 
16. As outlined above, there is strong policy support for the provision of state-funded 

schools and the expansion and improvement of their facilities to enable greater diversity 
to meet demographic needs, provide increased choice and create higher standards. 

 
17. Should planning permission be granted, the proposed development would enable the 

School to expand from 1.5 FE (45 pupils per year group) to 2 FE (60 pupils per year 
group). This would ensure that the school could meet future need for additional primary 

Page 96



Item D1 

New two-storey teaching block of eight classrooms with associated 

facilities; a new nursery block; nursery and reception external 

playspace; ancillary car parking at Sunny Bank Primary School, 

Sunny Bank, Murston, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3QN - SW/20/501709 

(KCC/SW/0079/2020) 

 

D1.11 
 

school places linked to new housing development in the vicinity of the school. Swale 
Borough Council’s Local Plan 2017 proposes a total number of 13,192 new dwellings 
over the plan period, 1409 of which are expected to be built in the Sittingbourne east 
area. Whilst the Kent Commissioning Plan for Education Provision envisages a surplus 
of primary school places in the area, this figure does not take into account the 
aforementioned targets for additional housing. Furthermore, the birth rate in Swale 
continues to be above the average of the county, as it has been for the last 8 years.  

 
18. An Education Statement has been prepared in support of the planning application which 

demonstrates that if no provision is made for additional spaces, and housing 
development takes place as planned, there will be a deficit in primary school places by 
2021. The schools’ location means it is well place to accommodate future need in the 
Sittingbourne East area. 

 
19. The proposed development would also see the amalgamation of the junior School, 

infant school and nursery, the latter two of which are currently sited on Church Road to 
the south west. The Church Road site, which was established in the 1860’s, would 
require significant investment to render it suitable for modern long-term use. Should 
planning permission be granted, this proposed development would have adequate 
space to accommodate the junior school, infant school and nursery on a site in the 
ownership of Kent County Council. 

 
20. I therefore consider that the need for the development has been demonstrated, both in 

terms of providing additional pupil spaces and ensuring that all aspects of Sunny Bank 
School are housed on a singular site. For the reasons outlined above, the proposal is 
considered to be in line with relevant policy which affords great weight to the need for 
schools to expand or adapt to meet the needs of communities.  

 
Design 
 
21. The existing Junior School is of a contemporary style, with flat roofs and a sprawling, 

single storey layout. The design of the new buildings has been considered in relation to 
the existing school buildings, using similar external finishes; buff multi brick with 
elements of white shiplap cladding above the windows. The new teaching block would 
be two-storey in contrast to the rest of the school, however a flat roof would be 
employed to reduce the overall size and reflect the existing buildings. The nursery block 
would incorporate a monopitch roof which would pitch upwards toward the existing 
school building. I consider this a good choice in terms of aesthetic as it would assist with 
visually blending the building with the existing school and promoting a sense of 
cohesiveness across the site. Both new buildings would also feature vertical larch timber 
cladding (across the pitch of the nursery building and the second storey of the new 
classroom block). This is considered desirable and is an acceptable design solution. 

 
22. Concern has been raised that the addition of the two new buildings would be detrimental 

to the area and views from neighbouring residential properties, particularly those in the 
Gorse Road and Thistle Walk area. Given the small, single storey nature of the nursery 
building and the complementary design; this is not considered to present an 
unacceptable adverse addition to the vista above and beyond the existing school 

Page 97



Item D1 

New two-storey teaching block of eight classrooms with associated 

facilities; a new nursery block; nursery and reception external 

playspace; ancillary car parking at Sunny Bank Primary School, 

Sunny Bank, Murston, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3QN - SW/20/501709 

(KCC/SW/0079/2020) 

 

D1.12 
 

buildings. With regard to the two-storey teaching block, whilst this would be higher than 
the majority of the existing school buildings, the timber cladding would soften the 
appearance. Furthermore, the proposed development is within an established school 
site, in a fairly densely populated residential area. There is a housing development to to 
the east of the site with a number of two storey dwellings which features in the same line 
of view as the proposed teaching block. Therefore, it is concluded that the addition of 
this building would not feature in excess of the development already in the area and 
would not have an unacceptable impact on terms of design and massing. I therefore 
consider that the design and layout of the proposed development is acceptable in the 
context of the existing school site and surrounding development and planning policy.   

 
Highways 
 
23. The proposal would see an increase in pupil roll from 222 to 420, with an increase in 

staffing numbers from 36.9 FTE to 58 FTE. There would also be additional nursey 
accommodation for 30 places in the morning and afternoon (currently this number is 25 
in the morning and 20 in the afternoon). An increase in staff and pupil numbers will 
unquestionably present some impact on the local highway network which needs to be 
considered. 

 
24. The Transport Assessment submitted in support of the planning application 

demonstrates that the majority of pupils travel to and from school using sustainable 
modes of transport, namely walking. The location of the school in a built up residential 
area naturally lends itself to this arrangement. It is anticipated that the expansion of the 
school would result in an increase in 38 vehicle trips in the morning peak hour and 40 
vehicle trips in the afternoon peak hour; this equates to an average of 3 trips per minute 
where there are currently 2. In light of transport policy considerations and the Highway 
Officer’s advice, this is not considered to be an increase substantial enough to present 
an unacceptable adverse impact on the local highway network. Furthermore, the 
submission of a School Travel Plan would be required, to be updated annually, to 
continue to encourage sustainable modes of transport in future years. 

 
25. Kent County Council Highways Officers are satisfied that the proposal would not unduly 

constrain the local highway network, further stating that the above figures indicate that 
the parking accumulation would be a demand of around an additional 18 vehicles in the 
afternoon, when parents wait for children to be released from school. Highway Officers 
are of the view that there is sufficient capacity in surrounding roads to accommodate 
these vehicles, especially as this generally coincides with a time when local residents 
would be at work. 

 
26. The element of the proposal which seeks to fence off the land adjacent to Sunny Bank 

for school parking represents a profound source of contention within the application. The 
land in question is owned by the County Council for Education purposes, however as it 
has never been formally included in the perimeter fencing it is used by local residents 
and individuals visiting the area. Concern is raised by residents that this proposal would 
result in loss of parking in an area where residential parking is already limited. 
Furthermore, there are complaints that staff members at Sunny Bank School regularly 
park in surrounding residential roads which exacerbates the issue.  

Page 98



Item D1 

New two-storey teaching block of eight classrooms with associated 

facilities; a new nursery block; nursery and reception external 

playspace; ancillary car parking at Sunny Bank Primary School, 

Sunny Bank, Murston, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3QN - SW/20/501709 

(KCC/SW/0079/2020) 

 

D1.13 
 

 
27. As the proposal seeks to increase the size of the school car park by 37 spaces, it is 

anticipated that this would reduce the need for staff to park off-site, freeing up more 
space for local residents. Highways Officers are of the view that the land in question 
should strictly accommodate six spaces, which could reasonably be absorbed 
elsewhere in the locality especially with the reduced demand from school staff.  

 
28. It is acknowledged that this land has historically provided convenient parking for local 

residents which would be lost should planning permission be granted. However, the land 
is not owned by the Highways Authority and, as such, has never been allocated as 
public parking. As the land in question is owned by the School, and given the need for 
additional school accommodation to meet the needs of the local community, it is my 
view that the historic use of the land should not prejudice the delivery of additional 
community infrastructure. In any case, given the limited size of the parking space at 
present as and a reduction in staff parking off-site, it is not considered that this proposal 
would unreasonably compromise residential parking in the vicinity.  

 
29. It is therefore considered that the proposed development would not result in 

unacceptable adverse impacts on the local highway network, and that the introduction of 
the additional parking spaces would lessen the school’s existing impact local amenity as 
more staff are able to park on site. 

 
Sustainability 
 
30. A modular style of construction is proposed. Such a style is generally less resource and 

energy intensive than traditional construction methods and affords great potential for 
sustainability to be incorporated into design, whilst still performing to the same 
standards. The design of the buildings would be thermally efficient with openable 
windows to allow natural ventilation if required and natural light would also be utilised in 
teaching spaces through the introduction of large windows. The works would also see 
the replacement of the school’s oil-fired heating system with more energy efficient gas 
boilers.  

 
31. Seven photovoltaic panels are proposed to be installed on the flat roof of the new 

teaching block to provide renewable energy to the school, and the new carpark would 
be equipped with charging points for electronic vehicles, reflective of wider initiatives to 
move toward more sustainable technologies.  

 
32. The proposal incorporates several measures to promote sustainability, both passively 

through design and through the introduction of technologies to generate renewable 
energy and reduce reliance on hydrocarbons. Therefore, I would conclude that the 
proposal is acceptable in terms of promoting environmentally sustainable development.  

 
Impact upon Green Spaces 
 
33. The school playing field associated with Sunny Bank School is allocated within the 

Swale Borough Council Local Plan as an area of “Local Green Space”. As such Policy 
DM18 of the Local Plan applies to the extension of the car park to the south west of the 

Page 99



Item D1 

New two-storey teaching block of eight classrooms with associated 

facilities; a new nursery block; nursery and reception external 

playspace; ancillary car parking at Sunny Bank Primary School, 

Sunny Bank, Murston, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3QN - SW/20/501709 

(KCC/SW/0079/2020) 

 

D1.14 
 

main school building. Policy DM 18 advises that planning permission should only be 
granted where the use of the land preserves the openness of the Local Green Space 
and does not conflict with its purpose. 

 
34. In this case, the land in question represents a small strip of land (approximately 280m2) 

which would effectively bring the existing hard standing of the play surface to meet the 
existing car park, resulting in the loss of a small strip of grass. The proposed 
development being a car park would not introduce any structures which would impinge 
on the openness of the area. The proposed development is therefore considered to 
preserve the openness of the area which is of itself a sizeable piece of land; it would 
therefore not conflict with its purpose as Local Green Space. As such, I do not consider 
the proposal to be in conflict with Policy DM 18 of the Swale Local Plan and in my view 
this should not represent grounds for refusal of planning permission in this instance. 

 
Impact on Local Amenity 
 
35. Representations have raised concern that the development would have an 

unacceptable impact on local amenity by way of highway impacts, construction 
operations and impacts on views from residential properties. As concluded in previous 
sections, the impact on views is not considered to be unacceptable in this instance 
given the scale and design of the development and the wider context of the site. The 
nearest property would be approximately 18m from the proposed school building.   It is 
also of note, that the loss of a private view is not a material planning consideration. 
Concern is raised over the impact of the fencing around the new car park area on 
outlook from local properties. However, as the fencing around the new car park area is 
proposed to be low level knee rail, I do not consider this to be an overriding issue. The 
development is also considered to be satisfactory on highway grounds and will be 
beneficial in reducing staff parking on residential streets. 

 
36. Amenity impacts through construction are lessened by the proposal to utilise a modular 

style of construction which reduces the timescale and the amount of work to be 
undertaken on-site. However, it is accepted that as the school is within a residential 
area, occupants of which could be adversely impacted by such operations. To address, 
conditions would be applied to any planning permission which would mitigate any 
impacts through the duration of construction. This would include the submission of a 
Construction Management Strategy to be approved by the County Council (Planning 
and Highways) prior to the commencement of development. Therefore, subject to such 
conditions being included in any planning permission, I do not consider that the 
development would have an unacceptable adverse impact on local amenity.  

 
Drainage and Contamination 
 
37. New development should incorporate sustainable urban drainage solutions as 

appropriate, including minimising the size of impermeable surfaces to reduce water run-
off where possible and ensure a neutral impact on flood risk. Furthermore, the site is 
located over a number of environmentally sensitive areas, namely a Source Protection 
Zone 1 and a Secondary A Aquifer. Consideration therefore needs to be given to ensure 

Page 100



Item D1 

New two-storey teaching block of eight classrooms with associated 

facilities; a new nursery block; nursery and reception external 

playspace; ancillary car parking at Sunny Bank Primary School, 

Sunny Bank, Murston, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3QN - SW/20/501709 

(KCC/SW/0079/2020) 

 

D1.15 
 

that these areas are not at risk of contamination either through construction or use of the 
development thereafter. 

 
38. Kent County Council Flood Risk Officers were consulted on the planning application and 

are satisfied that the design does not increase the risk of flooding from surface water 
and raise no objection to the proposal. They do however require the submission of a 
detailed surface water drainage strategy prior to the commencement of any 
development and advise that consultation be undertaken with the Environment Agency 
to advise on matters pertaining to the Source Protection Zone. These can be addressed 
by condition, 

 
39. The Environment Agency advise of a medium risk of contamination during construction 

operations due to historic land-uses of clay extraction and industry in the vicinity. A Site 
Investigation Report was submitted in support of the application which argues that the 
risks to controlled waters can be successfully managed. The Environment Agency agree 
with this conclusion, however they require the submission of more detailed information 
to be secured by condition. They recommend several conditions relating to drainage and 
contamination, including the requirement for a detailed remediation strategy prior to the 
commencement of any development. 

 
40. It is proposed to attach all recommended conditions relating to drainage and 

contamination to any planning permission. Further liaison would then be undertaken 
with the relevant bodies to ensure that the detail is of a satisfactory level prior to any 
development taking place. I therefore consider that subject to conditions being imposed 
as advised, any impact that the development may have on flood risk or pollution can be 
successfully mitigated and the development is acceptable in this respect. 

 
Landscape and Vegetation 
 
41. The proposed nursery block would be sited over a grassed area to the north-east of the 

site. Three trees are proposed to be removed in this area to accommodate the 
development, with one proposed to be replanted within the external play spaces to 
improve amenity on site. An Arboricultural Impact Assessment was submitted in support 
of the application which demonstrates that trees off-site, along the northern boundary of 
the school car park could also be impacted by the proposal and may require removal. It 
is argued however that these trees are in poor specimens and exist as suckering 
regrowth. 

 
42. I consider it important that where retention of any trees or shrubbery is not possible, 

they should be replaced in a suitable location elsewhere on site. The School complex 
provides green space within a built-up area and vegetation contributes to the amenity of 
this space. Liaison with Amey technical advisors has led to the same conclusion, with a 
number of conditions recommended requiring the submission of a detailed landscaping 
scheme to ensure that trees are adequately protected during construction operations, 
replaced where their removal is unavoidable and thereafter protected and maintained. I 
consider that subject to such conditions being adhered to and a suitable landscaping 
scheme being agreed and thereafter implemented, that the development would not have 

Page 101



Item D1 

New two-storey teaching block of eight classrooms with associated 

facilities; a new nursery block; nursery and reception external 

playspace; ancillary car parking at Sunny Bank Primary School, 

Sunny Bank, Murston, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3QN - SW/20/501709 

(KCC/SW/0079/2020) 

 

D1.16 
 

an adverse impact on the local landscape. Such a scheme should incorporate species 
to encourage bee pollination. 

 

Conclusion 

 
43. The proposal seeks to provide additional primary school and nursery accommodation 

along with the relocation off the School onto one site.  It is concluded that there is a 
justified need for the development, the design is appropriate in this instance and impacts 
on highways and local amenity can be satisfactorily mitigated. The development would 
not have an adverse impact on flood risk or water resources subject to the imposition of 
relevant conditions. Furthermore, the development would not conflict with the purpose of 
the Local Green Space and suitable measures have been undertaken to create a 
sustainable design, including the provision of photo voltaic and electric charging points. . 

 
44. The development is in accordance with the general aims and objectives of the relevant 

Development Plan Policies and the principles of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and therefore my recommendation is that planning permission be granted 
subject to conditions. 

 

Recommendation 

 
45. I RECOMMEND that PERMISSION BE GRANTED SUBJECT TO the imposition of 

conditions covering (amongst other matters) the following: 
 

• Commencement of development within three years of planning permission being 
granted; and 

• The development to be carried out in accordance with the permitted details; and 

• Development shall not begin in any phase until a detailed sustainable surface water 
drainage scheme for the site has been submitted to (and approved in writing by) the 
local planning authority; and 

• Prior to commencement of the development, a Construction Management Strategy 
shall be submitted for the approval of the County Planning Authority and be 
thereafter implemented for the duration of construction; and 

• Prior to the use of the site commencing; the provision and permanent retention of 
cycle parking facilities and vehicle parking spaces as shown on the submitted plans, 
including the EV charging points  

• Prior to occupation of the development, the access details shown on the submitted 
plans shall be provided 

• Gates to be hung to open away from the highway; and 

• Submission of a School Travel Plan to be approved prior to occupation of the 
development. The Travel Plan shall remain in force for the duration of the approved 
use, and there shall be an annual review for a minimum of 5 years; and 

• Within 6 months of the development commencing, details of measures showing how 
the development will enhance biodiversity shall be submitted to and approved by the 
County Planning Authority  

Page 102



Item D1 

New two-storey teaching block of eight classrooms with associated 

facilities; a new nursery block; nursery and reception external 

playspace; ancillary car parking at Sunny Bank Primary School, 

Sunny Bank, Murston, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3QN - SW/20/501709 

(KCC/SW/0079/2020) 

 

D1.17 
 

• No development to commence until a remediation strategy to deal with the risks 
associated with contamination has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
local planning authority; and 

• A verification report to be submitted to, and approved in writing by the County 
Planning Authority, demonstrating the completion of works set out in the approved 
remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation; and 

• If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present 
at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 
local planning authority) shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how 
this contamination will be dealt with has been submitted to, and approved in writing 
by, the local planning authority; and 

• No drainage systems for the infiltration of surface water to the ground are permitted 
other than with the written consent of the local planning authority; and 

• Piling using penetrative methods shall not be carried out other than with the written 
consent of the local planning authority; and 

• Prior to commencement of development, a detailed planting plan is to be submitted 
for the approval of the County Planning Authority. The scheme shall include species 
to encourage bee pollination. Trees within areas of hardstanding should include 
details of appropriate underground infrastructure to ensure that they thrive in the long 
term; and 

• Any trees lost as a result of the proposals should be replaced with those of a similar 
size and appropriate species. If any trees or plants which within a period of five years 
from the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged / diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of 
similar size and species, unless the Planning Authority gives written consent to any 
variation; and 

• A tree constraints plan in accordance with BS5837 2012: Trees in relation to design, 
demolition and construction, shall be submitted for approval before construction work 
begins on site in order to inform any design work; and 

• Details of any trenches or services in the fenced off Root Protection Areas shall 
require the prior consent of the Planning Authority and all trenches shall be dug and 
backfilled by hand and any tree roots encountered with a diameter of 25mm or more 
shall be left unsevered; and 

• Any tree / shrub / hedge removals proposed as part of this scheme must be carried 
out outside of bird nesting season (1st Feb – 31st August inclusive); and 

• All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall 
be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the occupation of the 
site or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner. 

 
46. I FURTHER RECOMMEND that the following INFORMATIVES be added: 
 

• It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure , before the development hereby 
approved is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where 
required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly established 
in order to avoid any enforcement action being taken by the Highway Authority. 
 

• The applicant is reminded that, under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as 
amended (section 1), it is an offence to remove, damage or destroy the nest of any 

Page 103



Item D1 

New two-storey teaching block of eight classrooms with associated 

facilities; a new nursery block; nursery and reception external 

playspace; ancillary car parking at Sunny Bank Primary School, 

Sunny Bank, Murston, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3QN - SW/20/501709 

(KCC/SW/0079/2020) 

 

D1.18 
 

wild bird while that nest is in use or being built. Planning consent for a development 
does not provide a defence against prosecution under this Act. Trees and scrub are 
present on the application site and are assumed to contain nesting birds between 1st 
March and 31st August, unless a recent survey has been undertaken by a competent 
ecologist and has shown that nesting birds are not present. 
 

 

Case Officer: Mrs Alice Short Tel. no: 03000 413328 

 

Background Documents:  see section heading 

 
 

Page 104



E1 COUNTY MATTER APPLICATIONS AND DETAILS PURSUANT 

PERMITTED/APPROVED/REFUSED UNDER DELEGATED POWERS - 

MEMBERS’ INFORMATION   

 

                                                                                
 
Since the last meeting of the Committee, the following matters have been determined by me  
under delegated powers:- 
 

Background Documents - The deposited documents. 

 
AS/06/24/R7  Details of Odour Management Plan pursuant to condition 7 of planning 

permission AS/06/24. 
   Ashford Wastewater Treatment Works, Canterbury Road, Ashford, 

Kent TN24 9QB 
   Decision: Approved 
  
 
 
 
 
 

E2 COUNTY COUNCIL DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS AND DETAILS 

PURSUANT PERMITTED/APPROVED UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 

MEMBERS’ INFORMATION 

 
    ____________________________ _____________________                                                                                    
 
Since the last meeting of the Committee, the following matters have been determined by me 
under delegated powers:- 
 

Background Documents – The deposited documents.  
 

AS/15/648/R21 Details of a School Travel Plan pursuant to Condition 21 of planning 
permission AS/15/648. 

   Finberry Primary School, Avocet Way, Finberry, Sevington, Ashford, 
Kent TN25 7GS 

   Decision: Approved 
 

CA/19/1513/R17 Details of a programme of building recording for the original school to 
be demolished in accordance with a written specification and timetable 
pursuant to Condition 17 of planning permission CA/19/1513. 

   Simon Langton Grammar School For Girls, Old Dover Road, 
Canterbury, Kent CT1 3EW 

   Decision: Approved 
  
GR/17/674/R16 Details of Community Use Agreement pursuant to condition (16) of 

Planning Permission GR/17/674. 
   St Georges Church of England School (Primary School Campus), 

Westcott Avenue, Gravesend, Kent DA11 7HP 
   Decision: Approved 
 
 
 

E.1 

Page 105

Agenda Item E1



 
MA/19/501705/R13 Details of Archaeology pursuant to condition 13 of planning 

permission MA/19/501705. 
   Harrietsham Church Of England Primary School, West Street, 

Harrietsham, Kent ME17 1JZ 
   Decision: Approved 
 
MA/20/501934  A new proposed access road providing consistent and more direct 

access to the existing playing field. 
   Five Acre Wood School, Boughton Lane, Maidstone, Kent ME15 9QF 
   Decision: Permitted   
 
SE/18/1726/RVAR Details of Drainage Strategy and Operation & Maintenance Manual 

pursuant to conditions 17 (in part - remaining phases only), 18 & 19 of 
planning permission SE/18/1726. 

   Trinity School, Seal Hollow Road, Sevenoaks, Kent TN13 3SL 
   Decision: Approved 
    
TM/18/7023/R Request for a non-material amendment to planning permission 

TW/18/7023 (as amended by TW/19/3535) for the proposed re-siting 
of the approved fence to the north of the loop road. 

 Hawkenbury Farm, Hawkenbury Road, Tunbridge Wells, Kent 
TN3 9AD 

 Decision: Approved 
 
TM/20/164 Erection of permanent pre-fabricated single storey double classroom 

block. 
 The East Malling Centre, Chapman Way, East Malling, Kent 

ME19 6SD 
 Decision: Approved 
 
TW/17/3344/R18 Details of a landscaping scheme pursuant to Condition 18 of planning 

permission TW/17/3344. 
 Land South of Rolvenden Road, Benenden, Cranbrook, Kent 

TN17 4DN 
 Decision: Approved  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

E.2 

Page 106



E3 TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 

ASSESSMENT) REGULATIONS 2017 – SCREENING OPINIONS 

ADOPTED UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 

 
                                                                      

 

Background Documents –  

 

• The deposited documents. 

• Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. 

• The Government’s Online Planning Practice Guidance-Environmental Impact 
Assessment/Screening Schedule 2 Projects 

 
(a) Since the last meeting of the Committee the following screening opinions have been  

adopted under delegated powers that the proposed development does not constitute 
EIA development and the development proposal does not need to be accompanied 
by an Environmental Statement:-  
 
TM/88/1002/RVARA - Request for approval of details pursuant to conditions 4, 7, 8, 
12, 17 and 27 of planning permission TM/88/1002 relating to 5-year schemes of 
working, restoration and aftercare, prior approval for static replacement processing 
plant and ancillary mobile plant and equipment, amended internal road layout, 
replacement weighbridge and weighbridge office, wheel wash, storage and staff 
welfare facilities and updated schemes of blasting and blast monitoring. 
Blaise Farm Quarry, Blaise Quarry Road, Kings Hill, West Malling, Kent ME19 4PN 

 
(b) Since the last meeting of the Committee the following screening opinions have been  

adopted under delegated powers that the proposed development does constitute EIA 
development and the development proposal does need to be accompanied by an 
Environmental Statement:-  

 
 None 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

E.3 
 

Page 107



 

E4 TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 

ASSESSMENT) REGULATIONS 2017 – SCOPING OPINIONS ADOPTED 

UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 

 
                                                                             
 
(b) Since the last meeting of the Committee the following scoping opinions have been 

adopted under delegated powers.  

 

Background Documents -  

 

• The deposited documents. 

• Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. 

• The Government’s Online Planning Practice Guidance-Environmental Impact 
Assessment/Preparing an Environmental Statement 
 

None 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

E.4 
 

Page 108


	Agenda
	A3 Minutes - 10 June 2020
	C1 Application TM/20/62 (KCC/TM/0284/2019) - Development of a Household Waste Recycling Centre (HWRC), new access to a highway, associated infrastructure and earthworks at Allington Integrated Waste Management Facility, Laverstock Road, Allington, Maidstone; FCC Environment (UK) Ltd
	Item C1 - Appendix 1
	HWRC Site Location Plan.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	4073 C102 P1 Proposed Drainage Layout.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	102


	2566 01 02 Rev B Statutory Plan.PDF
	Sheets and Views
	2566-01-02 Statutory Plan Rev B-Layout3-Layout1


	4557 1 011 Rev A Proposed HWRC Layout with Fill Deposition.PDF
	Sheets and Views
	A1


	2566 01 01 Illustrative Landscape Proposals.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1




	D1 Proposal SW//20/501709 (KCC/SW/0079/2020) - New two-storey teaching block of 8 classrooms with associated facilities, a new nursery block and reception external play space; and ancillary parking at Sunny Bank Primary School, Sunny Park, Murston, Sittingbourne; KCC Children, Young People and Education
	E1 Matters dealt with under delegated powers



